Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS
Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Carver Foundation of Norwalk
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Novelette Peterkin, CEO (contact
information below)
Type of Organization: 501c3 nonprofit organization
Applicant Mailing Address: 7 Academy Street, Norwalk CT 06850
Project Location Address: Carver Community Center at 7 Academy Street, Norwalk, CT 06850
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only): N/A, not for housing; but FYI, the
community center was built in 1975
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Novelette Peterkin,
Title: Chief Executive Officer
Phone #: 203-856-7712
Email Address: novelette@carvercenterct.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: COVID-19 public health related structural improvements to
the entrance and common areas of the Carver Community Center
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
The Carver Community Center provides a range of vital services to the community. We seek
CDBG-CV Funds to redesign the community center’s entrance and common areas to protect the
health of staff, students and other individuals, and to slow the spread of COVID-19.
We seek funding to replace the community center’s two front doors, and to reconfigure a
storage closet in the front of the building’s large foyer to provide the community center with
the means for receptionist interaction with people before and after they enter the building.
Presently, people enter into the building foyer through the building’s original front doors
uninformed and unannounced. This new room to the right of these front doors would include
an exterior operating safety window that would permit staff to greet and screen people for
COVID-19 before they enter the building, and an interior operating window to allow for
continued communications once people enter the building.
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Likewise, we plan to install operating safety windows in eight classroom and office metal doors
in the community center to enable staff to safely communicate with students and others before
they enter these communal rooms.
These enhancements will play a vital role in helping Carver maintain community morale and
cohesion. The community center also serves as a crucial link between the community and local
health and other officials, providing insight about the feasibility and acceptability of proposed
mitigation strategies and informing authorities about resources and needs in the community.
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.
Novelette Peterkin, CEO
October 22, 2020
______________________________________________ ________________________
Name, Title & Signature
Date
Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency CDBG-CV Application
PART 1. GENERAL INFORMATION
ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization.
Indicate if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/
activity.
Carver is a longtime recipient of CDBG funding, and annual (federal, administered by the state)
21st Century Community Learning Center grants, though no other government funding is
presently being sought to fund this proposal beyond these CDBG funds we are requesting.
Carver’s mission is to close opportunity gaps for all children and to ensure they graduate high
school on time and ready for college and careers. To achieve our mission, Carver combines a set
of key partnerships between school districts and their highly skilled educators, community
organizations and parents to deliver before and after school, summer and community programs
that consistently demonstrate striking results. Carver is Norwalk’s largest provider of afterschool and summer programs. Carver leads a highly collaborative citywide system that
leverages and coordinates efforts and financial and in-kind resources, including full access to
almost every school in Norwalk. The Carver Community Center serves as Carver’s headquarters
and plays a central role in Carver’s outreach to the community.
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2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page.
Core programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating
budget is allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight
shelter service, while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
Carver serves approximately 2,500 students before school, after school and during the summer,
operating in 17 K-12 Norwalk Public Schools, Side By Side Charter School, the Carver
Community Center, and the Classical Studies Magnet Academy in Bridgeport. Carver’s vision,
strategies for impact, resource development, organizational effectiveness and program
activities are consistently linked to carefully evaluated student outcomes.
3. Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.

YES

A. Does your organization have a Board of Directors?

YES

B. Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
provide documentation*)

YES

C. Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?

YES

D. Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)

YES

E. If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?

N/A

F. Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
(Include a copy*)

YES

G. Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?

NO

NO

H. Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal* You have this on file.
I. Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping* You have this on file.
J. Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements You have our 2018-2019
financial audit on file; our audited financial statement for 2019-2020 is being prepared and will
be available shortly.
*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PART 2. PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY
GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you
are applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client
population (# served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed
service; membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed
project/activity); and how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for
and/or responding to the COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a
cause to reject application.
This proposal for CDBG-CV funding is for Preventing and Responding to the COVID-19 outbreak.
Carver after school, athletic, summer and community programs are conducted in the Carver
Community Center in accordance with COVID-19 strict guidelines established by the CT Office of
Early Childhood and other state and local authorities. Carver’s multiple community center
programs provide a safe and engaging space for children and youth when they are not home or
in their schools. Working parents and the community greatly benefit. Students in grades K-12
are required to wear face masks and have their temperature checked before entering the
community center each day. Group size is limited to no more than 10 children. Carver
employees follow the same safety rules. Carver implements careful hand and respiratory
hygiene, maintains protocols for the intensified cleaning and disinfection of the building, and
implements social distancing strategies at all times. This proposal mitigates the spread of and
the learning loss created by COVID-19.
The community center is used for many purposes, including free support to 24 middle and high
school hybrid students attending Norwalk Public Schools (NPS) who spend the school days at
the community center that are designated distance learning days because their homes are not
suitable for this purpose. The community center also serves as a free safe space to study for
some 15 NPS students who have been temporarily expelled from school. Carver’s own after
school programs serve approximately 65 students in grades K-8. The community center serves
some 100 students who participate in our basketball program, and another 100 students in
grades K-5 students during the summer (200 students pre-COVID-19). Modest program fees are
requested for students participating in our after school, summer and athletic programs, but
philanthropy enables Carver to accommodate youth regardless of their family’s ability to pay.
The community center also produces holiday events, food drives and other outreach initiatives
beneficial to the community.
As noted above, NPS and the City of Norwalk consider the Carver Community Center as an
ongoing resource for rising needs. Carver has always served the city by helping to solve
problems and issues. For example, until recently, the Carver Community Center served as a site
for NPS food distribution since the beginning of the pandemic.
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2. Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
p Public service activity
p Rehabilitation activity
Xp New construction activity
p Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
p Other (explain) ______________________________
3. Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
p New “core” program
p Expansion of existing “core” program
Xp Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
p New “support” program
p Expansion of existing “support” program
p Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
p Other (explain) _____________________________
4. Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

p YES pX NO

5. How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) will the proposed
project/activity serve? #300 Persons
6. How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) in Question 7, above will qualify as CDBG-CV
income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV table on Page 2 of this application)? # 255 Persons
7. How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk residents and qualify as CDBGCV income eligible (using the CDBG- CV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)? #300
Persons
8. What kinds of client records does or will your organization require from applicants/users of
the proposed project/activity? Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of beneficiaries. X Name, X Address,
X Income, X Other. This information is provided by the families via the Carver Application
Household Information Form. Carver does require this information from students participating
in programs located at the Carver Community Center.
9. Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client Intake forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
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Xp Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least 51% of
the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in the
neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the activity is
located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood. Census tract 0432 (LMI)
Documentation Attached: p Carver does not keep specific client Area Benefit records; the
majority of Carver students are eligible for free or reduced lunch; we receive
eligibility information from the child’s school.
PART 3. PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING
1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X YES ____no
If yes, please explain: Payroll Protection Program
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to
the prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X NO. If yes, please
explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved funds
from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting. N/A: the PPP
funding awarded to Carver noted above was expensed before the beginning of Carver’s 20202021 fiscal year programming.
2. What is the total cost of the proposed project? $26,500. Attach a copy of the budget
summary for the proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project.
If approved, you may be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction
project/activities must include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.
Estimates attached.
Items
Material and labor to install
22”x 28” safety windows into
eight (8) metal doors
Material and labor for one (1)
new exterior operating window
and one (1) new interior
window with provision for
receptionist interaction; new
flooring; repaired ceiling; new
ceiling lighting; electrical to
code; digital port for computer
tie-in; new paint throughout;
installation of two (2) new entry
glass doors to the facility in the
existing opening with an

Carver Proposal Budget Summary
Cost
Notes
$4,632.00
Classroom and office doors
inside the Carver Community
Center
$20,500.00

Rework the entry storage closet
into a new reception area with
a new secure entry system for
the Carver Community Center
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integrated magnetic locking
system controlled through the
reception area; tie new
reception area into existing
HVAC system.
Concept design and
contingencies

$1,368

TOTAL COST

$26,500

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment
procedures, accounting systems, and audit requirements.
Carver consistently receives the highest ratings from Guidestar, Charity Navigator and Great
Nonprofits. Carver makes its annual reports and annual audited financial statements available
on the Carver website. Carver adheres to all generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP)
accounting and financial standards. Carver incorporates its practices with the Board of Directors
and is reflected in the annual audit that the agency conducts using an independent audit firm.
Executive Management adheres to the following financial and accounting controls, including
but not limited to the following: Board budget policies (guidelines for changes to the budget
and actual-vs. -budget reports and cash-flow projections); strategic planning (linking
operational plans with its strategy for financial growth); bridge the operating budget with
financial statements (manage the cash-basis budget with accrual based accounting); Budget an
annual surplus to guard against shortfalls; project cash flow (cash, accounts receivable, shortterm investments, etc. and timing of budgeted expenditures), and manage restricted revenue.
The Board receives monthly reports on actual and projected revenue and expenses against
budget compared to the previous year.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on
long- term plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
No attachment is necessary. This one-time project to upgrade the entrance and doors of the
Carver Community Center would not have a long-term impact on Carver’s annual administrative
budget. Given the nature of the COVID-19 pandemic and the likelihood that a vaccine is still
months away, the steps we take to operate the Carver Community Center with public health
expenditures and safety protocols (e.g., PPE) will be sustained for the indefinite future. The
primary long-term fundraising strategy is to seek new government and private COVID-19
related grants, and major individual philanthropic gifts. The Carver Board of Directors maintains
very active Development and Marketing Committees populated mostly by non-board
volunteers who are skilled in their respective related fields. Carver’s wide and deep provider,
donor and volunteer community infuse Carver programming with financial and in-kind support
on an ongoing basis.
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5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to
finish).
No attachment is necessary. Should the funding be secured for these proposed improvements
to the Carver Community Center, the project would not take more than four weeks from start
to finish once the funding is received.
PART 4. FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY – N/A
PART 5. ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY
1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional Support Volunteer
Full-Time Staff
1
1
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s
name and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
Clinton Hamilton, Chief Operating Officer, will oversee the procurement and implementation of
the facility upgrades. Amy Perry, Administrative Manager, is working directly with the vendors
to prepare for this project.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Carver Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
OFFICERS: Philip Butterfield, President, HSBC Bank of Bermuda, Retired, Wilton, CT (Finance
Committee) (First year); Sandra Faioes, Vice President, Director of School Improvement,
Norwalk Public Schools Administration, Stamford, CT (Chair, Program Committee) (1st Term; 3
years of service); Mark Ortiz, Treasurer, Chief Financial Officer, GE Capital Energy Financial
Services, Norwalk, CT (Chair, Finance Committee) (1st Term; 1st year of service); Valerie Watson,
Secretary, Patriot National Bank, Norwalk, Connecticut (Chair, Governance and HR Committee)
(renewed yearly; 13 years of service); Jonathan Whitcomb, Esq. Legal Counsel, Partner, Diserio
Martin O’Connor & Castiglioni LLP, New Canaan, Connecticut (renewed yearly; 6 years of
service). BOARD MEMBERS: Kimberly Gaddy, Director, Reporting & Analytics, Global Strategy &
Operations at Gartner, Inc., Stamford, CT (Development Committee) (1st term; 3 years of
service); Robert Pennington, Principal, Rowayton Elementary School, Rowayton, CT (Program
Committee)(1st Term; 1 year of service); Danielle Robinson, PhD. Diageo North America,
Diageo, Corporate Relations, Director Alcohol Policy and Reputation Management, Norwalk, CT
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(Development Committee) (2nd Term; 5 years of service); Kenneth Shuler, Manager & AFP, TD
Bank, Bridgeport, CT (Development Committee)(1st Term; 1st year of service); Oscar Villalonga,
President & CEO, Coface North America, Fairfield, CT (Finance Committee)(1st Term; three years
of service); Friedrich Wilms, Senior Vice President, Webster Bank, Fairfield, CT (Program
Committee)(1st Term; 3 years of service); Wendy Winnick Baskin, Retired Executive Director,
Atria Darien, Rowayton, CT (Co-Chair, Major Gifts Committee) (2nd Term; 5 years of service);
Chief Executive Officer, Novelette Peterkin. President Emeritus: Charles Burns, Clairol, Retired,
New Canaan, Connecticut. Immediate Past President: Diana Napier, President, Program
Manager, WorkPlace Inc., Norwalk, Connecticut (ex officio) (Governance and HR Committee).
Advisor: Richard Whitcomb, Retired Headmaster, St. Luke’s School, New Canaan, Connecticut
(ex officio)
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020: 14 Vacancies? 1
b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 7
c. How are the board members chosen? Board Personnel Committee conducts a nominating
process to identify candidates with skill set to meet the skills gaps of the board. Candidates are
presented to the full board for a vote.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? X YES ____no. If so,
how often is training provided? When a new board member is recruited and/or shortly after
joining the board. Carver on occasion organizes board retreats. Board members are also very
active in the life of the Carver community.
d. How long is a term? 3 years. How many consecutive terms may be served? 2 terms
PART 6. DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION
1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid
duplication of services? X N/A - NO. If yes, please explain.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide
services similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is
there collaboration with the other agencies?
All Carver programming is highly collaborative, but this one-time capital project to provide
important COVID-19 public health related structural improvements to the entrance and
common areas of the Carver Community Center does not directly involve any of our many
partners.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other
agencies serving the same target beneficiaries?
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Carver is Norwalk’s largest provider of before and after school and summer programs. Carver
leads a highly collaborative citywide system that leverages and coordinates efforts and financial
and in-kind resources, including full access to almost every school in Norwalk. Carver also
operates very closely with many educational providers such as the Maritime Aquarium.
PART 6. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of
interest related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we
request the following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Carver Foundation of Norwalk
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) (X)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( ) ____________________
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal
interest in the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
N/A
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk
having a potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
N/A
Name/Title
NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding
any known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
N/A

10

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

The new entrance window would be to the right of the two front doors.
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Warranty

Carver Center Norwalk

We Propose to rework the entry storage closet into a reception area with a secure entry system as
discussed onsite.
Including:
1 New Exterior operating window
1 New interior window with provision for Receptionist interaction
New flooring
Repaired ceiling
Ceiling lighting
Electrical to code
Digital port for Computer tie in
New paint throughout
Installation of tow new entry doors to the facility in the existing opening with an integrated
magnetic locking system controlled through the reception area
Tie into existing HVAC system

Estimated cost : $20,500.00

Lyman Gilbert
LG Building and Remodeling LLC

Warranty

Carver Center Norwalk

We Propose to rework the entry storage closet into a reception area with a secure entry system as
discussed onsite.
Including:
1 New Exterior operating window
1 New interior window with provision for Receptionist interaction
New flooring
Repaired ceiling
Ceiling lighting
Electrical to code
Digital port for Computer tie in
New paint throughout
Installation of tow new entry doors to the facility in the existing opening with an integrated
magnetic locking system controlled through the reception area
Tie into existing HVAC system

Estimated cost : $20,500.00

Lyman Gilbert
LG Building and Remodeling LLC
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NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS
Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Domestic Violence Crisis Center, Inc.
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Suzanne Adam, Executive Director,
SAdam@dvccct.org, (203) 588-9100 ext. 101
Type of Organization: Nonprofit 501(c)3, focused on providing effective services, support, and education for
the prevention and elimination of domestic violence across the Connecticut communities of Stamford,
Norwalk, Darien, New Canaan, Weston, Westport, Wilton, and beyond.
Applicant Mailing Address: 1111 Summer Street, Suite 203, Stamford, CT 06905
Project Location Address: 16 River Street, First Floor, Norwalk, CT 06850
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only):
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal): Name: Suzanne Adam
Title: Executive Director
Phone #: (203) 588-9100 ext. 101
Email Address: SAdam@dvccct.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: Youth & Family Counseling
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
Domestic Violence Crisis Center (DVCC) is requesting funding to support our Youth & Family Counseling program,
focused on helping children recover from domestic violence.

I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

10/23/2020
Date

Name, Title & Signature

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
Since 1980, Domestic Violence Crisis Center (DVCC) has provided counseling and advocacy services for
victims of domestic violence and their children. DVCC is the only state-certified agency recognized by the
Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence (CCADV) serving the communities of Norwalk, Stamford,
New Canaan, Darien, Westport, Weston and Wilton.
DVCC’s role is to help those experiencing any level of domestic violence and assist them in building a safer
environment for the well-being of themselves and their families. Our services include housing and financial
advocacy; legal advocacy; trauma-informed individual and group counseling; and emergency safe housing.
All victim services are free and confidential, and all services offered are multicultural/multilingual.
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
DVCC has three major program areas: victim services, awareness-raising, and preventive education and
training. Our wide range of victim services includes 24/7 crisis intervention through a 24/7 hotline and the
Lethality Assessment Program, two safe houses in Norwalk and Stamford, individual and group counseling,
and advocacy. Counseling and advocacy services are provided in the following areas: legal, medical, housing,
employment, and financial.
DVCC’s legal advocates work with those affected by domestic violence in every step of the legal process,
including court appearances, legal education and public policy change. Our legal team ensures that victims
of domestic violence are informed about their rights, and are supported in their interactions with law
enforcement. DVCC’s legal staff represents victims at domestic violence arraignments in the Norwalk and
Stamford courts, assists in obtaining restraining and protective orders, and helps with divorce and child
custody. Additionally, DVCC’s legal team hosts weekly civil legal clinics for clients to provide education and
consultations by local attorneys on the subjects of custody, divorce and visitation. As a voice for domestic
violence public policy advancement, DVCC successfully advocated for changes to the dual arrest language
and offender accountability resulting in legislative changes.
DVCC’s counselors offer client-centered, trauma-informed individual, and group counseling for adults and
children. We offer short–term individual counseling to help clients understand the effects of trauma,
identify options and goals, and develop safety plans. We offer group counseling which fosters a supportive
environment that helps to lessen feelings of isolation, self-blame and denial.
DVCC provides housing, financial, career, employment counseling and advocacy to victims of domestic
violence. These services provide victims with critical information and support needed to secure safe, stable,
affordable housing. We assist our clients in understanding and dealing with the aftermath of economic
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abuse. DVCC staff helps clients become empowered by creating financial solutions that drive employment,
foster education, and build sustainable futures.
DVCC’s safe houses provide a safe and secure shelter for victims of domestic violence. In the fiscal year
2018-2019, DVCC provided shelter to 349 individuals in its safe houses, 142 of whom were children. DVCC
advocates in the safe houses make the full range of our services available to residents, beginning with
assisting them in addressing the trauma they experienced, all the way through the journey to selfsufficiency.
DVCC raises awareness in the community through a wide variety of community-based events. The goal of
these programs is to raise awareness of the free and confidential services that DVCC provides and raise
awareness that domestic violence happens in every community.
DVCC provides preventive education and training programs for children, adults, and community
professionals. In the fiscal year 2018-2019, 17,037 youth were reached through our PeaceWorks preventive
education programs, and 1,594 adults were reached through adult education and professional training
programs.
3.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.
H.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
YES
NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
YES
NO
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
YES
NO
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
YES
NO
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
YES
NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
YES
NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
YES
NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
During COVID-19, an increase in domestic violence incidents has been reported nationwide and right here in
our community. While we were being advised to, “stay at home to stay safe,” that reality became very
different for a victim of domestic violence and the children living in the home. Being isolated at home with
an abuser created dangerous scenarios for increased violence to victims and their children. DVCC staff
made agency-wide changes including offering counseling and advocacy by telephone and zoom
appointments; adopting new government protocols for the health and safety of our safe house residents
and staff; and working remotely to file protective orders within a significantly downsized and overburdened
court system.
According to the Department of Health and Human Services, more than 15 million children in the United
States live in homes in which domestic violence has happened at least once. These children are at greater
risk for repeating the cycle as adults by entering into abusive relationships or becoming abusers themselves.
Studies show that the sooner a child gets help, the better his or her chances for becoming a mentally and
physically healthy adult.
One of the barriers to a victim leaving an abuser is the concern for the physical and emotional wellbeing of
the children involved. Cultural, religious and other sociological factors can influence a victim, causing her to
believe the children may be better off in a two-parent family despite the dangerous physical and emotional
consequences the abuse may have on her and her children. (National Coalition Against Domestic Violence).
Positive measurable results have been achieved across the country with focused, trauma-informed, childspecific interventions and resources for the children of domestic violence survivors. “There is emerging
evidence that various forms of mother-child and child-focused therapies for children exposed to IPV
[Intimate Partner Violence] show promise in improving children’s behavioral and mental health outcomes.
Similarly, emerging evidence regarding interventions to prevent youth from using violence in their
relationships also show promise.” (National Institutes of Health)
To better serve the needs of our community, DVCC seeks to expand its youth counseling program to include
a full-time, child counselor who can provide trauma-informed, child and parent-child specific therapy as well
as support groups for the children of our clients. Throughout the COVID-19 crisis, all of our community
counseling services are being offered via HIPPA-compliant, telehealth platforms. In-person counseling is
being offered to our safe house residents.
A full-time, youth counselor will provide approximately 16 hours of individual counseling per week, divided
between our Stamford and Norwalk offices. DVCC’s support groups will continue to run weekly for one-hour
in both our Stamford and Norwalk offices. The program will consist of three, eight-week sessions during the
school year. The counselor will also provide a total of 10 hours of supportive contact and counseling
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services to the children of our safe house residents. All of our counseling and other victims services are free
of charge to the community. The funds we are requesting will be used specifically to help cover the cost of
the annual salary and benefits of one full-time, youth counselor.
Providing funding to support our youth and family counseling program would benefit the children of our
clients – the majority of whom reside in Stamford and Norwalk, both of which have the highest percentage
of low-income residents in DVCC’s catchment area. Supporting the mental health of this population would
also create lasting, positive outcomes for our community at large. Providing youth with knowledge and
resources to break generational cycles of abuse is a tangible way to build a healthier community for the
future.

2.

3.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
Public service activity
Rehabilitation activity
New construction activity
Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
Other (explain)
Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
New “core” program
Expansion of existing “core” program
Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
New “support” program
Expansion of existing “support” program
Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

# 100
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6.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

# 90

7.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

# 100

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
Name
Address
Income
Other

8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least 51% of the
residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in the neighborhood or
community regardless of income. However, the area where the activity is located must qualify as
an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached:
Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI persons.
The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed project/activity qualifies
under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached:
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.
(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of which, on a full
time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or considered to be available
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to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached:
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes X
no
If yes, please explain:
The Youth & Family Counseling is one of DVCC’s core programs and receives funding independent from the
COVID-19 pandemic. DVCC has requested other funding related to COVID-19, but this will be the first
request for the Youth & Family Counseling program.
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes X
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.

The total budget for the Youth & Family Counseling program is $178,717.00. Please see the program budget
attached.
3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
DVCC’s policies on fiscal management and annual audit requirements are on file with CDBG from Round One
funding applications.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
Funding from CDBG-CV will be used to hire another Youth & Family Counselor. This is a planned new hire
that DVCC expected to happen by FY ’21-’22. With CDBG-CV Funding we will be able to make this new hire
sooner then expected, in response to the uptick in requested services due to COVID-19.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The Youth & Family Counseling program is an ongoing program of the DVCC.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
yes X no
If yes, please explain:

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes X no
If yes, please explain:

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
Full-Time Staff
2
3
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
Caitlin Ornousky, Youth & Family Counselor, provides direct services to clients.
New Hire, Youth & Family Counselor, provides direct services to clients.
Suzanne Adam, Executive Director, provides program oversite.
Lourdine Pierre, Residential Services Director, provides program oversite in the safe houses and counseling
support when needed.
IT Services provided technical support as needed with computers, software, and databases.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: DVCC Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 12

Vacancies? 3

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 1
c. How are the board members chosen?
The Governance committee shall review the current composition of the Board; recommend criteria for Board
membership, interview potential candidates, and present slates of nominees to the Board for election as
Directors and Officers. They may also propose nominees to fill vacancies occurring on the Board as deemed
necessary for effective operation.

d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? X
If so, how often is training provided?

yes

no

The training is provided as needed.
e. How long is a term? Three years How many consecutive terms may be served? Two
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
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of services?

yes X

CDBG-CV Application

no

If yes, please explain.

2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
The DVCC works directly with a myriad of community and governmental organizations to meet the needs of
our clients. However, DVCC is the sole designated provider of services to domestic violence victims in our
catchment – one of a network of 18 member agencies of the CT Coalition Against Domestic Violence. DVCC
staff members are specialized domestic violence advocates with unique confidentiality privilege, in addition
to their particular or specialized area of degree, education, and expertise.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
As stated previously, DVCC is the sole designated provider of services to domestic violence victims in our
catchment area of Norwalk, Stamford, New Canaan, Darien, Westport, Weston, and Wilton, CT.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Domestic Violence Crisis Center, Inc.
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) (X)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
N/A

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title
N/A
NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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Domestic Violence Crisis Center
Youth & Family Counseling Program Budget
From 07/01/21 Through 06/30/22

Youth & Family Counseling Project
Revenues
Government
Connecticut Coalition Against Domestic Violence
Total Government

Current Year budget

23,500.00
23,500.00

Private
DVCC Fundraising Events
Revenue - Individual
Revenue - Organization
Revenue - Foundation
Total Private

18,750.00
12,000.00
10,000.00
58,800.00
99,550.00

Other
In-Kind Goods & Services (DVCC)
Total Other
Total Revenues

16,860.00
16,860.00
139,910.00

Expenses
Salaries (FTE/PTE)
Employee Benefits
Payroll Taxes
401k Matching Contribution
Children Therapy Supplies/Materials
Office Telephone & Internet
Occupancy (DVCC no charge)
Refreshments (DVCC no charge)

121,250.00
15,641.00
9,276.00
4,850.00
10,000.00
840.00
13,860.00
3,000.00

Total Expenses

178,717.00

Operating Income/(Loss)

-38,807.00

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS
Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Filling in the Blanks
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Tina Kramer, tkramer@fillingintheblanks.org,
203-496-0733 and Shawnee Knight, sknight@fillingintheblanks.org, 203-722-5430
Type of Organization: Non-profit providing meals to children in need on the weekends.
Applicant Mailing Address: 346 Main Avenue, Suite 3A, Norwalk, CT 06851
Project Location Address: 346 Main Avenue, Suite 3A, Norwalk, CT 06851, as well as 55 schools/sites in
Fairfield and Westchester Counties, with 18 of those sites in Norwalk, CT.
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only): N/A
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Kristin Thomas
Title: Grant Writer
Phone #: 203-252-0240
Email Address: kthomas@fillingintheblanks.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: Weekend Meal Program
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
The Weekend Meal Program provides food insecure children in Fairfield and Westchester County with
meal bags every Friday for 44 weeks per year to bridge the weekend gap when they often do not know
where their next meal will come from. Each weekend meal bag contains: two milks, two breakfast items,
two entrees, a vegetable, and four snacks. Children will benefit by having one less worry and by knowing
where his or her weekend meals will come from and be able to focus on learning and playing instead of
hunger.
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

Kristin Thomas, Grant Writer,

10/20/2020

Name, Title & Signature

Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
The mission of Filling in the Blanks is to fight childhood hunger by proving children in need with meals
on the weekends. Since 2013, Filling in the Blanks has removed the obstacle of food insecurity for
local children by providing each student in our Weekend Meal Program with a bag of food containing
four meals and four snacks to take home every Friday. Feeding America’s Map the Meal Gap project
reported that in 2018, 26,900 children in Fairfield County did not know where their next meal will
come from. Most ate breakfast and lunch at school on weekdays, but many would go from Friday
lunch until Monday morning without a decent meal. Unfortunately, the COVID-19 pandemic has left
many families facing increased financial hardship and food insecurity and this number has risen in the
past few months to 44,470 and the childhood food insecurity rate in Fairfield County has increased by
65%. Filling in the Blanks is meeting this heightened need and is providing meals to the largest
number of children in its history. For seven years, Filling in the Blanks has been working to nourish
children in our local community and ease the burden on their parents or caregivers.
Filling in the Blanks has been funded by the City of Norwalk, and was approved for CDBG-CV funding in
August 2020, but has not yet received any of those funds to date.
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
The “core” program of Filling in the Blanks is the Weekend Meal Program. This program provides
balanced food for children in need and delivers it directly to them through their schools, after school
programs or camps. Students are identified by their school or program as being food insecure. The
parents of each child are sent an information letter and permission slip to enroll the student in the
Weekend Meal Program from Filling in the Blanks. Each meal bag contains: two milks, two breakfast
items, two entrees, a vegetable, and four snacks. Every week, weekend meal bags are delivered to
enrolled sites and distributed to each child.
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F.
G.
H.

X

X

C.
D.
E.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
p YES
p NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
p YES
p NO
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
p YES
p NO
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
p YES
p NO
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair n/a p YES
p NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
p YES
p NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
p YES
p NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

X
X
X

3.
A.
B.

CDBG-CV Application

X

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
The Weekend Meal Program addresses local childhood food insecurity by providing breakfast, lunch, and
healthy snacks through the weekend with a variety of menus. According to the United Way 2018 ALICE
Report, 40% of Fairfield County households have incomes that are below the level needed to pay for basic
necessities. A new report by Feeding America estimates 1 in 4 children will live in food-insecure homes
in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic. Two of the largest barriers to food security for families are
financial restrictions and difficulty accessing food sources. To get over these hurdles, Filling in the Blanks
purchases balanced food for each child and delivers it directly to the children through their schools, after
school programs, or camps.
Filling in the Blanks has worked to partner with schools in Fairfield and Westchester Counties that have a
population of low-income students and enroll them in the Weekend Meal Program. Students are identified
by their school or program as being food insecure. The parents of each child are sent an information letter
and permission slip to enroll the student in the Filling in the Blanks Weekend Meal Program. Every week,
weekend meal bags are delivered to school/after-school programs and distributed to each child prior to
dismissal on Friday. Each meal bag contains four meals: two milks, two breakfast items, two entrees, a
vegetable, and four snacks.
There is no cost to any of the children enrolled in the Weekend Meal Program. Some of the food items
included in our menus are running low in supply or have risen in price, causing the average cost per meal
bag to increase. The average cost of the meal bag is now $6.00 and there are four meals in each bag (two
breakfasts, two entrees, a vegetable, and four snacks). The average cost per meal is $1.50. Our goal is to
increase the amount of food in each weekend bag as our feedback is showing that the whole family really
is benefiting from the meals.
During this COVID-19 pandemic, it has been more important than ever, that Filling in the Blanks continues
to serve the most vulnerable children in our communities. With school closures, weekend meals have
become even more vital, as many parents are unable to work creating financial stress on families. In a
survey sent to families receiving meal bags, 70% of them reported an increased need in food since the
COIVD-19 pandemic began.
The number of actual students being provided with weekend meals has been a moving target since March.
At the height of distribution this summer, we were delivering as many as 3,400 meal bags every week. As
the schools have slowly reopened this Fall, there are new requirements that have to be followed in order
to bring the meal bags in and get them to the students. As a result, the number we are currently delivering
is lower, but when it is possible Filling in the Blanks is equipped to meet the need and is anticipating to
return to about 3,000 meal bags per week at 58 locations.
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The populations of students reached are children ages 3-18 who are on the free or reduced lunch program
at their school or are part of the ALICE population (households that have a working parent but struggle to
meet the family’s daily needs). The majority of the children we serve come from single-parent homes. Free
or reduced-price breakfasts and lunches are served in elementary and secondary schools to enrolled
students whose family income is at or below 130% of Federal Poverty Level (free meals) or at or below
185% of Federal Poverty Level (reduced-price meals).
UNICEF’s State of the World’s Children Report 2019 declared that “Investing in child nutrition is key
to human capital formation because nutrition is central to children’s growth, cognitive development,
school performance, and future productivity”.
The long-term goal of the program is to increase academic achievement in school and increase
opportunities for success in their lives. Filling in the Blanks also strives to provide a sense of community
for the children, introduce them to healthy eating, and teach them about how food grows by exposing the
children to a variety of age-appropriate nutrition/healthy eating storybooks that inspire curiosity about
food and interest in trying new foods.
Hunger hinders a child's ability to participate fully in school and other activities. Therefore, the objectives
of our program are:
1. Provide food for children who are food insecure, starting in our own communities.
2. Each child will benefit by knowing where his or her weekend meals will come from and focus on
playing and learning instead of their empty stomachs.
3. The Weekend Meal Bags will decrease stress in families and the childhood trauma associated with
not having enough to eat.
To evaluate the Weekend Meal Program we focus on the following: How many food-insecure children we
are serving, how many parents and site locations are satisfied with the Weekend Meal Program, how many
re-enroll each year, how many new sites we are able to add each year, and how the children and families
we serve are better off. A new measure to evaluate success that we have implemented is to calculate our
net promoter score. We are interested in how many of the families we serve would recommend our
programs to other families facing a similar situation. The purpose of our evaluation is to understand the
impact of our services and what we can do to improve that impact.
The success would be measured by the number of meals that Filling in the Blanks was able to provide.
Being able to respond to the growing need for food in our communities, by providing more food and
nutrition is the goal. This will be evaluated by tracking every meal delivered to each location through our
InFlow Inventory System.
Success is also determined by the response we receive from surveys that we send to both the schools and
the families, assessing the program’s effectiveness and outcomes. We measure the impact of the program
on decreasing stress and improving behavior in the home and overall satisfaction with the food bags. Other
information we are trying to gather is the home zipcode of students, how many people in the household,
how often parents skip a meal so their children can eat, if hunger symptoms are persistent and if the
weekend meal bag is benefiting the whole family.
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Based on the responses we received from the schools in December 2019, 63% of teachers reported a
decrease in the following hunger symptoms: tiredness, headache, and disruptive behavior. Teachers
reported that children are no longer coming to school starving on Monday morning and that children were
present more often at school on Friday (the day the food goes home).
We face challenges getting parents and caregivers to return surveys during normal times, and during the
COVID-19 pandemic, it has been even more challenging, and we have not been able to collect the same
information that we would. Many children are picking up their meals from community centers or larger
distribution sites instead of their schools. Some of these locations are seeing children who are not normally
enrolled in our program but heard about the meals from a site that we have not yet partnered with. We
did offer surveys online, in three languages, and an incentive of a Stop N’ Shop gift card for the first time
this Spring to see if we could get a higher response.
Based on the responses received from the caregivers, 80% of parents reported that the whole family
benefits from the weekend meal bag, 82% of families reported the weekend meal bags decrease stress in
the household, and 70% of parents reported improved behavior at home. 90% of all responses gave us a
Net Promoter Score of 10, meaning they would highly recommend us to other schools with a similar
population. One parent shared with us, "I am a single mother and I have to work hard but due to COVID
19 my income has been very little. Thanks for all the help you have given us.”
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3.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
p Public service activity
p Rehabilitation activity
p New construction activity
p Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
p Other (explain)

X

2.

CDBG-CV Application

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
p New “core” program
p Expansion of existing “core” program
p Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
p New “support” program
p Expansion of existing “support” program
p Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
p Other (explain)

X
4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

p YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

#__2025_
p Persons

X

X

p NO

p Households

2025 is the current number but we expect that number to rise closer to 3,000 by the end of the year
as schools get systems in place to safely distribute meals.

- Page 10 of 16 -

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

6.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

7.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

# 2025

# _807 is the
current number but
this will increase

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

p
p
p
p

X

8.

Name
Address
Income
Other

**Filling in the Blanks does not keep any client records. We receive
eligibility (eligible for free or reduced lunch or part of ALICE
population) information from the child’s school. Schools also keep
signed opt-in letters from caregivers.
Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.

X

9.

p

Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: p

p

Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached: p
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.
(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
- Page 11 of 16 -
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clientele are primarily LMI persons.
(4)
p

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of
which, on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or
considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: p
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PART 3.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes
no
If yes, please explain:

X

Filling in the Blanks applied to all COVID emergency funds from current community partners or those
that we were qualified to apply for as soon as we were made aware of them. We applied to the
Fairfield County COVID-19 Resiliency Fund, New Canaan Community Foundation COVID Fund, Inner
City Fund for Charity and Education COVID Fund, Truist Charitable Fund - COVID Response, the
Greenwich United Way COVID Response Fund, William Caspar Graustein Memorial Fund – COVID ,
and Campbells Soup Foundation COVID funding.
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.

X

If yes, what funding source?
Norwalk Community Development
Block Grant CDBG-CV R3 Funds
Norwalk Community Development
Block Grant CDBG-CV
Truist Charitable Fund- COVID
Response
Fairfield County COVID-19 Response
Fund
Greenwich United Way COVID 19
Fund (Two rounds of funding)
Inner City Foundation for Charity and
Education COVID Response
William Caspar Graustein Memorial
Fund – COVID
Campbell Soup Foundation COVID
FUND

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

38,430

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

38,430

31,000

31,000

10,000

10,000

15,000

15,000

23,900

23,900

10,000

10,000

5,000

5,000

25,000

25,000

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.
The Total Program Budget for 2021 is currently $1,065,172. Total Food Costs are estimated at
$734,073. Food costs for Norwalk students are $213,048 for 44 weeks in 2021 but will increase as
more Norwalk locations re-enroll in the Weekend Meal Program. The cost of food and program
staffing has risen due to overtime hours, food supply issues, and increase in need. (See attached
Budget).
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Project Budget: Weekend Meal Program 2021
Program Expenses

Category

Description
Provides for the food that is
purchased weekly for the
students enrolled. Includes all
non-perishable snacks,
breakfast and lunch items for
Food
each child.
Provides for the food pouches
that are packed and sealed
individually for each student,
tables, sorting bins, sealers,
labels and shipping costs of
materials. Also, includes
Materials
disposal fees of packaging.
Provides necessary
transportation to transport
food to each school every
week for distribution. Includes,
fuel, repair & maintenance,
Transportation and insurance.
Provides for the salary of
Program Operations Manager,
Delivery Driver, and
Staffing
Warehouse Manager

Storage/
Warehouse

PPE/Masks
TOTAL

Provides necessary space
where all operations take
place. Includes space to store,
sort and pack meals, forklift
expense and utilities.
Provides a reusable mask to
each child enrolled in the
Weekened Meal Program

2021 Budget

Reqeusted
from Norwalk
CDBG-CV for
100 Norwalk
Students

Current
Norwalk
Students

$

734,073

$

213,048

$

26,400

$

25,354

$

7,456

920

$

26,244

$

7,456

0

$

151,403

$

43,675

5,400

$

123,928

$

35,863

$
$

4,170
1,065,172

$
$

4,500
1,210 *(this
amount is for
all Norwalk
1,210 students)
308,708 $
38,430

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
The daily operations of Filling in the Blanks (FITB) are primarily conducted by their two founding
members, Tina Kramer and Shawnee Knight, who report to the board of directors (the “Board”).
Under the guidance of the Board an annual operating budget is reviewed and approved. The budget
contains both financial and operating metrics. The Board also conducts quarterly reviews of
operations including a review of actual financial results to the Board approved budget.
FITB uses a third-party bookkeeping service to maintain its general ledger on QuickBooks, process
disbursements to vendors, reconcile bank accounts and prepare a monthly financial statement
package which includes balance sheet support, analysis of key operating metrics and comparison of
actual results to budget. Financial statement packages are also reviewed by a financial consultant
who provides finance and accounting support to FITB as needed. In addition, as an additional
measure of fiscal assurance, an annual financial statement audit is conducted by a regional CPA firm.
Prior to payment by the bookkeeping service, all vendor invoices are approved by one of 2 FITB
founding members who run daily operations. Expenses are also paid using a credit card controlled by
either of the two founding members. Payment for food, the largest program operating cost, is also
controlled by a thorough budgeting process where each component of the delivered food package is
bid by several vendors to achieve the best quality and price. Purchases for most components are
made in several bulk buys each fiscal year to control costs and create efficiency in operations.
The majority of cash receipts are managed through Kindful which is a CRM software developed
specifically for nonprofits to organize data and manage their donor base. FITB events, programs and
appeals are setup in Kindful which shares information with QuickBooks bidirectionally so that no
cash receipt is unaccounted for.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
The administrative budget and the program budget are separate, so the program costs should not
affect administrative costs.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The Weekend Meal Program is ongoing and year-round. Weekend meals will be delivered 51 weeks in
2020, however we intend to go back to following the school/camp calendar in 2021 and deliver 44
weeks. The new budget includes program costs through 12/31/2021.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY.

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
N/A

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
N/A

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5.
The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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p YES

p NO

p YES

p NO

p YES

p NO

N/A

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 5.

CDBG-CV Application

ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
2
2
Full-Time Staff
1
4
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
*SEE ATTACHED LIST
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Filling in the Blanks Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
*SEE ATTACHED LIST
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 7
b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk?

Vacancies? 0
0

c. How are the board members chosen?
Board members are often leaders in the community referred by current Directors. They are chosen
based on their experience and their commitment to giving of their time and resources.
yes

X

d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation?
If so, how often is training provided?

no

e. How long is a term? 1 year How many consecutive terms may be served? No limit
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
yes
no
If yes, please explain.

X

The Co-President’s of Filling in the Blanks participate on a weekly phone call with other organizations,
including food pantries, other non-profits, and schools that provide food to those in need in Norwalk, to
assess local needs, make sure there is no duplication in services and that all agencies are working
together.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
The Norwalk Public Schools, Chartwells Dining Services, Carver Center, and Person to Person all provide
- Page 16 of 16 -
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food assistance to Norwalk residents in need. Filling in the Blanks does collaborate with the public schools
and Person to Person, but we are the only organization providing shelf-stable weekend meals specific for
and directly to children. Through a larger organization, a local church has been delivering a Blessing Box
which is delivered to some Norwalk residents bi-weekly and filled with produce and fresh food.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
Chartwells Dining Services provides the public school breakfasts and lunches, and has recently started
providing some prepared foods for in-person students for the weekend. During the school shut down, we
worked with Chartwells at their Grab n’ Go sites to distribute the weekend meals to the same students
receiving weekday meals from Chartwells. The Bridgeport Rescue Mission, Person to Person, the CT
Foodbank and Carver Center all provide services to the target beneficiaries that Filling in the Blanks does.
Filling in the Blanks has provided information on SNAP benefits to those we serve as well as referring to
the above agencies where we see a need.
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PART 5. ORGANIZATIONAL EFFIECIENY
1. STAFF MEMBERS INVOLVED IN PROJECT
Tina Kramer, Co-Founder and Co-President (Volunteer)
• Oversees all operations
• Manages relationships with all partner agencies
• Makes all financial decisions
• Fundraising
• Responsible for Strategic Planning
Shawnee Knight, Co-Founder and Co-President (Volunteer)
• Oversees all operations
• Manages relationships with all partner agencies
• Makes all financial decisions
• Maintains Website
• Fundraising
• Responsible for Strategic Planning
Deena Youngs , Operations Manager (Full Time)
• Tracks inventory
• Places food orders
• Coordinates all meal bag packing
• Plans menus
• Schedules delivery with Schools/Programs
• Keeps record of deliveries
Jaran Kelly, Warehouse Manager (Full Time)
• Responsible for all the operations within the warehouse.
• Product integrity
• Inventory rotation
• Safety
• Labeling and coding
• Raw material and finished good management
• Communicate changes/updates/feedback from site contacts with Operations Manager
• Maintain truck log
• Update Operations Manager of any mechanical issues with the truck

Hunter VanVeghel, Delivery Driver & Warehouse Assistant (Part Time)
• works directly with Warehouse Manager to maintain a safe and clean warehouse
environment
• Prepares deliveries
• Organizes food by type and date
• Operates forklift
• Packs meal bags
• Loads/unloads all meal bags
• Recycles all cardboard
• Delivers all meal bags to schools
• Maintains delivery truck
Holly Kennedy, Volunteer Warehouse Coordinator
• Organizes food items into separate menus
• Sets up tables for packing
• Trains lead and assistant packers
• Recycles cardboard
Jera Flood, Volunteer Social Media Coordinator
• Manages all social media accounts
• Promotes work of Filling in the Blanks as well as Community Partners
• Brings awareness to need and work being done
Cheryl Tierney, Volunteer New Business Development
• Bring awareness to need and work being done
• Creates partnerships with local businesses/corporations
• Raises money for program costs
Kristin Thomas, Volunteer Grant Writer
• Collects data
• Researches grant opportunities
• Hosts site visits and informational calls
• Completes grant applications
• Completes grant reports
• Maintains funder relationships

Filling in the Blanks
2020 Board of Directors
Thomas Conheeney, Director (New Canaan, CT) 2015-Present
President of Investment Management Services, Inc from 1996 to 1999.
Chief Operating Officer SAC Capital 1999-2008.
President of SAC Capital 2008-2014.
Serves on Boards of Multiple Myeloma Research Foundation and King School.
Michael Johnson, Director (Greenwich, CT) 2018-Present
Worked with Cigna Health Care 1992-1997.
Senior Vice President at USI Insurance Services.
CEO of Old Greenwich Consulting 2007-2016.
Currently CEO/Founder of J5Consulting.
Douglas Knight, Director (New Canaan, CT) 2014 – Present
Worked at Cardillo / Associated Travel 1981 – 1986.
General Manager and Controller, McGregor Travel 1987-1993 purchasing the assets of
the company in 1993.
Currently the Managing Partner of Worldtek.
Shawnee Knight, Founder (New Canaan, CT) 2014- Present
Co-Founder Filling in the Blanks
Classically trained at the French Culinary Institute of NYC.
Member of the Stamford Food Collaborative, and the Stamford Public Schools
Strategic Planning Advisory Committee.
Michael Kramer, Director (New Canaan, CT) 2014-Present
Founding and Managing Director of Kramer Capital Partners.
Partner at Perella Weinberg Partners.
Founding member and CEO of Ducera LLC.
Trustee of Board of St. Luke’s School.
Tina Kramer, Founder (New Canaan, CT) 2014- Present
Co-Founder of Filling in the Blanks.
Active non-profit board member and volunteer.
Member of the Stamford Food Collaborative, and the Stamford Public Schools
Strategic Planning Advisory Committee.
Sue Scribner Mirza, Lead Director (Greenwich, CT) 2018- Present
Past Trustee and member of the Executive Committee of King School. private
Co-founder & President of the Save the Children Greenwich Leadership Council.
Member of the Cancer Advisory Council at Columbia University Medical Center
Member of Advisory Council of the Keough School of Global Affairs at the University of
Notre Dame.

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 7.

CDBG-CV Application

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME:
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) ( )
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )

X

If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
None

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title
None

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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2,060 students
receive Weekend
1,436 students fed
Meal Bags
with Weekend Meal
Bags
175 students
received Weekend
Meal Bags
2
schools

2013

5 Summer
2015 camps

2014

Holiday Backpack
Program Started

Filling in the
Blanks begins
Weekend Meal
Program for 50
students at one
school

Moved
operation to
Warehouse in
Norwalk

13 Summer
Camps

2016

2017

8 Summer
Camps

4 Summer
Camps
1
school

26
schools

7
schools

463 students
enrolled in
Weekend Meal
Program

12
schools

16
schools

34

32
schools

Distribution
Sites

Served our

Millionth

meal!
Expanded to Second
Warehouse
MAR-JUNE JUL-AUG
2018

2019

13 Summer
Camps
Purchased Box
Truck
Mobile Food
Pantry
Food Kits and
established
Fun Program
began

Weekend Meal
815 students
Bags delivered to received Weekend
784 students
Meal Bags

2,900 students received
Weekend Meal Bags

2020

2020

Hired
Operations
Manager

COVID
Pandemic

42
schools

2,300 students receive
Weekend Meal Bags

2020

Hired
Warehouse
Coordinator

32
32
Summer
Summer
Sites
Sites
3,200 students
received Weekend
Meal Bags

Board of Directors
Executive Committee
Eileen Kim

Board Chair
Nicole Kwasniewski

Vice Chair
Community Impact

April 20, 2020
Tina Kramer and Shawnee Knight
Executive Directors
Filling in the Blanks
346 Main Avenue, Suite 3A
Norwalk, CT 06851
Dear Ms. Kramer and Knight,

Diane Viton

Vice Chair
Fund Development &
Marketing

Thank you for submitting an application. We are pleased to inform you that the Greenwich United
Way (GUW) Board of Directors has approved a grant, totaling $8,900, for Filling in the Blanks to be
disbursed on April 21, 2020, to address needs caused by the COVID-19 public health crisis. If
additional needs arise, due to COVID-19, please contact us as additional funds may be requested.

Debra Hess

Vice Chair Finance
Grace Lockhart Djuranovic

Vice Chair Stewardship
William Finger

Secretary

Members of the Board
Shari Aser

The amount awarded is for The Weekend Meal Program. This amount will be used to provide
weekend meal bags (containing 4 meals and 4 snacks) to 106 low-income Greenwich students for
sixteen weeks. That is a total of 6,784 meals. GUW will request a monthly report to ensure funds
are being used in a timely manner and to address any immediate needs with community partners. A
plan for the distribution of awarded funds must be submitted back to the GUW within one month of
receipt and monthly going forward until the grant is depleted.
The Greenwich COVID-19 Community Relief Fund (the “Fund”) was designed for the relief of
economic hardship due to the COVID-19 crisis, and the GUW will distribute appropriately to
agencies located in Greenwich providing aid, assistance, and relief to Greenwich residents. In March
2020, the GUW’s board of directors voted to support COVID-19 disaster relief and recovery efforts
for Greenwich residents. While the Greenwich United Way recognizes the need for emergency
response funding, we remain committed to ensuring that funds are available for longer-term
recovery and building a resilient community, which is dependent on ongoing successful fundraising.

Karen Chaplin
Hagar Chemali
Timothy Drinkall
Jaime Eisenberg
Laura Erickson

Joui Hessel

GUW funding commitments are conditional, based on the success of our fundraising efforts as well
as Filling in the Blank’s adherence to GUW’s Funding and Publicity Agreements and timely,
accurate reporting. Please sign, scan and email the enclosed Funding and Publicity Agreements to
Robert Moore, Director of Community Impact at rmoore@greenwichunitedway.org .

Eva Maria Janerus

Sincerely,

Daniel Fitzgerald
Mario Forlini

Caitlin Kraus-Long
John Maus
Erin McCall
JP Muir
Karen Scrivanos Oztemel
Kirsten Riemer
Angela Swift

David Rabin, CEO, Greenwich United Way
Cc: Eileen Kim, Chair, Greenwich United Way Board of Directors

Laurie Tropiano
Nancy Weissler
David Rabin

CEO

Five Hundred West Putnam Avenue, Suite 415 • Greenwich, CT 06830 • 203-869-2221
www.greenwichunitedway.org

NON-DISCRIMINATION POLICY
OF
FILLING IN THE BLANKS, INC.
Filling in the Blanks, Inc. (the “Corporation”) prohibits discrimination or harassment in
any of its activities or operations based on race, color, religion, creed, sex, gender identity,
gender expression, national origin, age, disability, marital status, veteran status, sexual
orientation, predisposing genetic characteristics, domestic violence victim status or any other
status protected by applicable law. These activities and operations include, but are not limited to,
hiring and firing of staff, selection of volunteers and vendors, and provision of services. We are
committed to providing an inclusive and welcoming environment for all members of our staff,
subcontractors, vendors, and clients.
Any member of staff, volunteer, subcontractor, vendor or client who feels that he or she
has been harassed or discriminated against, or who has witnessed or become aware of
discrimination or harassment in violation of this policy, should bring the matter to the immediate
attention of any Director of the Corporation. The Corporation will promptly investigate all
allegations of discrimination or harassment and will take action as appropriate based on the
outcome of the investigation. Any such investigation and its results will be treated as
confidential to the extent feasible.
No member of staff, volunteer, subcontractor, vendor or client will be retaliated against
for making a complaint in good faith regarding a violation of this policy, or for participating in
good faith in an investigation pursuant to this policy. If any such person feels that he or she has
been retaliated against in connection with a complaint or any other action, such person should
immediately contact any Director of the Corporation.
Filling in the Blanks, Inc. is an equal opportunity employer. We will not discriminate
and will take affirmative measures to ensure against discrimination in employment, recruitment,
advertisement for employment, compensation, termination, promotion, and other conditions of
employment – with respect to both current members of staff, volunteers, subcontractors, vendors,
and clients and prospective parties – on the basis of race, color, religion, creed, sex, gender
identity, gender expression, national origin, age, disability, marital status, veteran status, sexual
orientation, predisposing genetic characteristics, domestic violence victim status or any other
status protected by applicable law.

FILLING IN THE BLANKS, INC.
Audited Financial Statements
For the Years Ended December 31, 2019 and 2018
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Directors of
Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Norwalk, CT
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Filling in the Blanks, Inc. (a nonprofit
organization) which comprise the statements of financial position as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and
the related statements of activities and change in net assets, functional expenses, and cash flows for the
years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.
Auditor’s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Filling in the Blanks, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and the changes in its
net assets and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

2500 WESTCHESTER AVENUE, SUITE 117 • PURCHASE, NEW YORK 10577 • TEL: (914) 833-2200 • FAX: (914) 833-2278

Report on Summarized Comparative Information
We have previously audited Filling in the Blanks, Inc.’s 2018 financial statements, and we expressed an
unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial statements in our report dated May 24, 2019. In our
opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the years ended
December 31, 2019, and 2018, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements
from which it has been derived.
Emphasis of Matter
Filling in the Blanks, Inc. adopted ASU 2016-14, Not-For-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of
Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities, during 2018. The adoption of the standard resulted in
additional footnote disclosures and changes to classification of net assets and the disclosures related to
net assets. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Purchase, New York
June 9, 2020

Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Statement of Financial Position
As of December 31,
ASSETS
Cash and Equivalents
Pledges Receivable, net
Inventory
Prepaid Expenses
Property and Equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Liabilities
Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses
Capital Lease Obligation
Deferred Rent
Total Liablilities

2019
$

1,477,031 $
211,328
45,615
15,613
101,596

1,030,256
10,210
66,713

$

1,851,184 $

1,107,179

$

45,575 $
19,656
586
65,817

46,129
7,694
53,823

Net Assets
Without Restriction
With Restriction
Total Net Assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

2018

$

1,700,263
85,105
1,785,367

1,053,356
1,053,356

1,851,184 $

1,107,179

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Statement of Activities and Change in Net Assets

For the Year Ended December 31,

Without
Restriction

Support and Revenue
Fundraising
Contributions
Other Income
Interest Income
Satisfaction of Restriction
Total Support and Revenue

$ 848,647 $
- $ 848,647 $ 572,980
381,258
143,487
524,745
259,425
69,140
19,750
88,890
38,225
11,530
11,530
5,316
78,132
(78,132)
1,388,707
85,105 1,473,812
875,946

Expenses
Program Services
Fundraising
General and Administrative
Total Expenses
Change in Net Assets
Net Assets at Beginning of Year
Net Assets at End of Year

With
Restriction

2019
Total

2018
Total

530,473
108,444
102,884
741,801

-

530,473
108,444
102,884
741,801

325,881
106,914
78,142
510,937

646,907
1,053,356

85,105
-

732,011
1,053,356

365,009
688,347

$ 1,700,263 $

85,105 $ 1,785,367 $ 1,053,356

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Statement of Functional Expenses
2019
Program
Services

For the year ended December 31,
Food Donations
$
Direct Fundraising Costs
Occupancy
Payroll
Supplies Donations
Depreciation
Loss on Disposal of Leasehold Improvements
Professional Services
Job Materials
Utilities
Insurance
Advertising and Promotion
Travel
Disposal Fees
Office Expense
Repairs and Maintenace
Taxes and Licenses
Computer and Internet
Meals and Entertainment
Dues and Subscriptions
Interest Expense
Telephone
Shipping and Delivery
Subcontractor Fees
Bank Charges
Total Expenses

$

General and
Administrative

324,728 $
48,025
24,546
46,390
27,137
21,536
11,762
6,038
6,207
6,182
4,050
1,888
1,060
923
530,473 $

Fundraising

2018

Total
Total
Expenses Expenses

$

108,444
-

$ 324,728 $ 198,818
106,914
108,444
65,460
59,868
52,901
34,000
46,390
22,855
27,903
13,381
21,536
20,067
19,053
11,762
8,212
7,548
6,146
8,163
5,388
6,723
4,766
6,440
6,957
5,415
6,182
5,214
4,370
4,050
1,252
4,019
50
3,567
4,022
3,417
738
1,898
4,256
1,888
1,438
1,171
1,060
3,125
923
180
80
-

102,884 $

108,444

$ 741,801 $ 510,937

-

17,435
28,354
765
20,067
1,509
8,163
6,723
233
5,214
4,019
3,567
3,417
1,898
1,438
80

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Statement of Cash Flows
For the Year Ended December 31,
Cash Flow from Operating Activities:
Changes in Net Assets
Adjustments to reconcile changes in net assets
to cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on disposal of leasehold improvements
Changes in Operating Assets & Liabilities:
(Increase) Decrease in pledges receivable
(Increase) Decrease in prepaid expenses
Increase in inventory
Increase (Decrease) in accounts payable
Increase (Decrease) in deferred rent
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities

2019
$

Cash Flow from Investing Activities:
Purchase of equipment
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities
Cash Flow from Financing Activities:
Principal payments on capital lease obligations
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities
Net Increase in Cash and Equivalents
Cash and equivalents, beginning of the year

732,011 $

2018
365,009

27,903
21,536

13,381
-

(211,328)
(5,403)
(45,615)
(554)
(7,108)
511,442

9,600
10,154
34,781
435
433,360

(61,337)
(61,337)

(8,779)
(8,779)

(3,329)
(3,329)

-

446,775
1,030,256

424,580
605,676

Cash and Equivalents, End of the Year

$ 1,477,031 $ 1,030,256

Supplemental Disclosures
Cash paid for interest

$

1,888 $

-

Acquisition of machinery through capital lease

$

22,985 $

-

See accompanying notes to financial statements
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 1 - Organization
Filling in the Blanks, Inc. (“the Organization”), a not-for-profit formed in the State of Connecticut,
fights childhood hunger by providing children in need with meals on the weekends. The program
is available throughout the year to needy children who are eligible for free and reduced lunch
programs. The Organization was formed in 2014.
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation
The Organization prepares its financial statements on the accrual basis in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the Unites States of America. The financial
statements are presented in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB)
Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 958 dated August 2016, and the provisions of the
American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) “Audit and Accounting Guide for Notfor-Profit Organizations” (the “Guide”). (ASC) 958-205 was effective January 1, 2018. Under the
provisions of the Guide, net assets and revenues, and gains and losses are classified based on
the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. Accordingly, the net assets of the
Organization and changes therein are classified as follows:
Net assets without donor restrictions: Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed
restrictions and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of
the Organization. The Organization’s board may designate assets without restrictions for
specific operational purposes from time to time.
Net assets with donor restrictions: Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors,
and grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be
met by actions of the Non-Profit Organization or by the passage of time. Other donor
restrictions are perpetual in nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be
maintained in perpetuity.
Pledges Receivable and Contributions
Unconditional contributions are recognized when pledged and recorded as net assets without
donor restrictions or net assets with donor restrictions, depending on the existence and/or nature
of any donor-imposed restrictions. Conditional promises to give are recognized when the
conditions on which they depend are substantially met. Gifts of cash and other assets are reported
with donor restricted support if they are received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the
donated assets. The Organization expects all receivables at December 31, 2019 to be collected.
When a restriction expires, that is, when a stipulated time restriction ends or a purpose restriction
is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor
restrictions and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from restrictions.
Donor-restricted contributions whose restrictions are met in the same reporting period are
reported as net assets without donor restriction support. Donations of property and equipment are
recorded as support at their estimated fair value at the date of donation.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are recorded at cost and are being depreciated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets ranging between 5 and 7 years. No asset
impairments were noted at December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect certain reported amounts and disclosures. Accordingly, actual results
could differ from those estimates.
Tax Status
The Organization is a not-for-profit organization exempt from federal income tax under Section
501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and has been designated as an organization which is not
a private foundation.
The Organization has evaluated the recognition requirements for uncertain income tax positions
as required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, with no
cumulative effect adjustment required. Income tax benefits are recognized for income tax
positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax return, only when it is determined that the income
tax position will more-likely-than-not be sustained upon examination by taxing
authorities. Accordingly, the Organization has not recorded any reserves, or related accruals for
interest and penalties for uncertain income tax positions at December 31, 2019.
Cash and Cash Equivalents
For purposes of the Statements of Cash Flows, the Organization considers all highly liquid
investments with an initial maturity of three months or less to be cash equivalents.
Financial instruments, that potentially subject the Organization to concentrations of credit risk,
consist of cash, and cash equivalents. The Organization’s cash and cash equivalents are on
deposit with several financial institutions. At times during the year such investments may be in
excess of Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) limits.
Expense Allocation
Directly identifiable expenses are charged to programs and supporting services. Expenses related
to more than one function are charged to programs and supporting services on the prorated basis
determined by Management. Administrative and general expenses include expenses that are not
directly identifiable with any other specific function but provide for the overall support and direction
of the Organization.
Advertising
The Organization uses advertising to promote its programs among the public it serves. Advertising
costs are expensed as incurred. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
advertising costs totaled $6,723 and $4,766, respectively.
Rent
In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, the
Organization records rent expense on a straight-line basis for its leases that contain rent
escalation. Amounts expensed in excess of the actual payments are recorded as deferred rent
liabilities on the accompanying statement of financial position.
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Inventory
Inventories consist of purchased or donated food and related supplies. The value of purchased
and donated inventory is recorded at the lower of cost or market using the first-in, first-out (FIFO)
method. A loss, if any, would be recognized for the decrease in value of any spoilage in inventory.
The Organization had inventory of $45,615 at December 31, 2019.
Recent Pronouncements
In February 2016, the Financial Accounting and Standards Board (FASB) issued ASU 2016-02,
Leases (842). The new guidance requires all leases with lease terms over 12 months to be
capitalized as a right-of-use asset and a lease liability on the statement of financial position at the
date of lease commencement. The pattern of expense recognition in the statement of activities
will depend on the lease’s classification. For not-for-profit operations, the standard takes effect
for years beginning after December 31, 2019. The Organization is currently evaluating the impact
that this standard may have on its financial statements.
In 2018, the FASB issued ASU 2018-08, Not-For-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Clarifying the Scope
and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and Contributions Made. ASU 2018-08
clarifies the guidance for evaluating whether a transaction is reciprocal (i.e. an exchange
transaction) or nonreciprocal (i.e. a contribution) and for distinguishing between conditional and
unconditional contributions. The new standard is effective for Filling in the Blanks, Inc’s 2019
financial statements.
In 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606).
This ASU establishes principles for reporting useful information to users of financial statements
about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from the
entity’s contracts with customers, particularly, that an entity recognizes revenue to depict the
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The
Organization adopted the standard and it did not affect the timing of revenue recognition.
Note 3 – Pledges Receivable
Pledges receivables represent unconditional pledges and promises to give from various
organizations and individuals. Long term pledges are recorded after discounting to the present
value of future cash flows using 4.75%, the prime rate, as of December 31, 2019. Pledges
receivable as of December 31, 2019 were:
Less than one year
More than one year
Less discount on promises to give

$ 179,507
33,333
212,840
(1,512)

Net unconditional promises to give

$ 211,328
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 4 - Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consist of the following as of December 31:
Machinery and Equipment
Furniture, Fixtures and Equipment
Vehicles
Leasehold Improvements
Property and Equipment
Less: Accumulated Depreciation
Property and Equipment, Net

$

$

2019
22,985 $
57,512
46,812
3,217
130,525
(28,930)
101,596 $

2018
10,222
45,487
31,057
86,766
(20,053)
66,713

Note 5 – Liquidity
The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its general operating needs while
also striving to maintain sufficient reserves to meet operating needs during periods of uncertainty
and to assure longer term commitments will continue to be met. The Organization’s strategy is to
operate within a balanced budget that anticipates collecting sufficient revenue to cover general
expenditures. Revenues available to meet general expenditures include all revenues, gains, and
other support generated from ongoing operations, unless certain restrictions exist.
The following reflects the Organization’s financial assets as of December 31, 2019, reduced by
amounts not available for general use within one year of the statement of financial date because
of donor-imposed restrictions:
Cash - operating account - Unrestricted
Cash - savings account - Unrestricted
Pledges receivable
Net financial assets available within one year
Less: Amounts not available for general expenditures
Restrictions by donor with purpose restrictions
Financial assets available to meet general expenditures
within one year

$

2019
237,923 $
1,239,108
179,507
1,656,539
(53,284)

$

1,603,255

2018
514,745
515,511
1,030,256
-

$

1,030,256

Note 6 – In-Kind Donations
The Organization receives various types of in-kind support throughout the year. Donated goods
and services are recognized in circumstances where those goods and services create or enhance
non-financial assets or require specialized skills, are provided by individuals or organizations
providing those goods and services and would typically need to be purchased if not provided inkind. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Organization recognized income
of $34,530 and $9,433, respectively, in donated goods and services.
A substantial amount of management, administrative, fundraising and program relate services are
performed voluntarily by the Board of Directors and other individual volunteers. Those services
have not been recorded as they do meet the criteria outlined above.
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 7 – Operating Leases
The Organization leased a facility in Norwalk Connecticut, from where it conducts its operations.
The lease commitment was for five years beginning June 1, 2017 and ending on May 31, 2022.
There were two (5) year renewal options. The monthly rent ranged from $3,300 in the first year to
$3,714 in year five. The Organization was responsible for all utility costs, as well as general
repairs and maintenance, including HVAC maintenance. This lease agreement ended November
1, 2019 when the Organization moved to a different location.
On November 1, 2019, the Organization increased it facilities from 3,300 square feet to 7,160
square feet by signing a new lease for space within the same location in Norwalk Connecticut,
where it conducts its operations. The lease commitment is for five years beginning November 1,
2019 and ending on October 31, 2024. There are two (5) year renewal options. The monthly rent
ranges from $7,181 in the first year to $7,772 in year five. The Organization is responsible for all
utility costs, as well as general repairs and maintenance, including HVAC maintenance.
The following is a schedule of future annual minimum lease payments under the operation lease:
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2024

$

86,454
88,183
89,947
91,746
77,725

Rent expense for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $65,460 and $59,868,
respectively.
Note 8 – Capital Lease
The Organization is obligated under a capital lease agreement for the purchase of a forklift at a
cost of $22,985, which is included in property and equipment on the balance sheet. The forklift is
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the course of 5 years. The net book value for the forklift
at December 31, 2019 was $19,154. The lease is guaranteed by the owners of the Organization
and requires monthly payments of $474 with an interest rate of approximately 8%. The capital
lease obligation as of December 31, 2019 was $19,656. The future minimum payments are as
follows:
December 31, 2020
December 31, 2021
December 31, 2022
December 31, 2023
December 31, 2024

$

$

Gross
5,691
5,691
5,691
5,691

Interest
$
1,473
1,109
714
285

474

3

23,240

$

3,584

Net
4,219
4,582
4,977
5,406
471
$ 19,656
$
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Filling in the Blanks, Inc.
Notes to the Financial Statements
Note 9 – Net Assets with Donor Restrictions
At December 31, 2019, the Organization had $85,105 net assets with Donor Restrictions. These
assets were restricted for the purpose of providing meals to the Boys and Girls Club of Greenwich.
Note 10 – Related Party Transactions
During the year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Organization received approximately
$317,099 and $176,305, respectively, in donations from the Executive Directors and individuals
related to the Executive Directors. These individuals also serve as Board Members of the
Organization. The total amount received in donations for 2019 and 2018 approximates 22% and
20% of the total support of the Organization. No goods or services were provided to these
individuals for their donations.
Note 11 – Reclassification
Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior year financial statements in order for them
to be in conformity with current year presentation.
Note 12 – Subsequent Events
The Organization’s future operations and financial performance may be affected by the recent
COVID-19 pandemic which has adversely affected economic conditions throughout the world.
The Organization may experience a disruption in operations, decline in support revenue, as well
as a decline in fair value of its assets as a result of this pandemic. At the date of this report,
Management has not quantified the effects of this pandemic, but will monitor the matter
closely. Depending on the duration of this pandemic, the outlook of the Organization’s financial
conditions and results of operations cannot be determined.
On April 15, 2020, the Organization received loan proceeds in the amount of $11,654 under the
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) and a Small Business Administration (“SBA”) loan of
$3,000. The PPP, established as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Economic Security Act
(“CARES Act”), provides for loans to qualifying businesses for amounts up to 2.5 times of the
average monthly payroll expenses of the qualifying business. The loans and accrued interest are
forgivable as long as the borrower uses the loan proceeds for eligible purposes, including payroll,
benefits, rent and utilities, and maintains its payroll levels. The amount of loan forgiveness will be
reduced if the borrower terminates employees or reduces salaries. The Organization currently
believes that its use of the loan proceeds will meet the conditions for forgiveness of the loan.
The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through June 9, 2020 which is the date the
financial statements were available to be issued.
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 1.

CDBG-CV Application

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
Malta House, Inc. opened its doors in 1998 with the goal of addressing the on-going needs of single,
homeless pregnant and parenting women and their children. The founders of Malta House recognized that
there were far too many single mothers in our community who have never lived in a stable, safe and
nurturing home. Malta House has served over 660 homeless mothers and their children in the last 22 years.
Malta House is the only maternity group home for pregnant women over 18 in Connecticut.
Malta House was one of only two shelters to stay open and continue to accept new clients at the height of
COVID-19 during the Connecticut shutdown. During this difficult time, we continued to provide critical
services and care to help pregnant and parenting mothers go from homeless to housing security.
Malta House does not receive any federal or state funding; we rely 100% on private individuals and
foundations to allow us to help every woman who comes to us seeking our assistance. Provisions to ensure
program continuity rely not only on the various events held throughout the year, but also the support of
foundations, grantors, corporate contributions, and from generous donations through our Annual Appeal.
There are over 65 homeless shelters in Connecticut that accommodate 1,486 individuals, 290 families and
550 children; 2,370 people in total. We are one of only two sheltering services dedicated to pregnant
women and the only service dedicated to women over the age of 18 in Connecticut. Others will accept
pregnant women, but they must leave after the child is born and her stay is limited to a maximum of 90
days. Malta House Inc. does not limit the time a woman and her infant may reside with us and provide wrap
around services imperative to the health and wellbeing of pregnant mothers and their infants.
Since 1998, Malta House has helped 331 mothers, 352 babies, and provided 7,989 nights of shelter. By the
end of 2020, Malta House plans to move into our new home, which will expand the number of mothers and
their babies we shelter, and allow us to offer more services to our residents, and community clients.
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
Our core programs are: Residential Program, Partnering Success Program, and Outreach Program; Malta
House-serves the most at-risk female populations - pregnant and new mothers - and supports a mother
through the critical first years of her child's life. A mother's journey begins by entering Malta House,
continues with the successful completion of the Residential Program, and ends with the transition to
independence. We are here to offer support, guidance, resources, and love, but the most important thing
we provide is hope. Hope keeps their spirit alive and makes all things possible. Additionally, our Outreach
Program allows us to give back to our community by assisting underserved families living in our community
with diapers and excess donations (clothing, furniture, and more).
- Page 5 of 16 -
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CDBG-CV Application

The Residential Program: We provide safe housing for up to 20 individuals; ten pregnant mothers and their
ten infants. The goal is to empower each mother to reach her fullest potential by becoming independent
providers and active community members, allowing her to provide a better life for her family.
The Partnering Success Program: As our mothers transition from the Residence Program to independent life,
our Partnering Success Program provides ongoing follow-up assistance such as counseling, childcare,
housing subsidies, and transportation. This program serves scores of Malta House alumnae per year and
often includes support for the educational needs of their children. Our Case Managers provide periodic well
visits to all our graduates and provide practical solutions to challenges they are facing and often act as an
advocate for them with landlords, employers and agencies as they navigate independent single
motherhood.
The Community Outreach Program "Baby Pantry": Malta House receives many generous donations of baby
equipment, clothing, diapers, and food. We have become known as a resource for these necessities in the
Greater Norwalk area, serving an average of 50 families each month to provide basic personal and
household needs. We feel fortunate that we can share our gifts with former residents and other mothers in
need who are living in our community.

3.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

F.
G.
H.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
YES
NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
YES
NO
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
YES
NO
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
YES
NO
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
YES
NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
YES
NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
YES
NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PART 2.

CDBG-CV Application

PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
Malta House’s Residential Program is more important than ever before as we respond to the COVID-19
crisis. The CDC reports that homeless people are one the populations most vulnerable to COVID-19. All of
our clients are homeless women who are either pregnant or recently gave birth. It is imperative to their
health, and their baby’s health that we give them shelter, at no cost to them, where they can properly social
distance. Our Residential Program currently provides shelter for ten mothers and ten babies at any given
time. Each mother shares a private bedroom with her baby and shares a bathroom with one other family.
They also have access to our secure backyard, so mother and child can get fresh air while still remaining
safe.
Malta House mothers tend to come most often from Fairfield County, but we also receive referrals from the
rest of the State of Connecticut, with the occasional referral from New York. Malta House always gives
priority to pregnant women, no matter geographic location. Over 70% of clients are Black or African
American, and approximately 8% are Hispanic or Latina. The average age of our mothers is 23. 100% of our
mothers meet the Very Low-Income threshold or even the Extremely Low-Income threshold set by the
United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD).
Our Case Managers have been working work quickly to move our mothers into safe and secure housing as
they transition from the Residential Program into the Partnering Success Program. Our Case Managers are
extraordinary in their ability to provide flexible services and advocacy for our mothers during this pandemic.
Our mothers have faced more barriers and encountered countless hurdles to find housing during COVID-19
than ever before. Previously, our Case Managers needed to advocate and fight for our mothers’ right to
federally assisted housing programs such as Section 8 Housing Vouchers. Since Malta House does not limit
the time a mother can stay in our shelter, HUD no longer considers them homeless, and therefore not
eligible for housing assistance. Now, during COVID-19, our Case Managers are having trouble even
contacting someone in an assistance program to begin the advocacy process.
Our Partnering Success Program provides services to mothers post-residency through our Case Managers.
Malta House believes that continued love, support, and guidance increase the chances that a mother will
continue working toward a better life for her family. Former residents receive ongoing support for the
continuing issues that face low-income single mothers, which may include housing assistance, child care,
food and baby supplies, and education assistance for both moms and toddlers.
The cost of running our Residential and Partnering Success Programs is substantial and represents
approximately 61% of our annual budget. COVID-19 forced us to postpone all in-person fundraising and we
had put a hold on all in-kind donations, volunteers and visitors. We are slowly opening up again, closely
following the guidelines that the State of Connecticut has offered. In addition, our annual gala, “A Mother’s
Love” which is our biggest in person fundraiser and source of critical revenue, was rescheduled from May
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10, 2020 until September 10, 2020. We quickly pivoted and created a hybrid event, made up of both in
person guests at an outside facility under tents while safely social distancing (including masks and hand
sanitizer for every guest), and remote guests who accessed the event through a web link. We had to delay
the event from one fiscal year to the next which has negatively impacted our operating revenue. We
continue to apply for funding opportunities to recoup the funding losses we have experienced. We’ve also
limited our expenses as much as possible. Funding from the CDBG-CV CARES Act will ensure that we can
continue providing essential services to our homeless moms and babies so they stay safe, nurtured and
thriving.
2.
Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
Public service activity
Rehabilitation activity
New construction activity
Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
Other (explain)

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
New “core” program
Expansion of existing “core” program
Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
New “support” program
Expansion of existing “support” program
Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

#80
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6.

7.

CDBG-CV Application

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

# 80

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

# 60

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

Name
Address
Income
 Other

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least 51%
of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in the
neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the activity is
located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached:


Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached:
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.
(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of which,
on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or considered
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to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached:



(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X yes
no
If yes, please explain:






The Fairfield County Community Foundation
The Inner-City Foundation for Charity & Education
The Bank of America Foundation
Federal Paycheck Protection Program
New Canaan Community Foundation
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X
yes
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.

If yes, what funding source?
Fairfield County Community Foundation
Bank of America Foundation
The Inner-City Foundation for Charity &
Education
New Canaan Community Foundation
Federal Paycheck Protection Program

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

$25,000.00
$25,000.00

$15,000.00

Amount
Pending

$25,000.00

$25,000.00
$15,000.00
$93,300.00

Amount
Denied

$25,000.00
$15,000.00
$93,300.00

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.

The total expenses for the Residential Program and Partnering Success Program are $632,067.00.
3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
Please see the attached procedure.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
If CDBG Emergency COVID19 Grant is awarded, this funding will cover some of the expected financial losses
that our annual gala, our biggest fundraising event, has created. Due to the COVID19 epidemic, our annual
gala has been postponed to the next fiscal year, creating a $250,000 gap in our operating revenue. CDBG
Emergency COVID19 funding will allow us to continue operating and providing our critical essential services
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and community outreach to our residents and the community. We would like to use the funding to cover
some of the salary costs of our Case Management staff members that work directly with our residential
clients. A budget is attached for your review.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The Residence and Partnering Success Programs are ongoing. This funding request will be used for our
current Fiscal Year Ending in June of 2021 and applied towards our case management employee salaries to
sustain these life changing programs.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
yes X no
If yes, please explain:
*We received a PPP loan of $93,300 on April 10, 2020 but no further funding since that time.

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes X no
If yes, please explain:

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
8
Full-Time Staff
4
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Malta House Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 16

Vacancies? 0

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 4
c. How are the board members chosen?
Members of the corporation have to approve all Board members. Potential candidates are identified by
board or staff members, then interviewed by one or more Board members and the Executive Director,
finally a recommendation is made to the members with background information on the candidate. All
members may choose to meet with the candidate before approval.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? X
yes
no
If so, how often is training provided?
Members are given an orientation before their first board meeting; from time to time Board members will
attend fundraising and development forums.
e. How long is a term? 3 years How many consecutive terms may be served? No limit
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
yes X no
If yes, please explain.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
Malta House Inc. is Connecticut's only transitional living program for vulnerable, homeless pregnant and
parenting women over the age of 18. Malta House offers housing and wrap-around services to assist
mothers in establishing financial independence and housing stability. While it is true that there are other
homeless shelters in Norwalk (Open Doors Shelter) and the surrounding areas, most will offer 90 days of
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housing to someone in need, but not to both mother and child, causing them to be separated. Malta House
is a 24-hour care facility. Malta House collaborates with the St. Joseph's Parenting Center in Stamford and
several local counseling centers –Norwalk Community Health, Day Street Clinic, Catholic Charities, and other
independent local providers. We have most recently connected with the Rowan Center to provide support
for any of our residents who have experienced sexual and/or physical abuse.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
Malta House works closely with Supportive Housing Works (Opening Doors in Fairfield County), Family and
Children's Agency, Norwalk Hospital, Norwalk Head Start Program, Child and Family Guidance Center,
Catholic Charities, Person to Person, CT Coordinated Access Network (Connecticut Coalition to End
Homelessness), Department of Social Services, among many others - all of which we've sent and received
referrals for our families. We've collaborated with these agencies to provide wraparound services to address
mental health, substance use treatment, parenting and financial, and housing and healthcare needs as we
are all serving the same target beneficiaries.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Malta House, Inc.
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) (X)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
N/A

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title

N/A

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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MALTA HOUSE, INC.
FY 2020-2021 Program & Organization Budgets
Program(s): Residential & Partnering Success
PROGRAM BUDGET

Individual Contributions
Special (Major) Events Income
Small (Friendraiser) Events Income
Earned Income
In-Kind Support
Total Income
Expenses
Compensation
Contract Services/Consultants (1099)
Total Personnel Costs
Residential Services
Education/Training/Social Serv.
Occupancy
Partnering Success Program
Direct Program Expenses
Equipment and Software
Office Expenses
Other General & Administrative
Fundraising/Development Expenses
Total Non Personnel Costs
Total Expenses
Excess of Revenue Over Expenses

Total
Project Budget

This
Request

Income Sources

ORGANIZATION BUDGET

$

50,000
50,000

$

50,000
50,000

$

$

-

$

$
$
$

50,000
-

$
$
$

$

138,356
178,750
260,000
43,875
8,580
629,561

479,333
13,130
492,463
16,417
5,908
84,287
25,020
131,632
18,145
14,577
17,161
89,721
139,604
632,067
(2,506)

Total Organizational
Budget

$

$

$

$
$
$

212,855
275,000
400,000
67,500
13,200
968,555

737,436
20,200.00
757,636
16,417
5,908
84,287
25,020
131,632
27,916
22,426
26,401
138,032
214,775
1,104,043
(135,488)
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NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS

Applicant Agency/Organization Name:
The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information:
Jason M. Patlis
jpatlis@maritimeaquarium.org
203-852-0700 x 2212
Type of Organization:
501(c)(3) non-profit organization
Applicant Mailing Address:
10 North Water Street
Norwalk, CT 06854
Project Location Address:
10 N Water Street
Norwalk, CT 06854
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only):
The Maritime Aquarium opened in 1988 as part of a revitalization project of South Norwalk. The
original factory buildings are approximately 100 years + old.
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Jason Patlis
Title: President and CEO
Phone #: 203-852-0700 x2212
Email Address: jpatlis@maritimeaquarium.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name:
Job Retention for Staff
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
The proposal for funding is for retention of staff currently employed by The Maritime Aquarium.
Specifically, it is for retention of core staff who reside in Norwalk, and who primarily are lower and
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moderate income staff for whom their position with The Maritime Aquarium is vital for their economic
stability and well-being.

I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.
Jason Patlis President & CEO 10/23/2020

Name, Title & Signature

Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
The mission of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk is to inspire people of all ages to appreciate and
protect the Long Island Sound ecosystem and the global environment through living exhibits,
marine science, and environmental education. Since opening its doors in 1988, The Maritime
Aquarium has become one of Connecticut’s most iconic landmarks, serving nearly 500,000 guests
of all ages annually. For the past 32 years, The Maritime Aquarium has been instrumental in
spurring the growth of South Norwalk, generating an estimated $51 million for the state of
Connecticut and $30 million for the city of Norwalk (present day value). It continues to serve as an
economic engine for the region, and in showcasing the ecology, culture and history of Long Island
Sound over the years, it holds a unique space in the fabric of the community.
The educational programming of The Maritime Aquarium reaches 80,000 students and children
from toddlers to high school seniors. With programs in the aquarium, in schools throughout the
state, along the shoreline and coastal habitats, and on board the R/V Spirit of the Sound, a floating
classroom and research vessel, the Aquarium reaches students in many different environments to
focus on STEM. Formal and informal education programs are run all year long, including through
summer camps and after-school programs, and virtually.
The research and conservation programs of the Aquarium advance scientific understanding of
habitats, species and ecosystems of Long Island Sound and its watershed, and further actively
work to protect and conserve these resources.
The Aquarium is governed by a 24-person board of trustees. The President & CEO, Jason Patlis,
oversees a staff of 84 full and part-time employees. In addition, nearly 300 volunteers collectively
contribute approximately 28,000 hours in service each a year.
The Aquarium does have experience with Federal grants, and implementing Federally funded
projects in both education and conservation. In particular, the Aquarium’s single largest grant of
approximately $450,000 was a Federal grant awarded by the National Oceanic and Atmospheric
Administration, and implemented over a four-year period just concluded.

2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
At the heart of the Aquarium are our hands-on, living exhibits designed to instill a sense of wonder
in the diversity of nature. Our collection includes some of the most charismatic and ecologically
important animals of Long Island Sound and the global oceans. These include harbor seals, sea
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turtles, sharks, octopus, sturgeon and corals. We are also a leading expert in the cultivation of
jellies, and are undertaking innovative breeding programs for horseshoe crabs and fish.
Anchored by this collection, and because of investments from loyal, generous donors, the
Aquarium can offer an array of education programs widely admired for their depth and innovation.
Traditionally, our programs are offered in the Aquarium's five on-site classrooms, aboard our
research vessel, the R/V Spirit of the Sound, at coastal sites and in schools through our Traveling
Teacher program. More than 40 percent of our programs are provided to schools either free of
charge or at reduced pricing.
Our cradle-to-career approach begins at Maritime Odyssey Preschool, located in Norwalk’s lowestincome neighborhood. There, through a creative partnership with a local education provider and
Grace Baptist Church, more than 200 toddlers and preschoolers engage in innovative marinethemed, STEM-oriented, full-day programs that prepare them for success in kindergarten and
beyond.
At the elementary and middle school levels, the Aquarium provides more than 30 hands-on STEM
programs aligned with Next Generation Science Standards, including science cruises on the R/V
Spirit of the Sound. And for high schoolers, the nationally-recognized TeMPEST Program provides
project-based STEM activities culminating in a paid internship—the first true job for many
participants. Because of past investments from the Hearst Foundations, we were able to expand
our teacher professional development programs substantially, especially on these standards. The
only aquarium member of the national 100Kin10 partnership, the Maritime Aquarium also
provides professional development to hundreds of teachers every year.
Additionally, we are a leader in conservation of Long Island Sound and its watershed through our
numerous research efforts on key species and habitats and policy expertise on key laws and issues.
We inspire multiple generations of visitors to become citizen scientists through our field programs,
and we give them a window to the importance of protecting Long Island Sound through our
exhibits.
3.
A.
B.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
 YES
 NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
 YES
 NO
provide documentation*) ATTACHED
C.
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
 YES
 NO
D.
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
 YES
 NO
ATTACHED
E.
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
 YES
 NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*) N/A
F.
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
 YES
 NO
(Include a copy*) ATTACHED
G.
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
 YES
 NO
H.
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal* N/A
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I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping* N/A

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements ATTACHED

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
The proposal for funding is for retention of staff currently employed by The Maritime Aquarium.
Specifically, it is for retention of core staff who reside in Norwalk, and who primarily are lower and
moderate income staff for whom their position with The Maritime Aquarium is vital for their
economic stability and well-being.
Through this proposal for staff retention, the CDBG-CV funding will enable The Maritime Aquarium
to remain open, and thereby benefit additional staff employed by The Maritime Aquarium,
including part-time and other full-time staff, the majority consisting of lower and moderate
income staff in the state.
By remaining open, The Maritime Aquarium will continue to benefit the larger community through
its public service as an aquarium, and a leading educator in the state. Since opening in June, the
Aquarium has had about 42,000 guests visit from across the state.
The proposal for funding of staff retention addresses multiple aspects of the COVID-19 outbreak.
Most importantly, by retaining staff, especially those with lower and moderate income based in
Norwalk, The Maritime Aquarium will continue to provide a vital economic lifeline to those staff.
Many are the breadwinners of their families, and their income is essential to maintaining their
economic stability and ensuring that they can continue to afford essential staples and services for
their families. This, in turn, provides critical economic stability to Norwalk and the community.
Further, the economic lifeline offered by The Maritime Aquarium through this proposal extends far
beyond the direct beneficiaries, and creates a multiplier effect for everyone else connected to the
Aquarium and benefitting by the Aquarium remaining open.
The proposal for funding provides another critical response to address the COVID-19 outbreak.
Families and local government leaders both want to re-open the economy, but need to do it safely
and with appropriate precautions and protocols to minimize the possibility of spreading the virus.
In opening to the public, The Maritime Aquarium provides both a social venue for families, as well
as an early driver for re-opening the economy. At the same time, the Aquarium is undertaking
many special precautions, practices and requirements among its staff and operations to minimize
the risks to the public.
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2.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
 Public service activity
 Rehabilitation activity
 New construction activity
 Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
 Other (explain) Job Retention

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
 New “core” program
 Expansion of existing “core” program
 Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
 New “support” program
 Expansion of existing “support” program
 Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
 Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

 YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

# 13
 Persons
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How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

12

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

12

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.





8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

Name
Address
Income
Other

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.


Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached:




Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached:

(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.



(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of
which, on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or
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considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached:

PROJECT EXPENSE SPREADSHEET, EMPLOYEE NAMES AND JOB
SUMMARY & FULL JOB DESCRIPTIONS ATTACHED

(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
The Aquarium applied for and was awarded funding through the Paycheck Protection Program in
the amount of $1,068,000 at the beginning of the pandemic. Funding was used to cover staff
salaries during the duration of our closure to the public (March 13, 2020 – June 18th 2020). The
funds we received from this program have been exhausted, we are in the process of completing a
forgiveness application for these funds.
The Aquarium was granted an Economic Injury Disaster Loan (EIDL) in the amount of $150,000. The
funds of this program are budgeted to be exhausted by December 2020. The Aquarium applied for
and was granted an EIDL advance per employee of $1,000 up to a cumulative amount of $10,000
this $10,000 is forgivable funding.
The Aquarium was granted a $10,000 bridge loan from the state of Connecticut.
The Aquarium applied for several grants for virtual education programming, and has been awarded
$5,000 from the Fairfield County Community Foundation; $5,000 from the People’s United Bank.
The Maritime Aquarium has applied for funds through the Department of Economic and
Community Development in September 2020. Negotiations for funding amounts through DECD are
ongoing.
The Aquarium applied for additional funding from Blum Shapiro in the amount of $2,000 to support
distance learning offerings; $25,000 from New Cannon Community Foundation to support core
operational costs from their COVID Response Fund and $10,000 from People’s United Community
Foundation to support distance learning, these requests are pending.
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?
Paycheck Protection Program
Economic Injury Disaster Loan
EIDL Advance
Department of Economic and
Community Development
State of CT Bridge Loan
Fairfield County Community
Foundation
Peoples United Bank

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

$1,068,500
$150,000
$10,000
$3,000,000

$1,068,500
$150,000
$10,000

0
0
0
$1,000,000

0
0
0
$2,000,000

$10,000
$5,000

$10,000
$5,000

0
0

0
0

$5,000

$5,000

0

0
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Blum Shapiro
New Cannan Community Foundation
People's United Community
Foundation

2.

$2,000
$25,000
$10,000

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.
The total cost of the proposed budget is $500,000. This amount will cover salaries for 13 full
time staff members for one full year. All employees are Norwalk Residents. A summary of the
individual salaries and caps on funding allocated per employee can be reviewed in the attached
project expense spreadsheet.

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
The Maritime Aquarium's full Board reviews and approves the annual budget. The Finance
Committee, the Audit and Risk Committee and the Investment Subcommittee of the Board
maintains oversight throughout the year.
The Aquarium has a very strong Fiscal Management structure. The accounting system used is
SAGE. The fiscal department is responsible for accurately recording accounting transactions such as
payroll, accounts payable and cash receipts. The key aspect to the internal control process is
separation of duties, account reconciliations, approvals and reporting.
Financial reporting:
At the end of each month, the Statement of Activities, Statement of Condition and a Statement of
Cash flow is compiled, and reviewed by Senior Management. These reports are presented to the
Finance committee of the Board of Directors for discussion.
Accounts payable cycle:
Starts with the Purchase order written up by the requesting department, it is then sent up to the
COO for approval. Once approved the order is placed. When the invoice is received it is matched to
the PO, the department signs off on the invoice and the Accounts payable enters the invoice into
the accounts payable module of the general ledger.
At the weekly meeting the accounts payable manager, director of finance and the COO reviews the
accounts payable aging report to select invoices for payment.
Audit requirements:
The Aquarium is required to have an independent audit performed on an annual basis. An outside
CPA firm conducts the audit and utilizes current generally accepted audit procedures. The
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CDBG-CV Application

objective of the audit is the expression of an opinion whether our financial statements are fairly
stated, and is in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
The Aquarium has received clean opinions over the years and remains a low-risk auditee.
Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget (example:
additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on long- term plans for
funding/sustaining the proposed project.
The proposal will profoundly affect the administrative budget of The Maritime Aquarium -- for the
better. By supporting the retention of staff, the funding will allow the Aquarium to remain open,
and continue to operate for the immediate and near-term future.
This in turn will allow the Aquarium to focus on long-term plans for sustainability. The Aquarium
has launched a $3.5 million COVID-19 response fundraising campaign, Our Fight for the Future. We
have already raised $1 million towards this goal. With a new focus on building a larger donor pool,
and new opportunities for donors, such as many naming opportunities, the Aquarium is optimistic
that these fundraising goals will be met.
Beyond this fundraising goal, long-term plans for sustainability involve the major capital
construction currently underway. Specifically, there is a $40 million investment made by the State
of Connecticut towards a ‘functional replacement’ of key assets impacted by the Walk Bridge
Project, which include a state-of-the-art 4D theater, and a new habitat for harbor seals. The
theater is planned to open in January 2021, and the seal pool in April 2021. The Aquarium is
planning a series of events and activities for these two new assets, which is expected to
significantly boost visitation and earned revenues.

4. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
Please see the attached project expense spreadsheet which includes a timeline.
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PART 4.

CDBG-CV Application

FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
The Aquarium applied for and was awarded funding through the Paycheck Protection Program in
the amount of $1,068,000 at the beginning of the pandemic. Funding was used to cover staff
salaries during the duration of our closure to the public (March 13, 2020 – June 18th 2020). The
funds we received from this program have been exhausted, we are in the process of completing a
forgiveness application for these funds.
The Aquarium applied for and was granted an Economic Injury Disaster Loan (EIDL) in the amount
of $150,000. The funds of this program are budgeted to be exhausted by December 2020.
The Aquarium applied for and was granted an EIDL advance per employee of $1,000 up to a
cumulative amount of $10,000 this $10,000 is forgivable funding.
2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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PART 5.

CDBG-CV Application

ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
13
Full-Time Staff
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: The Maritime Aquarium Board of Trustees
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
Anne M. Berlack
Neil W. Beup
Rebecca Brown
William Burnham -Vice Chair
Lee Caney
EmmaKate DiNardo
Clayton Fowler - Vice Chair
Ann Gilmartin - Junior League Representative
Doug Grabe
Melissa Joan Hart
Richard Hokin - Treasurer
Judith G. Hyers
Kathryn P. Bowler Mitchell
Earl Mix
Timothy Pettee
Michael Reilly - Norwalk Seaport Association Representative
The Hon. Harry Rilling - Mayor, City of Norwalk
Robert L. Rohn - Assistant Treasurer
Felix R. Serrano - Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Representative
Aline Sullivan
Audrey Weil - Chair
Michael Widland - Secretary
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 22

Vacancies? 0

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 8
c. How are the board members chosen? Recommendations for trustees are made by the nominating
and governance committee to the full board and passed by majority vote of present trustees as noted
in article 4 section 7 of the attached Board of Trustees By-Laws document.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation?
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CDBG-CV Application

If so, how often is training provided?
Orientation is provided to all incoming Trustees. Training is provided on an ad hoc
basis.
e. How long is a term? 3 years How many consecutive terms may be served? 2 years
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
yes
no
If yes, please explain.

2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
No other institutions in the City of Norwalk provide similar services to those of The Maritime
Aquarium.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
The Maritime Aquarium’s unique business operations employee an array of specialty positions such
as animal care, environmental education and conservation field work. There are no other
organizations in the City of Norwalk providing the same educational experience through visitor
interactions on Long Island Sound and the oceans beyond.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME:
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) ( The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, INC.)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
NONE

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
NONE

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk
Cares Act CDBG-CV Round 3 Funding Application Supporting Documents.
The following documents are included as attachments to further document information as
requested in specific sections listed on the Cares Act CDBG – CV R3 application.
1. IRS Code 501(c)(3) documentation to support:
• Section 1, Section 3B.
2. Equal Opportunity Employment Statement to support:
• Section 1, Section 3D.
3. Procurement Policy to support:
• Section 1, Section 3F.
4. FY2020 Audited Financial Statements to support:
• Section 1 Section 3J.
5. Employee Names and Job Summary to support:
• Part 5, Section 1
6. Full Job Descriptions to support:
• Part 2, Section 9
• Part 5, Section 1
7. Maritime Aquarium Board of Trustees By-Laws to support:
• Part 5, Section 2
8. Paycheck Protection Program Documentation to support:
• Part 3, Section 1
9. Economic Injury Disaster Loan Documentation to support:
• Part 3, Section 1
10. Fairfield County Community Foundation Funding Documentation to support:
• Part 3, Section 1
11. Confidential Project Expense Spreadsheet for Application (separate file) to support:
• Part 2, Section 9
• Part 3, Section 2
• Part 3, Section 5
12. Confidential Supplemental Excel Spreadsheets (separate files):
• Confidential Supplemental Spreadsheet of All Norwalk FT & PT Employees

•

Confidential Supplemental Spreadsheet of All Low to Moderate Income
Employees

EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYMENT
The Maritime Aquarium (TMA) is committed to equal employment opportunity and equal
treatment for all employees and applicants for employment based on individual merit. The
organization will not discriminate against employees or applicants for employment on any legallyrecognized basis including, but not limited to: race, age, color, religion, gender, gender identity or
expression, creed, marital status, sexual orientation, genetic information, national origin, ancestry,
physical or mental handicap or disability, amnesty or status as a covered veteran in accordance
with applicable federal, state and local laws.
TMA complies with applicable state and local laws governing non-discrimination in employment
in every location in which the organization has facilities. This policy applies to all terms,
conditions and privileges of employment, including, but not limited to, hiring, placement,
promotion, departmental transfer, leaves of absence, termination, layoff, recall, compensation,
opportunities for career advancement and training, all of which are based on individual
qualifications and job performance.
The responsibility for carrying out an equal opportunity effort rests with every employee. Each
director, manager and supervisor must ensure that the workplace is free from discriminatory
practices, including sexual harassment, and that employees are familiar with discriminatory
complaint procedures. Follow-up is essential to guarantee that no form of reprisal is directed
toward any complainant, and that those accused are judged fairly. Management performance will
be evaluated in terms of these as well as other major goals.
Racism, discriminatory practices and sexual harassment will not be tolerated. Each staff member
is expected to uphold the basic tenets of equality, dignity and respect for each person with whom
they are in contact. The Maritime Aquarium is committed to achieving equal opportunity for all
employees and applicants.
TMA expressly prohibits any form of unlawful employee harassment based on race, age, color,
religion, gender, gender identity or expression, creed, marital status, sexual orientation, genetic
information, national origin, ancestry, physical or mental handicap or disability, amnesty or
status as a covered veteran in accordance with applicable federal, state and local laws status.
Improper interferences with the ability of TMA employees to perform their expected job duties
will not be tolerated. See Non-Harassment Policy and Pregnancy Discrimination Policy

Employees may discuss equal employment opportunity-related questions with the Associate
Director of Human Resources or the President and CEO.

PURCHASING POLICY
It is the policy of The Maritime Aquarium to provide for an orderly and efficient
purchasing process. The purchasing process includes the activities of initiating requests
for materials, equipment, supplies, or services; obtaining information concerning
available and approved suppliers and prices; placing orders or negotiating contracts;
receiving and inspecting or otherwise accepting the goods or services; determining and
accounting for the proper amounts due to suppliers; and processing all payments in a
controlled and efficient manner.
Objectives:
To describe the purchasing process that shall be utilized for the purchase of all goods and
services within Maritime Aquarium. To achieve value and quality in both the execution
of the purchasing process itself and in the goods and services that are purchased.
PURCHASING PHILOSOPHY
A. Directors and/or designated staff have the authority to make purchases and is
considered to be a purchasing professional possessing the judgment, skill,
experience, maturity and personal integrity to make sound purchasing decisions
on behalf of Aquarium.
B. The Aquarium policy is to empower its staff to exercise these qualities to the
maximum extent possible consistent with reasonable internal controls.
C. The purchasing professional who makes a purchase commitment on behalf of
Maritime Aquarium:
1. Has the authority to make purchasing decisions.
2. Should consult appropriately wherever possible on purchasing decisions.
3. Determines whether special advice or counsel is needed from the President,
Controller, or Other senior staff Director, Insurance, Legal, Risk Management, or
other functional specialists.
4. Is accountable for justifying the supplier selection or other purchasing decision.
REQUISITIONING
A. A Purchase Order Requisition is a document, the following is minimal to be
included:
1. Quantity requested
2. Valid accounting charge numbers
3. Descriptive information, including technical specifications as appropriate
4. Required delivery date
5. Estimated or "not to exceed cost"
6. Proper approval, as required
B. Requisitioning Procedures
1. The requisition requires the signature of a Director, unless that authority has
been delegated to that staff person by a director with the knowledge and approval
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PURCHASING POLICY
of the President.
2. Any change Purchase Orders will require additional approval.
SUPPLIER QUALIFICATION PROCESS
A. Suppliers
1. The Director in conjunction with the Managers will ensure that all suppliers
will be qualified commensurate with risk prior to award of contract.
2. Potential suppliers must demonstrate the ability to meet TMA required
specifications, volumes, quality and delivery requirements prior to approval.
3. If a supplier is found to be deficient, corrective actions are required.
B. Contractors
1. The Director in conjunction with the Managers will ensure that all contractors
are qualified, prior to award of contract.
2. All contractors must be approved by a Director prior to award of contract.
3. All contractors will be required to meet the necessary skill requirements and
have appropriate resources for the job to be performed prior to approval.
4. Contractor health and safety records and past work performance should be
reviewed prior to approval.
5. All required certifications must be provided to TMA prior to approval.
6. Commensurate with risk, personnel contracted for work in key positions may
be interviewed prior to approval.
7. Performance of contractors relative to environmental, health, and safety will be
monitored.
SELECTING THE SUPPLIER
A. Competitive Bidding
1. It is TMA's policy to select suppliers who can provide the best combination of
value and service to the Aquarium. The normal method of selecting suppliers is
by the use of competitive bidding and/or competitive negotiations. Award of
purchase contracts by negotiation as well as by competitive bidding are both
recognized as effective techniques for securing the best value in purchasing goods
and services.
2. TMA will decide, based on the circumstances of each individual transaction,
how many prospective suppliers to include in the bidding process.
3. For purchases with an order value of $70,000 or more, TMA must obtain
competitive quotations or be able to justify to the reasonable satisfaction of the
Director and President why the competitive bidding process was waived. For
purchases less than $70,000, TMA will use judgment whether to pursue
competitive bidding to achieve the objective of obtaining the best value.
4. Written bids should be the normal means for acquiring supplier proposals.
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5. TMA reserves the right to reject all bids and request re-quotes if it is in the
Aquarium's best interest to do so. TMA may disqualify certain suppliers because
of quality of design, illogical price quotation, not being responsive to the request
for quotation, or for other similar reasons.
6. TMA reserves the right to inform unsuccessful bidders of the terms of the
successful bid after the contract has been awarded. However, TMA is under no
obligation to give out information concerning the terms or conditions of the
successful bid and will not do so without a reason.
B. Bid Evaluation and Supplier Selection
1. TMA is responsible for professionally evaluating supplier proposals and
determining which supplier provides the best value to TMA. In performing this
evaluation, TMA assembles an evaluation team, as appropriate, to participate in
the supplier selection decision. However, the Director is accountable for justifying
the supplier selection decision to the reasonable satisfaction of the President.
2. When competitive bidding is not used in the supplier selection process for
purchases having a total value greater than $70,000, the Director is accountable
for justifying the supplier selection decision to the reasonable satisfaction of the
President. The Director's justification for waiving the competitive bidding process
would include a formal written reason. Possible reasons for sole sourcing include:






Sole source or proprietary items - Director may be requested to
write a justification memo.
Recent competitive bids - Director must be prepared to identify
and provide the files of the related purchase(s).
Emergency purchase - Director may be required to write a
justification memo.
Original equipment manufacturer - replacement part or
component.
Only authorized distributor in a geographic area.

CONTRACTING WITH SUPPLIERS
A. Safeguarding and Numbering of Documents
1. All executed purchasing agreements must be safeguarded in the purchasing
files.
2. Each purchase order or contract document will have a unique number.
B. Service Contracts
1. Prior to the commencement of any work, on TMA property, TMA and the
Contractor must have a signed the contract document.
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
June 30, 2020
I.

Financial Statements

II. Reports in Accordance with
Government Auditing Standards
III. Reports in Accordance with
State Single Audit Act

I. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Trustees
The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.

Report on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. which
comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2020, and the related statements of activities and
changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year then ended, and the related notes to the financial
statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted
our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk,
Inc.’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An
audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
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Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly in all material respects, the financial
position of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. as of June 30, 2020, and the changes in its net assets
and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.
Report on Summarized Comparative Information
We have previously audited The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s 2019 financial statements, and in
our report dated December 19, 2019 we expressed an unmodified audit opinion on those audited financial
statements. In our opinion, the summarized comparative information presented herein as of and for the
year ended June 30, 2019, is consistent, in all material respects, with the audited financial statements from
which it has been derived.
Other Matters
Other Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The schedule of expenditures of state financial assistance, as required by the State Single Audit Act, are
presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial statements. Such
information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the
underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has
been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain
additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying
accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in
the United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in
relation to the financial statements as a whole.
Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards
In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated September 23,
2020 on our consideration of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control over financial
reporting and on our tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and
grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and the results of that testing, and not
to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control
over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk,
Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Hartford, Connecticut
September 23, 2020
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Statements of Financial Position
June 30, 2020 and 2019
2020

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and grants receivable, net
Promises to give, net
Investments
Aquarium facilities:
R/V Spirit of the Sound, net
Furniture, equipment, leasehold improvements,
and exhibits, net
Construction in progress
Prepaids and other assets

$

Total Assets

461,700
1,218,941
21,442
2,130,719

2019

$

553,580
1,313,324
448,981
30,000
2,239,261

2,263,800

2,445,284

8,786,578
6,011,523
91,745

9,966,463
5,649,842
123,577

$ 20,986,448

$ 22,770,312

$

$

Liabilities and Net Assets
Liabilities
Line of credit
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Refundable advance - Paycheck Protection Program
Advance from the Maritime Aquarium Authority
Payable to escrow agent
Total liabilities
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions
Total net assets
Total Liabilities and Net Assets

750,000
315,878
633,217
1,068,500
212,418
141,430
3,121,443

15,204,851
2,660,154
17,865,005

17,499,523
2,857,045
20,356,568

$ 20,986,448

$ 22,770,312

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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100,000
1,304,989
654,907
212,418
141,430
2,413,744

THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Statement of Activities and Changes in Net Assets
For the year ended June 30, 2020
(with summarized comparative totals for the year ended June 30, 2019)

Support and revenue
Admissions
Gift shop, net
Events
Contributions
Walk bridge
State grants
Membership
Education
Food service and catering
Community services
R/V Spirit of the Sound
Facility rental
Miscellaneous

$

Net assets released from restrictions
Total support and revenue
Expenses
Administrative
Physical plant
Education
Animal husbandry
Admissions
Fundraising
Exhibits
IMAX film
Community services
Membership
R/V Spirit of the Sound
Research and conservation
Total expenses
Change in net assets before
non-operating revenues
Non-operating revenues
Interest income
Unrealized gains
Total non-operating revenues
Change in net assets
Net assets, beginning of year
Net assets, end of year

2020
With Donor
Restrictions

Without Donor
Restrictions
3,691,294
207,713
294,229
373,115
640,000
303,705
982,611
388,860
113,785
134,205
111,621
46,630
85,051
7,372,819
906,383
8,279,202

$

2,367,444
3,954,648
853,637
1,240,760
692,524
304,327
337,804
301,033
187,499
79,202
147,816
180,986
10,647,680

-

(2,368,478)

Total
$

3,691,294
207,713
294,229
1,082,607
640,000
303,705
982,611
388,860
113,785
134,205
111,621
46,630
85,051
8,082,311
8,082,311

$

3,604,760

26,199
47,607
73,806

66,306
67,460
133,766

(2,491,563)

3,738,526

2,857,045

20,356,568

16,618,042

2,660,154

$ 17,865,005

$ 20,356,568

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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5,829,188
385,328
581,505
1,713,228
4,933,187
303,705
1,344,247
511,566
173,468
254,481
171,169
69,489
44,798
16,315,359
16,315,359

(2,565,369)

(196,891)

17,499,523

$

3,143,754
4,154,563
1,116,222
1,231,862
879,215
581,532
402,109
454,716
312,484
84,722
169,139
180,281
12,710,599

-

(2,294,672)

Total

2,367,444
3,954,648
853,637
1,240,760
692,524
304,327
337,804
301,033
187,499
79,202
147,816
180,986
10,647,680

(196,891)

26,199
47,607
73,806

$ 15,204,851

709,492
709,492
(906,383)
(196,891)

2019

THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Statements of Cash Flows
For the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019
Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Change in net assets
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net
change in cash from operating activities:
Depreciation
Unrealized gains on investments
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts and grants receivable
Promises to give
Prepaids and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses and other liabilities
Refundable advance - Payroll Protection Program
Net change in cash from operating activities

2020
$

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Purchase of aquarium facilities
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Net change in cash from investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Net borrowings/(repayments) under line of credit
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

2019

(2,491,563)

$

1,749,486
(47,607)

1,683,862
(67,460)

427,539
30,000
31,832
(989,111)
(21,690)
1,068,500
(242,614)

(194,212)
10,000
(64,544)
(1,343,836)
50,504
3,812,840

(749,798)
186,565
(30,416)
(593,649)

(1,810,394)
(2,829)
(1,813,223)

650,000

(2,546,881)

(186,263)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

(547,264)

1,866,904

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

$

Supplemental cash flow information:
Non-cash investing activities
Construction in progress funded by accounts payable

$

Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash and cash equivalents
Total cash and cash equivalents

$
$

1,680,641

-

461,700
1,218,941
1,680,641

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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3,738,526

2,414,168
$

1,866,904

$

459,136

$

553,580
1,313,324
1,866,904

$

THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Notes to the Financial Statements
June 30, 2020 and 2019
NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Nature of Activities - The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. (the “Aquarium”) is a 501(c)(3) not-forprofit institution holding prestigious accreditation by the Association of Zoos & Aquariums. The
corporation was organized to build and operate a Maritime Aquarium (the Aquarium and IMAX Theater)
designed to inspire people of all ages to appreciate and protect the Long Island Sound ecosystem and the
global environment. A vibrant and entertaining learning environment, it achieves this goal through living
exhibits, marine science, and environmental education.
Approximately 500,000 guests visit the Aquarium every year. They enjoy personal interactions with
animals and interpretation by knowledgeable staff and dedicated volunteers, who contribute more than
25,000 work hours each year. Educational Programs are the centerpiece of the Aquarium, with more than
35 programs that nearly 80,000 students participate in annually.
In addition to its stated mission of environmental education, the Aquarium was also created to anchor the
revitalization of the City of Norwalk’s waterfront South Norwalk neighborhood, having an economic
impact of more than $25 million annually for the City of Norwalk and $42 million for the State of
Connecticut through visitor and Aquarium spending (staff and operations) as assessed in a feasibility
study in 2008.
Basis of Presentation - The accompanying financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of
accounting, in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
Summarized Comparative Financial Information - The financial statements include certain prior-year
summarized comparative information in total but not by net asset class. Such information does not
include sufficient detail to constitute a presentation in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. Accordingly, such information should be read in conjunction
with the Aquarium’s financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2019, from which the summarized
information is derived.
Financial Statement Presentation - The financial statements of the Aquarium comply with the Financial
Statements of Not-for-Profit Organizations topic of the FASB Codification. Under this topic, the
Aquarium reports information regarding its financial position and activities according to the following net
asset classifications:
Net assets without donor restrictions - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions
and may be expended for any purpose in performing the primary objectives of the Aquarium.
These net assets may be used at the discretion of the Aquarium's management and the Board of
Directors.
Net assets with donor restrictions - Net assets subject to stipulations imposed by donors and
grantors. Some donor restrictions are temporary in nature; those restrictions will be met by
actions of the Aquarium or by the passage of time. Other donor restrictions are perpetual in
nature, whereby the donor has stipulated the funds be maintained in perpetuity.

6

NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
New Accounting Pronouncement - During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Aquarium adopted
Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606),
which provides a single comprehensive model for revenue recognition. The new guidance's core principle is
that an organization will recognize revenue when it transfers control over promised goods or services in an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the organization expects to be entitled in exchange for those
goods or services. The Aquarium evaluated each revenue stream and applied ASU 2014-09. As a result of
this change in accounting guidance, the Aquarium updated its revenue recognition policies and disclosures.
ASU 2014-09 did not impact the amount of revenue recognized in previous periods, and, accordingly, there
was no impact to the Aquarium's opening net asset balances upon adoption. The Aquarium does not expect
the impact of the adoption of the new standard to be material to the results of operations on an ongoing
basis.
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Aquarium has adopted ASU No. 2016-18, Statement of Cash
Flows (Topic 230): Restricted Cash. The update addresses the classification and presentation of changes in
restricted cash on the statements of cash flows. A key change required by ASU No. 2016-18 is that
restricted cash controlled by the Aquarium is now included in the statements of cash flows.
During the year ended June 30, 2020, the Aquarium has adopted Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No.
2018-08, Not-for-Profit Entities: Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions
Received and Contributions Made (Subtopic 958-605) The amendments in this update provide a more
robust framework to determine when a transaction should be accounted for as a contribution or as an
exchange transaction accounted for under other guidance (for example, Topic 606). The amendments also
provide additional guidance about how to determine whether a contribution is conditional. Analysis of
various provisions of this standard resulted in no significant changes in the way the Aquarium recognizes
contributions, and therefore no changes to the previously issued audited financial statements were required
on a retrospective basis.
Concentrations of Credit Risk - The Aquarium maintains its cash in bank deposit accounts that, at times,
may exceed federally insured limits. The Aquarium has not experienced any losses in its cash accounts and
believes it is not exposed to significant credit risk.
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial statements. Estimates also affect the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents - For purposes of the statements of cash flows, the Aquarium considers
investments in highly liquid financial instruments with a maturity at time of purchase of three months or
less to be cash equivalents.
The Aquarium holds funds in financial institutions which are restricted as to use due to donor imposed
restrictions. Restricted cash amounted to $1,218,941 and $1,313,324 at June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.
Accounts and Grants Receivable - Accounts receivable represent customer obligations due under normal
trade terms requiring payment within an agreed upon term from the invoice date. The carrying amount is
reduced by a valuation allowance that reflects management’s best estimate of the amounts that will not be
collected. Management individually reviews all accounts receivable balances and based on a current
assessment of creditworthiness, estimates the portion, if any, of the balance that will not be collected. The
allowance for doubtful accounts as of June 30, 2020 and 2019 was $-0- and $10,000, respectively.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Investments and Income Recognition - The Aquarium’s investments are reported in the financial
statements at fair value. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses, as well as dividend income (based on the ex-dividend date) are included in
the statement of activities and changes in net assets.
Fair Value - Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standards Codification
(“ASC”) 820, Fair Value Measurement, provides the framework for measuring fair value. That
framework provides a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3). The
three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:
Level 1:

Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or
liabilities in active markets that the Aquarium has the ability to access.

Level 2:

Inputs to the valuation methodology include:
• Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets;
• Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets;
• Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; and
• Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market
data by correlation or other means.
If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be
observable for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3:

Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value
measurement.

All investments are valued using Level 1 inputs.
Endowment Assets and Investment Policies - The Aquarium complies with Endowments of Not-for-Profit
Organizations: Net Asset Classification of Funds Subject to an Enacted Version of the Uniform Prudent
Management of Institutional Funds Act, and Enhanced Disclosures for All Endowment Funds topic of the
FASB Codification. This topic provides guidance on the net asset classification of donor-restricted
endowment funds for not-for-profit organizations that is subject to the Uniform Prudent Management of
Institutional Funds Act of 2006 (“UPMIFA”).
The Board of Trustees of the Aquarium has adopted a spending policy for investment returns from the
endowments to be utilized to support the annual operating activities of the Aquarium. The spending
policy is based on 5% of the previous twelve quarter average market value of the investments.
Aquarium Facilities - Aquarium facilities are capitalized at cost at the date of acquisition, or in the case of
gifts, at fair value at the date of donation. Depreciation is provided on the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from 5 to 39.5 years. Maintenance and repairs are
charged to expense as incurred. Upon disposal of depreciable property, the appropriate property accounts
are reduced by the related costs and accumulated depreciation.
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NOTE 1 – ORGANIZATION AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Revenue Recognition Policy – The Aquarium has multiple revenue streams that are accounted for as
reciprocal exchange transactions including memberships, general admission, and other general support
(facility rental, food service, education, community services, Spirit of the Sound, research, etc.).
Program revenue is recorded when earned with the exception of membership revenue which is
recorded when sold.
All contributions, including unconditional promises to give, are considered to be available for
unrestricted use unless specifically restricted by the donor. Conditional promises to give – that is, those
with a measurable performance or other barrier and a right of return – are not recognized until the
conditions on which they depend have been met. Contributions and sponsorships received that are
designated for future periods or restricted by the donor for specific purposes are reported as support
within the net asset class of those with donor restrictions. When a donor restriction expires, that is,
when a stipulated time restriction ends or purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions assets and reported in the statements
of activities as net assets released from restrictions. However, if a restriction is fulfilled in the same
time period in which the contribution is received, the support is reported in the net assets without donor
restrictions category.
Grants may be considered an exchange transaction or a conditional/unconditional promise to give. The
Aquarium recognizes grants deemed to be an exchange transaction once the performance obligation is
met. Grants considered to be unconditional promises to give are recognized when awarded. Grants
considered to be conditional promises to give are recognized when the condition is met. Failure to
fulfill the conditions could result in the return of funds to the grantor. The Aquarium has not been
informed by any agencies of any funds which are required to be returned.
Membership – Performance obligations include interactions with animals and learning about the
ecosystem. These services are provided over the term of the membership period and accordingly member
dues revenue is recognized over that time period, which is generally one year. Amounts received in
advance of a given membership period for member dues are recorded as deferred revenue when received
and recognized as revenue over the course of the applicable membership period. Membership dues are
refundable in the event of a membership cancellation. The Association has determined a refund liability is
not necessary as of June 30, 2020 and 2019.
Advertising Costs - Advertising costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs amounted to $608,399
and $1,002,278 for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
Contributed Services - In developing and operating the Aquarium, unpaid services have been provided by
various organizations and a significant number of unpaid volunteers. The value of such contributed time
and services is not reflected in these financial statements because the criteria for recognition are not met.
Income Taxes - The Aquarium is a not-for-profit organization exempt from income taxes pursuant to
section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, the Aquarium has been determined to not be
a private foundation under the Internal Revenue Code. No provision for income taxes is made in the
financial statements.

Functional Allocation of Expenses - The financial statements report certain categories of expenses that
are attributable to one or more program function of the Aquarium. All expenses are allocated by time and
effort with the exception of depreciation and which is allocated by square footage.
Subsequent Events - The Aquarium has evaluated the impact of subsequent events from June 30, 2020
through September 23, 2020, the date at which the financial statements were available to be issued, and
has determined no events requiring recognition or disclosure in the financial statements were identified.
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NOTE 2 – AVAILABILITY AND LIQUIDITY
The following represents the Aquarium’s financial assets available to meet general expenditures over the
next twelve months at June 30:
2019

2020

Financial assets at year end:
Cash and cash equivalents
Accounts and grants receivable, net
Promises to give, net
Investments
Total financial assets

$

Less: amounts not available to be used within one year
Promises to give due greater than one year
Net assets with donor restrictions - held in perpetuity

$

461,700
21,442
2,130,719
2,613,861
(1,775,250)
(1,775,250)

Financial assets available to meet general expenditures
over the next twelve months

$

553,580
448,981
30,000
2,239,261
3,271,822
(20,000)
(1,775,250)
(1,795,250)

838,611

$

1,476,572

During the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Aquarium maintained sufficient financial assets to meet
60 days of operating expenses. The Aquarium also has a line of credit amounting to $750,000 which it could
draw upon in the event of an unanticipated liquidity need.
NOTE 3 – PROMISES TO GIVE
Promises to give, are recorded at fair value at the time of receipt. Promises to give at June 30, 2019 was
$30,000, which consisted of a five year pledge in which $10,000 was received annually. The outstanding
balance was written off as of June 30, 2020.
NOTE 4 – INVESTMENTS

Investments consist of the following at June 30:
2020

Mutual funds:
Intermediate-Term Bond
Short-Term Bond
Large Blend Equity
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2019

$

229,217
595,874
1,305,628

$

207,632
614,695
1,416,934

$

2,130,719

$

2,239,261

NOTE 5 – AQUARIUM FACILITIES
A summary of Aquarium facilities is as follows at June 30:
2019

2020
Furniture and office equipment
Computers
Leasehold improvements
R/V Spirit of the Sound and vehicles
Exhibit fixed assets
Building improvements
Food service equipment
Construction in progress

$

Less: Accumulated depreciation

2,598,187
1,459,292
8,562,435
3,327,639
4,060,232
9,257,296
382,633
6,011,527
35,659,241
(18,597,340)

$ 17,061,901

$

2,598,187
1,420,798
8,246,384
3,327,639
4,026,664
9,257,296
382,633
5,649,842
34,909,443
(16,847,854)

$ 18,061,589

R/V Spirit of the Sound
The Aquarium’s 64-foot catamaran, R/V Spirit of the Sound, is the first research vessel in the country to
run on hybrid-electric propulsion. The vessel is a floating classroom that can accommodate up to 60
students in a climate-controlled indoor classroom and large outdoor research space. The vessel is being
depreciated over 15 years. Depreciation expense for each of the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 was
$181,484.
NOTE 6 – LINE OF CREDIT
The Aquarium maintains a line of credit with a commercial bank amounting to $750,000 as of June 30,
2020 and 2019. The line of credit carried interest rates of 3.25% at June 30, 2020 and 2019. The term of
the line of credit is on demand, with annual internal review of the Aquarium’s financial condition by the
financial institution. As of June 30, 2020 and 2019, $750,000 and $100,000 was outstanding on the line of
credit, respectively.

NOTE 7 – REFUNDABLE ADVANCE – PAYROLL PROTECTION PROGRAM LOAN
During April 2020, the Aquarium received approval for a Small Business Administration (“SBA”)
Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”) loan in the amount of $1,068,500. Under the PPP, funds are
forgivable if utilized for qualified expenditures according to the program criteria incurred over a period of
eight to twenty four weeks following the date of funding. In order to qualify for forgiveness, the funding
must be spent on eligible payroll expenses, and up to 40% may be spent on other eligible expenditures,
such as rent and utilities. As outlined by the SBA, any unforgiven balance must be repaid over two years
at an annual interest rate of 1% with an initial deferment period of six months from disbursement date of
loan (interest will accrue). Details of eligible forgivable expenses are fluid, and final guidance has not yet
been determined by the SBA. The Aquarium has recorded this loan as a refundable advance as of June 30,
2020. The Aquarium intends to submit an application to receive forgiveness on the loan subsequent to
year end.
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NOTE 8 – WALK BRIDGE
In March of 2015, the Aquarium was notified that the State of Connecticut would be replacing the Walk
Bridge that passes through the Aquarium between the main building and the IMAX Theater. It has been
estimated that the Walk Bridge replacement project could take up to 5 years to complete once started.
Further, it has been determined that the project can have significant negative impacts on the Aquarium
by, among other things, the probable taking of various material parts of the Aquarium facility, the
requiring of the safe relocation and protection of animals, and the redesign and relocation of numerous
educational exhibits, programs and facilities of the Aquarium. The Walk Bridge replacement project and
its related construction can also have a detrimental impact on the overall visitor access and experience as
well as create ongoing operational and financial challenges for the Aquarium during the term of the
project. Recognizing that the Walk Bridge project could have a significant impact on the Aquarium’s
business, Management of the Aquarium launched a comprehensive study, including hiring outside
consultants, to understand the potential physical and economic disruptions the Walk Bridge could create
and explore possible mitigation actions to ensure the Aquarium’s future economic viability.
The State of Connecticut’s Department of Transportation (“DOT”) entered into an Administrative
Settlement Agreement (the “Agreement”) with the City of Norwalk (the “City”) on June 27, 2018, based
on functional replacement of certain assets and exhibits at the Aquarium as identified in the Agreement.
The Agreement contemplated that the Aquarium would be responsible for managing the functional
replacement program. In accordance with that Agreement an initial payment of $10,365,718, which
represented 30% of the established conceptual design estimate for the functional replacement elements
was distributed by the DOT directly to the Maritime Aquarium on July 18, 2018.
Subsequent to the initial deposit noted above, it was determined that the City would be a more effective
manager of the functional replacement program. After a thorough review and approval by the DOT of all
expenditures made from the initial payment from the DOT amounting to $4,933,187, the Aquarium
transferred on March 20, 2019 the remaining balance of $5,432,531 to the City, effectively transferring
management responsibilities of the functional replacement program from the Aquarium to the City.
During the year ended June 30, 2019, the Aquarium incurred costs that were reimbursed by the DOT of
$1,286,694 attributable to the research, design, negotiations, and construction costs surrounding the
mitigation steps and projects required to maintain the safety and well being of its animals, preserve the
efficacy of its educational exhibits, and programs, and ensure the high quality of its visitor experience.
NOTE 9 – CITY OF NORWALK AND MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK AUTHORITY
Amended and Restated Lease
In December 2014, the Aquarium, as Tenant, and the City of Norwalk, Connecticut (the “City”) and the
Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk Authority (the “Authority” and together with the City, collectively, the
“Landlord”), entered into an Amended and Restated Lease (the “Lease”). The Lease amends and restates
in its entirety previous leases between the Aquarium and the Authority under which the Aquarium
developed and operated the aquarium facility in South Norwalk, Connecticut (collectively, the “Original
Leases”). Pursuant to the Lease, all provisions of the Original Leases are no longer applicable, including
without limitation, the prior requirement to deposit certain operating funds into an escrow account with
the City and to maintain funds separately in a capital reserve account subject to Authority oversight.
The term of the Amended and Restated Lease expires on July 29, 2031 and annual rent payable to the
Landlord is $1.
At June 30, 2020 and 2019, $141,430 was payable to the previous Escrow Agent under the terms of the
Original Leases.
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NOTE 9 – CITY OF NORWALK AND MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK AUTHORITY (CONTINUED)
Authority Advances
During 1988 and 1989, the Authority advanced funds to the Aquarium to pay certain pre-operating
expenditures of the Aquarium for items such as gift shop inventory and prepaid insurance policies. At
June 30, 2020 and 2019, the balance of these advances made during the term of the Original Leases was
$212,418.
NOTE 10 – NET ASSETS WITH DONOR RESTRICTIONS
Net assets with donor restrictions are as follows at June 30:
Time and purpose restrictions:
Education
Capital campaign and reserve, net
Exhibits
Research and conservation
Other purposes

2020
$

Held in perpetuity:
Endowment from which the income is
expendable for educational purposes

543,080
283,570
58,244
10
884,904

2019
$

1,775,250

Total net assets with donor restrictions

$

2,660,154

546,731
427,482
30,000
76,756
826
1,081,795

1,775,250
$

2,857,045

Net assets were released from donor restrictions when expenses were incurred to satisfy the restricted
purposes specified by donors as follows for the years ended June 30:
Education
Capital campaign and reserve, net
Exhibits
Research and conservation
Other purposes

$

$

2020
202,560
390,838
30,000
42,448
240,537
906,383

$

$

2019
420,297
783,750
10,000
34,854
37,416
1,286,317

NOTE 11 – RETIREMENT PLAN
The Aquarium has a defined contribution pension plan that covers all eligible employees. Contributions
are based on a percentage of eligible employees’ salaries. This percentage, which ranges from 3 to 5
percent, is determined by years of completed service. Total pension expense was $129,420 and $140,133
for the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
NOTE 12 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The Aquarium has board members that are employees of the Aquarium’s outside law firm. The Aquarium
incurred costs of $-0- and $87,018 related to the law firm during the years ended June 30, 2020 and 2019,
respectively. A total of $50,000 and $375,618 was due to the law firm and is included in accounts payable
as of June 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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NOTE 13 – ALLOCATION OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES

The functional allocation of expenses was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2020:

Salaries and related expenses
Professional fees
Advertising and promotion
Depreciation
Office
Occupancy
Repairs and maintenace
Travel and meetings
Insurance
Program
Media
Exhibits
Other
Total expenses

$

$

Program
3,836,176
9,874
498,366
1,294,620
240,179
813,251
639,452
10,256
196,901
248,404
158,161
246,106
99,590
8,291,336

Management
and General
$
863,805
82,420
110,004
454,866
67,250
89,824
33,415
53,216
95,570
$
1,850,370

Fundraising
$
303,427
3,312
29
12,810
2,363
15,965
178,068
$
515,974

$

$

Total
5,003,408
95,606
608,399
1,749,486
320,239
813,251
729,276
46,034
266,082
248,404
158,161
246,106
373,228
10,657,680

The functional allocation of expenses was as follows for the year ended June 30, 2019:

Salaries and related expenses
Professional fees
Advertising and promotion
Depreciation
Office
Occupancy
Repairs and maintenace
Travel and meetings
Insurance
Program
Media
Exhibits
Other
Total expenses

$

$

Program
4,291,815
12,227
821,010
1,246,059
244,227
902,708
756,479
13,182
180,998
604,143
259,576
307,146
248,204
9,887,774

Management
and General
$
1,027,052
285,938
181,268
336,772
95,023
106,263
42,947
48,918
129,857
$
2,254,038

Fundraising
$
430,436
4,101
101,031
13,288
3,037
14,676
2,218
$
568,787

$

$

Total
5,749,303
302,266
1,002,278
1,683,862
352,538
902,708
862,742
59,166
244,592
604,143
259,576
307,146
380,279
12,710,599

NOTE 14 – ENDOWMENT
The Aquarium adopted the Not-for-Profit Entities topic of the FASB Accounting Standards Codification,
(FASB ASC 958) which describes the information that needs to be disclosed regarding its endowment
funds. The topic requires certain minimum disclosures that are the description of the Aquarium’s spending
policy, as well as its endowment investment policies. It also requires the following disclosures regarding the
composition of the Aquarium’s endowment by net asset class and a reconciliation of the beginning and
ending balance of the Aquarium’s endowment.
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NOTE 14 – ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED)
The reconciliation of the Aquarium’s endowment by net asset category is as follows:
Endwoment earnings with donor restrictions:
Beginning balance
Ending balance

2020

2019

$ 1,775,250
$ 1,775,250

$ 1,775,250
$ 1,775,250

NOTE 15 – OPERATIONS
Due to COVID-19, the Aquarium has sustained a significant loss of revenue, even as many costs
necessary for care of its living animal collection remain relatively fixed. The Aquarium management
responded quickly to reduce expenses in fiscal year 2020 where possible, primarily in personnel.
Management has further undertaken actions to address reduced revenues in fiscal year 2021, as well as
actions to implement necessary changes in operations to address visitation. In terms of actions relating to
finance, management has continued to reduce expenses and has directed efforts to increase contributions
and identify new sources of earned revenues, such as through virtual and online programming. In terms
of actions relating to operations, management has imposed new restrictions and protocols to allow visitors
consistent with state and federal health recommendations and requirements.

NOTE 16 – RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
as a pandemic. COVID-19 has caused significant disruption in the national and global economy. The
Aquarium’s operating activities, liquidity, and cash flows may be adversely affected by this global
pandemic due to the Aquarium being closed as ordered by a state mandate. While the disruption is currently
expected to be temporary, there is uncertainty related to the duration. Therefore, while the Aquarium
expects this matter to negatively impact the business, the related financial impact cannot be reasonably
estimated at this time.
Beginning in March 2020, there was a steep decline in all investment securities. Due to the level of risk
associated with certain investment securities, it is at least reasonably possible that changes in values of
investment securities will occur in the near-term and that such changes could materially affect investment
securities account balances.
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II. REPORT IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND
OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH
GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS
To the Board of Trustees
The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.
We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards,
issued by the Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of The Maritime
Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc., which comprise the statement of financial position as of June 30, 2020, and
the related statements of activities and changes in net assets, and cash flows for the year ended, and the
related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated September 23, 2020.
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered The Maritime Aquarium
at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the
financial statements, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of The
Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we do not
express an opinion on the effectiveness of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control.
A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow
management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or
detect and correct, misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination
of deficiencies in internal control, such that there a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of
the entity’s financial statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A
significant deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material
weakness, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.
Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this
section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material
weaknesses or significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses
may exist that have not been identified.
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Compliance and Other Matters
As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s
financial statements are free of material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain
provisions of laws, regulations, contracts and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a
direct and material effect on the financial statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with
those provisions was not an objective of our audit, and, accordingly, we do not express such an opinion.
The results of our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be
reported under Government Auditing Standards.
Purpose of This Report
The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance
and result of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of The Maritime Aquarium at
Norwalk, Inc.’s internal control or on compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s
internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not suitable for any other purpose.

Hartford, Connecticut
September 23, 2020
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III. STATE SINGLE AUDIT REPORT

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR STATE PROGRAM
AND REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE
REQUIRED BY THE STATE SINGLE AUDIT ACT
To the Board of Trustees
The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.
Report on Compliance for Each Major State Program
We have audited The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s compliance with the types of compliance
requirements described in the Office of Policy and Management Compliance Supplement that could have
a direct and material effect on the The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s major state program for the
year ended June 30, 2020. The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.’s major state program is identified in
the summary of auditors’ results section of the accompanying schedule of state findings and questioned
costs.
Management’s Responsibility
Management is responsible for compliance with requirements of laws, regulations, contracts and grants
applicable to its state programs.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of The Maritime Aquarium at
Norwalk, Inc.’s major state programs based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred
to above. We conducted our audit of compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted
in the United States of America; the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government
Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General of the United States; and the State Single Audit
Act (C.G.S. Sections 4-230 to 4-236). Those standards and the State Single Audit Act require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on a major state
program occurred. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence about The Maritime Aquarium
at Norwalk, Inc.’s compliance with those requirements and performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances.
We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for the major state
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of The Maritime at Norwalk, Inc.’s
compliance.
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Opinion on Each Major State Program
In our opinion, The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. complied, in all material respects, with the
compliance requirements referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on its major state
programs for the year ended June 30, 2020.
Report on Internal Control Over Compliance
Management of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining
effective internal control over compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In
planning and performing our audit of compliance, we considered The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk,
Inc.’s internal control over compliance with the type of requirements that could have a direct and material
effect on each major state program to determine the auditing procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on compliance for each major state program and
to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the State Single Audit Act, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over compliance.
Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk,
Inc.’s internal control over compliance.
A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over
compliance does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned
functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
state program on a timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency,
or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that material noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program will not
be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over
compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a state program that is less severe than a material
weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important enough to merit attention by those charged
with governance.
Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first
paragraph of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that might be material weaknesses or significant deficiencies. We did not identify any
deficiencies in internal control over compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However,
material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified.
The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our
testing of internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the
State Single Audit Act. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Hartford, Connecticut
September 23, 2020
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020
State Grantor/Pass-through
Grantor/Program Title

State Grant Program
Core-CT Number

Passed Through to
Subrecipients

Expenditures

Department of Economic and Community
Development
Local Arts Agency Program

12069-ECD46830-17066

Total State Financial Assistance

$

-

$

303,705

$

-

$

303,705

See accompanying note to the Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance.
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Note to Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance
For the year ended June 30, 2020
The accompanying Schedule of Expenditures of State Financial Assistance (the “Schedule”) includes the
state grant activity of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. under programs of the State of
Connecticut for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020. The State of Connecticut has provided financial
assistance through the Department of Economic and Community Development in accordance with the
General Statutes of the State of Connecticut. This financial assistance program funds the general
operations to the Aquarium.
NOTE 1 – SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The accounting policies of The Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc. conform to accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to not-for-profit organizations.
The information in the Schedule is presented based upon regulations established by the State of
Connecticut, Office of Policy and Management.
Basis of Accounting
The expenditures reported on the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. In accordance
with Section 4-236-22 of the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act, certain grants are not dependent
on expenditure activity, and accordingly, are considered to be expended in the fiscal year of receipt.
These grant program receipts are reflected in the expenditures column of the Schedule.
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
Schedule of State Findings and Questioned Costs
For the year ended June 30, 2020
I.

SUMMARY OF AUDITORS' RESULTS:
Financial Statements
Type of auditors' opinion issued:

Unmodified

Internal control over financial reporting:
• Material weakness(es) identified?
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Noncompliance material to financial statements
noted?

yes
yes

X
X

no
none reported

yes

X

no

yes
yes

X
X

no
none reported

yes

X

no

State Financial Assistance
Internal control over major programs:
• Material weakness(es) identified?
• Significant deficiency(ies) identified?
Type of auditors' opinion issued on compliance for
major programs:
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be
reported in accordance with Section 4-236-24 of
the Regulations to the State Single Audit Act?

Unmodified

• The following schedule reflects the major programs included in the audit:

State Grantor and Program
Department of Economic Development
Local Arts Agency Program

12069-ECD46830-17066

• Dollar threshold used to distinguish between type A and type B programs:

II.

Expenditures

State CORE-CT Number

$

303,705

$

100,000

FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS
No matters were reported.

III.

STATE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS
No matters were reported.
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Headquarters
280 Trumbull Street, 24th Floor
Hartford, CT 06103
860.522.3111
One Hamden Center
2319 Whitney Avenue, Suite 2A
Hamden, CT 06518
203.397.2525
14 Bobala Road, 3rd Floor
Holyoke, MA 01040
413.536.3970
WAdvising.com

MARITIME AQUARIUM EMPLOYEE NAME & JOB SUMMARY
Last Name First Name
Botero

Felipe

Manages Guest Services staff and all aspets of admissions and cash room procedures

Curlee

Marguerite Manages the Reservations staff and fulfills all aspects of group reservations.

De Grim

Brendan

Responsible for the coordination and management of volunteer & staff SCUBA dive operations and training.

Hudson

David

Responsible for the implementation of research of conservation activities.

Levine

Lindsey

Responsible for the animal collection and maintenance of their exhibits and life support

Munoz

Sergio A

Rosenfeld

Nicole

Responsible for ensuring the continuity of computer services, information technology and the telphone system.
Responsible for duties related to administration and staff management, in addition to active
involvement in The Whole School Partnership Program; Research vessel operations and programming
and teacher professional development programs

Siebert

Samantha Responsible for the animal collection and maintenance of their exhibits and life support

Trasante

Marcelo

Responsible for the maintenance and reliable operation of all exhibits.

Vargas

Angelica

Manages all aspects of Membership and achieving established sales goals.

Vella

Marianne

Responsible for all functions related to Accounting

Vidal

George

Responsible for the relible and safe operation of all facility systems.

Williams

Kylie

Responsible for the animal collection and maintenance of their exhibits and life support

Zicari

Louis

Responsible for the safe operation, training and maintenenace of the research vessel and education catamaran.

THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC
BY-LAWS
ADOPTED BY
THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
(Approved February 18, 2004 and
Amended December 18, 2019)

THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
BY-LAWS
ARTICLE I - IDENTIFICATION
Section I - Name. The name of the corporation (the "Corporation") is The Maritime
Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.
Section 2 - Seal. Upon the seal of the Corporation shall appear the name of the Corporation,
the state and year of incorporation, and the words "Corporate Seal".
Section 3 - Offices. The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in Norwalk,
Connecticut. The Corporation may also have other offices at such other places, either within or
without the State of Connecticut, as the Board of Trustees may determine or as the activities
of the Corporation may require.
Section 4 - Purpose. The purpose of the Corporation is as follows: To operate exclusively for
charitable, scientific, or educational purposes which will include, but not be limited to, the
following:
To build, operate, maintain and expand the Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc., which is an
aquarium, maritime museum and educational, research and technology center, which
expands education, encourages and excites curiosity, understanding and the appreciation of
science and the interrelationship of natural and cultural events and global ecology as they
relate to Long Island Sound, its watershed and the global ocean;
To educate by providing quality programming, entertaining interactive displays, experiential
learning and special events;
To engage in and foster research in the areas of science, technology and education;
To serve a broad audience including the citizens of Norwalk with special emphasis on the
disadvantaged, families, students, and regional educational and civic institutions;
To provide an economic stimulus to the City of Norwalk and the State of Connecticut as a nonprofit tourist attraction;
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To solicit, accept and receive by gift, will, or otherwise, property of any sort or nature, including,
but not limited to, cash, securities and real estate, and to hold, invest and reinvest, use, apply
and expend said property in furtherance of the aforesaid purposes ;
To possess and exercise all the powers and privileges granted by the Nonstock Corporation
Act of Connecticut or by the Certificate of Incorporation, together with any powers incidental
thereto, so far as such powers and privileges are necessary or convenient to the conduct,
promotion or attainment of the business or aims of the Corporation, which shall, in all cases,
be limited exclusively for charitable, educational and scientific purposes, including, for such
purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
corresponding provisions of any future United States Internal Revenue Law.
ARTICLE II - BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Section I - General Powers. The direction and management of the Corporation's business and
affairs and the control and disposal of its properties and funds shall be vested in a selfperpetuating Board of Trustees. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of
the Corporation and these By-Laws, the Board of Trustees shall have all the authority and
powers conferred upon a board of directors by the Nonstock Corporation Act of the State of
Connecticut.
Section 2 - Number. The Board of Trustees shall be composed of not fewer than eighteen (18)
nor more than fifty (50) Trustees. The number of Trusteeships at any time shall be that number
most recently fixed by action of the Board of Trustees or, absent such action, shall be that
number of Trustees elected at the preceding regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees or
the meeting of the Board of Trustees held in lieu thereof, plus the number elected since such
meeting to fill a vacancy created by an increase in the size of the Board of Trustees. A vacancy
on the Board of Trustees for any reason may be filled by action of the remaining Trustees in
office. The Norwalk Seaport Association, Inc., the Redevelopment Agency of the City of
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Norwalk, and The Junior League of Stamford-Norwalk, Inc. shall each be entitled but not
required to be represented at all times by one individual Trustee on the Board of Trustees.
Each such organization shall, from time to time, designate which individual the sponsoring
organization desires to be its representative. When so designated in a letter addressed to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the designated individual shall be elected to the
Board of Trustees at the next meeting of the Board with the right to discuss and to vote on all
matters brought before the Board. In addition, the incumbent Mayor of the City of Norwalk,
without notice other than public notice, shall be a member of the Board of Trustees with the right
to discuss and vote on matters brought before the Board.

Section 3 – Election and Term of Office. Commencing January 1, 2002, the Trustees in office
as of September 1, 2001 (“Current Trustees”) shall be divided into six (6) classes as nearly
equal in number as possible. The classes shall be designated as follows, and given initial
terms as indicated (“Initial Terms”):
(i)

Class A, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and
December 31, 2004;

expire on

(ii)

Class B, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 2005;

(iii)

Class C, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2006;
(iv)
Class D, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002, and expire on
December 31, 2007;
(v)
Class E, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2008; and
(vi)

Class F, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2009.

Designation in which class each Current Trustee shall be placed shall be made on or before
December 15, 2001.
All terms other than the Initial Terms shall be full three (3) year terms. A “full three (3) year
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term” shall mean a term commencing on the date a Trustee takes office, and terminating three
(3) years from the last day of the calendar year in which such Trustee takes office. All trustees
other than current Trustees serving their Initial Terms shall be elected for full three (3) year terms.

No one shall continue to serve as a Trustee after having served his or her applicable Initial
Term, or two (2) consecutive full three (3) year terms, other than a Trustee who is elected and
serves as the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Secretary, or Treasurer of the Board of
Trustees, but only during such time as the Trustee serves in such capacity. All Trustees are
eligible for re-election to the Board after an absence of one (1) full year.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, there are no specific term limitations
imposed on individual Trustees who are elected after being designated in writing by their
sponsoring organizations to represent respectively the Norwalk Seaport Association, Inc., the
Redevelopment Agency of the City of Norwalk, or The Junior League of Stamford-Norwalk,
Inc. In each such case, the designated Trustee shall serve at the pleasure of their sponsoring
organization. When such sponsoring organizations no longer wish a previously designated
individual to be its representative on the Board of Trustees, it shall so notify the Chief
Executive Officer of Corporation in writing at which time the term of office of the previously
designated individual shall be deemed to have ceased automatically as of the date of the
organization’s written notice. In the case of the Mayor of the City of Norwalk, his or her term
on the Board of Trustees shall be for the period or consecutive periods he or she remains in
office as incumbent Mayor.

Section 4 - Meetings. The regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held in
December of each year at the principal office of the Corporation or at such other time and
place as the Board of Trustees may direct. There shall be no fewer than four regular meetings,
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including any regular annual meeting, of the Board of Trustees in each twelve-month period
commencing in January of each year. At least five (5) days' notice shall be required for any
regular meeting of the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson of the Board of the Corporation
may call a special meeting of the Board of Trustees whenever deemed necessary, and shall
call a special meeting whenever requested to do so in writing by two or more Trustees. Notice
of a special meeting must be filed with the Clerk of the City of Norwalk no later than twentyfour (24) hours before the meeting. Written notice of a special meeting, stating the purpose or
purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered to the usual place of abode of
each Trustee so that the same is received prior to such special meeting. No business other
than that stated in the notice shall be transacted at any special meeting. No prior notice of an
emergency special meeting need be given.

Any Trustee may waive notice of any meeting of the Board of Trustees by submitting a written
waiver signed before or after the date of the meeting. Attendance at a meeting by any Trustee,
without protesting the lack of receipt of proper notice prior to or at the commencement of the
meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such Trustee.

Section 5 - Quorum. One-third of the Trustees then in office shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business. The act of a majority of the Trustees present in person at a meeting at
which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Trustees, unless a greater number
is otherwise specially required by these By-Laws, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by
statute. In the event of a tie vote, the Chairperson of the Board shall have the right to vote
again to break the tie. A Trustee or a member of a committee of the Board of Trustees may
participate in a meeting of the Board of Trustees or of such committee by means of a
conference telephone or similar communications equipment enabling all Trustees in
attendance at the meeting to hear one another and such participation in a meeting shall
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constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Section 6 - Unanimous Consent in Writing. If all the Trustees or all members of a committee of
the Board of Trustees, as the case may be, severally or collectively, consent in writing to any
action taken or to be taken by the Corporation, such action shall be a valid corporate action as
though it had been authorized at a duly held meeting of the Board of Trustees or a committee
thereof, as the case may be.

Section 7 - Resignation and Removal. Any Trustee may resign or be removed at any time. A
Trustee who intends to resign shall give written notice thereof to the Board of Trustees in care
of the Chairperson of the Board of the Corporation. Such resignation shall become effective
immediately, unless otherwise specified thereon. Removal of a Trustee, with or without cause
may only be effected by the affirmative majority vote of the Board of Trustees at a meeting
called expressly for the purpose of considering such removal. A majority vote in this case shall
be the majority of all the duly elected Trustees entitled to vote at the time of such meeting.

ARTICLE III - OFFICERS
Section I - Number. The officers of the Corporation shall include a Chairperson of the Board,
one or more Vice Chairpersons of the Board, a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Other
officers including vice presidents and assistant officers may be elected. Any two or more
offices may be held by the same person, except the offices of the Chairperson of the Board,
President and the Secretary.
Section 2 - Election. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Trustees at the
regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees and shall serve for a term of one year, unless
otherwise provided by the Board, and until their respective successors shall have been duly
elected and shall have qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal. Vacancies,
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however caused, shall be filled by the Board of Trustees at any regular meeting or special
meeting called for that purpose.
Section 3 - Powers and Duties. The powers and duties of the officers shall be as follows:
Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the
Board of Trustees and of the Executive Committee and shall perform such other duties as may
from time to time be assigned to him by the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson shall be a
member of the Executive Committee and shall be a member ex officio of all other committees
designated by the Board of Trustees; shall have authority to sign and execute, in the name of
the Corporation, all authorized deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments; and
shall enforce these By-Laws and perform all the duties incident to the position and office.
Vice Chairperson of the Board. Each Vice-Chairperson of the Board shall assist the
Chairperson of the Board, as requested, in the performance of such officer's duties and shall
have such other functions as these By-Laws may provide or as the Board of Trustees may
hereafter delegate. At the request of the Chairperson of the Board, or in case of such officer's
absence or inability to act, a Vice Chairperson of the Board shall perform the duties of the
Chairperson of the Board and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to
any or all of the restrictions upon, the Chairperson of the Board.
The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The President shall
have all powers ordinarily exercised by the Chief Executive Officer of a corporation and shall
supervise the operations of the Corporation; shall be an ex officio member of the Executive
Committee and of all other committees designed by the Board of Trustees; and shall have
authority to sign and execute, in the name of the Corporation, all authorized deeds,
mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments.
Vice President. Each Vice President shall assist the President, as requested, in the
performance of such officer's duties and shall have such other functions as these By-Laws
may provide or as the Board of Trustees may hereafter delegate. At the request of the
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President, or in case of such officer's absence or inability to act, a Vice President shall perform
the duties of the President and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to
any or all of the restrictions upon, the President.
Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Trustees in
books provided for the purpose; shall see that all notices are fully given in accordance with the
provisions of the By-Laws or as required by law; shall be the custodian of the records and of
the corporate seal or seals of the Corporation; and, in general, shall perform all duties
ordinarily incident to the office of a Secretary of a corporation and such other duties as from
time to time may be assigned to the Secretary by the Board of Trustees or by the Chairperson
of the Board.
Assistant Secretary. The Assistant Secretary shall have such powers and shall perform such
duties as the Board of Trustees may from time to time prescribe and shall perform such other
duties as may be prescribed by the By-Laws. At the request of the Secretary, or in case of
such officer's absence or inability to act the Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of the
Secretary and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the
restrictions upon, the Secretary.
Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge of and be responsible for all funds,
securities, receipts and disbursements of the Corporation; shall deposit, or cause to be
deposited, in the name of the Corporation, all moneys or other valuable effects in such banks,
trust companies, or other depositories as shall, from time to time, be selected by the Board of
Trustees; shall, whenever requested, prepare an account of the financial condition of the
Corporation; and, in general, shall perform all the duties ordinarily incident to the office of
a Treasurer of a corporation and such other duties as may be assigned to the Treasurer by the
Board of Trustees or by the Chairperson of the Board.
Notwithstanding the provisions above relating to the duties of the Treasurer, the Board of
Trustees may designate a banking institution as the fiscal agency of the Corporation and
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delegate to it such duties and responsibilities as the Board of Trustees may prescribe,
including any duty or responsibility herein or by law directed to be performed by the Treasurer.
Assistant Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer shall have such powers and shall perform such
duties as the Board of Trustees may from time to time prescribe and shall perform such other
duties as may be prescribed by these By-Laws. At the request of the Treasurer, or in case of
such officer's absence or inability to act, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform the duties of the
Treasurer and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the
restrictions upon, the Treasurer.
Section 4 - Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the
Chairperson of the Board or to the Secretary.
Section 5 - Removal. Any officer may be removed at any time either with or without cause by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Trustees then in office. If the Chairperson of the Board,
the Vice Chairperson of the Board or the President serving on the Executive Committee is so
removed, said officer shall automatically cease to be a member of the Executive Committee.
Section 6 - Vacancies. If a vacancy shall occur in any office for any reason such vacancy may
be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by the Board of Trustees.
Section 7 - Compensation. The officers and Trustees of the Corporation, except for the
President, Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer shall receive no
compensation except for reimbursement of reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in
the performance of their duties and except when any such compensation is disclosed to and
approved by the Board of Trustees.
Section 8 - Surety Bonds. In the event that the Board of Trustees shall so require, any officers
or agents of the Corporation shall execute to the Corporation bonds in such sums and with
such surety or sureties as the Board of Trustees may direct, conditioned on the faithful
performance of their duties to the Corporation, including responsibility for negligence and for
the accounting of all property, funds, or securities of the Corporation that may come into their
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hands. The Corporation shall pay the cost of any such surety bonds.
Section 9 - Other Officers. Such other officers as are appointed shall exercise such duties and
have such powers as the Board of Trustees may assign.
ARTICLE IV - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHERS
Section I - Designation, Term of Office and Qualifications. The Board of Trustees may
designate an Executive Committee consisting of not fewer than seven (7) nor more than fifteen
(15) Trustees, which number shall include the Chairperson of the Board and any Vice
Chairperson of the Board.

The President shall be an ex-officio member. Each

member of the Executive Committee shall continue in office until the annual
meeting of the Board of Trustees held next after their designation or until they shall cease to
be a trustee, or until the dissolution of the Executive Committee in the manner provided in
Section 3 of this Article IV.
Section 2 - Powers. Except as may be provided by law or by the resolution of designation, the
Executive Committee, if designated, shall have and may exercise, during the intervals
between the meetings of the Board of Trustees, all of the powers of the Board of Trustees in
the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, including without limitation all
powers expressly conferred on the Board of Trustees by these By-Laws, and shall have power
to authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it;
provided, however, that the Executive Committee shall not have power to make, alter or repeal
these By-Laws, to fill vacancies in the Board of Trustees or to dissolve, remove members
from, change the number of Trustees or Executive Committee members, fill vacancies in the
Executive Committee, or to remove the President.
Section 3 - Resignation, Removal or Dissolution. Any member of the Executive Committee
may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chairperson of the Board or to the
Secretary. Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect on receipt
thereof. Any member of the Executive Committee may be removed at any time, either with or
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without cause, by a majority vote of the Trustees then in office, given at any meeting of the
Board of Trustees called for that purpose. The Board of Trustees may, by a resolution duly
adopted at any meeting, dissolve the Executive Committee.
Section 4 - Vacancies. If any vacancy shall occur in the Executive Committee by reason of
death, resignation, removal or otherwise, such vacancy may be filled at any meeting of the
Board of Trustees.
Section 5 - Meetings. The Executive Committee may provide for the holding of regular
meetings at such times and places as it may from time to time determine by resolution duly
adopted at any meeting of the Executive Committee. Except in case of an emergency meeting,
two (2) days' notice of any such meeting shall be given to all members of the Board of
Trustees. A special meeting of the Executive Committee may be called at any time by the
Chairperson of the Board upon at least two (2) days' notice to all members of the Board of
Trustees. The Executive Committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings. Copies of such
minutes shall be distributed to all the members of the Board of Trustees in advance of said
Board's next scheduled regular meeting after any such Executive Committee meeting.
The Executive Committee may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its
meetings as it may deem proper, not inconsistent with law, the Certificate of incorporation or
these By-Laws.
Section 6 - Quorum. At all meetings of the Executive Committee, the presence in person of
one third of the membership of the entire Executive Committee shall be necessary and
sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and, except as otherwise
provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, if a quorum shall be
present, the act of a majority of the members present shall be the act of the Executive
Committee. In the absence of a quorum, a majority of the members present, without notice
other than by announcement at the meeting, may adjourn the meeting from time to time, for a
period of not more than thirty (30) days at any one time, until a quorum shall be present.
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Section 7 - Nominating Committee. Each year at the annual meeting the Chairperson of the
Board shall designate a Nominating Committee consisting of not fewer than three (3) Trustees,
one of whom may be the Chairperson of the Board, to serve for the ensuing year. The
Nominating Committee shall prepare a slate of Trustees and officers for nomination at the
annual meeting, which slate shall be set forth in the notice of the annual meeting, and shall do
whatever else is necessary to maintain the Trustee membership. Any Trustee may make other
nominations at the annual meeting.

Section 8 - Other Committees. The Board of Trustees may designate such other committees
as it may deem advisable. Each such committee shall consist of such number of persons,
whether Trustees or non-Trustees, as may be so designated and shall have and may exercise
such powers in such manner and shall perform such duties as may be delegated to it by the
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall have power at any time to remove any
member (except a member ex officio) of any such committee, with or without cause, and to fill
vacancies in and to dissolve any such committee. The Chairperson of the Board shall appoint
the Chairperson of each such committee.
ARTICLE V - TRUSTEE EMERITUS
The Board of Trustees may appoint as Trustee Emeriti those individuals who are worthy of
recognition by virtue of their extraordinary and exemplary service to the Corporation over the
years. While such a Trustee Emeritus is unable to vote, he/she may attend Board meetings
and may be called upon from time to time for advice on subjects within his/her experience and
expertise.
ARTICLE VI – MEMBERS
The Corporation shall have members who may be individuals, corporations, associations
and/or other entities. The members shall be divided into classes of membership based upon
the amount of dues paid as determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees. The
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members shall not be entitled to vote on any matters affecting the Corporation and the
Corporation shall operate under the management of its Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE VII - INDEMNIFICATION
Each Trustee, officer and employee of the Corporation and each member of any committee,
board or other body of the Corporation shall be indemnified, to the fullest extent permitted
under the applicable laws of the United States of America and the State of Connecticut,
against all judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement, and reasonable expenses,
including attorneys' fees actually and

necessarily incurred as a result of any action, suit or proceeding, or any appeal therein, to
which such person may be made a party by reason of such service, provided such person
acted in good faith for a purpose which such person reasonably believed to be in the best
interests of the Corporation. In addition, a person will be indemnified in criminal actions or
proceedings, if he/she had no reasonable cause to believe that the conduct was unlawful.
The foregoing rights of indemnification shall not preclude the exercise of any other rights to
which any such person shall be entitled as a matter of law.
In accordance with the foregoing, the Corporation shall purchase insurance to cover such
obligations to the extent the same is available.

ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS
Section I - Execution of Instruments Generally.
Subject to the control of the Board of Trustees, and except as otherwise provided by law, by
the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, any one or more of the following persons,
viz., the Chairperson of the Board, or any officer, agent or employee of the Corporation who
may from time to time be authorized (either generally or in specific instances) by the Board of
Trustees, or by the Chairperson of the Board, may sign, execute (with or without the seal of
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the Corporation), verify, acknowledge and deliver in the name and on behalf of the Corporation
any agreement, deed, contract, proxy, covenant, bond or other security, or any other
document, instrument or writing of any nature.

Section 2 - Execution of Checks, All Evidences of Indebtedness and Similar Instruments. All
checks, drafts, bills of exchange, notes, acceptances, endorsements, and all evidences of
indebtedness of the Corporation whatsoever, shall be signed by such officers, agents or
employees of the Corporation, or any one of them, and in such manner, as from time to time
may be determined (either generally or in specific instances) by the Board of Trustees or by
such officer or officers to whom the Board of Trustees may delegate the power so to
determine.
ARTICLE IX - DEPOSITS
All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the
Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Trustees
may select.
ARTICLE X - FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE XI - ANNUAL AUDIT
There shall be an annual audit by a certified public accountant of the financial statements of
the Corporation and each such annual audit shall be submitted to the Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE XII - RULES AND REGULATIONS
In addition to The By-Laws herein contained, the Board of Trustees of the Corporation may
adopt such written Rules or Regulations as, in its judgment, may prove necessary and
desirable for the efficient management of the Corporation. At least a majority of the Board
must give its approval to permit the adoption of any such Rule or Regulation.
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ARTICLE XIII - AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS
These By-Laws may be amended, repealed or modified or new By-Laws may be adopted by
the affirmative vote of the Trustees holding at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Trusteeships
represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Any notice of a meeting of the Board
of' Trustees at which By-Laws are to be adopted, repealed or amended shall include notice of
such proposed action.
Adopted on October 15th,1997 by the Board of Trustees of The Maritime Aquarium at
Norwalk, Inc. and as amended by the Board on September 16, 1998 and November 14, 2001.
Proposed amendments are marked and are scheduled for presentation to the Board of
Trustees for their consideration and a request for approval on January 21, 2004.
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PAYCHECK PROTECTION PROGRAM PROMISSORY NOTE
SBA Loan #
SBA Loan Name

81083070-10
The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk
04/20/2020

Date
Loan Amount
Interest Rate

$1,068,500.00

One percent (1%) per annum

First Payment
Due Date

11/20/2020

Payment Address

or such other address as Lender may designate in writing.

Borrower

The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk

Lender

Fairfield County Bank

1.

150 Danbury Road P. O. Box 2050 Ridgefield, CT 06877-0950

DEFINITIONS:

“Application” means the application submitted to Lender in connection with this Loan and any other
documentation, records or information submitted to Lender in connection therewith, no matter
whether submitted through an online application, through email or otherwise.
“Business Day” means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or bank holiday.
“CARES Act” means the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act.
“Deferral Period” means the 6‐month period beginning on the date of this Note.
“Loan” means the loan evidenced by this Note.
“Maturity Date” means the second anniversary of the date of this Note.
“Paycheck Protection Program” or “PPP” means the loan program administered by the SBA under the
SBA’s Section 7(a) loan program as amended by the CARES Act.
“PPP Laws” means the CARES Act and the PPP, together with other federal statutes, regulations,
administrative guidance, and SBA requirements that are now, or may later become, applicable to the
Loan, the Lender or the Borrower.
“Repayment Period” means the 18‐month period commencing on the 6‐month anniversary of the date
of this Note.
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“SBA” means the United States Small Business Administration.
2.

PROMISE TO PAY:

Borrower promises to pay to the order of Lender the Loan Amount set forth above and all other
amounts required by this Note, plus interest on the unpaid daily principal balance of such Loan Amount
at the Interest Rate set forth above [computed on an actual day basis], according to the Payment Terms
set forth below. Interest will continue to accrue on any unpaid principal of this Loan at the Interest Rate
set forth above until the principal shall have been paid in full, whether before or after maturity, by
Acceleration or otherwise and whether or not judgment shall have been obtained.
3.

PAYMENT TERMS:

Borrower must make all payments in U.S. Dollars to Lender at the Payment Address. The payment terms
for this Note are:
A.

No payments are required during the Deferral Period.

B.

Except as provided below, Monthly Payments are due on the same day of each succeeding
month, beginning on the First Payment Date set forth above.

C.

Unless all principal and interest on the Loan is forgiven on or before the end of the Deferral
Period (in accordance with Section 5 below), Borrower will make monthly payments calculated
as follows (“Monthly Payments”):

The Monthly Payment will be calculated to repay the unforgiven balance of the Loan over the remaining
18-month term in equal monthly payments of principal and interest. More specifically, the Monthly Payment will
equal the sum of (i) an amount sufficient to repay the principal balance outstanding at the end of the Deferral
Period, with interest at the Interest Rate set forth above, in equal monthly payments over the remaining term of
the Loan, plus (ii) an additional interest component equal to 1/18th of the accrued and unpaid interest from the
Deferral Period. The Monthly Payment amount will be computed based on the assumption that Borrower will
make all payments on their respective due dates. Because interest is computed daily, late payments increase
the amount of interest that accrues on the Loan and early payments decrease that amount. The amount of the
final payment will be adjusted as necessary to reflect the actual dates on which the Lender receives Borrower's
payments.
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D.

Borrower will pay any non‐interest charges or fees incurred under the terms of the Loan or the
PPP Laws immediately on demand by Lender.

E.

If not sooner paid, Borrower will pay Lender any and all unpaid principal, interest, and other
charges on the Maturity Date.

F.

Borrower agrees to pay any and all expenses incurred by Lender pursuant to Section 10 below in
collecting and enforcing this Note.

G.

Borrower may prepay this Note in whole or in part at any time without penalty.

H.

Except to the extent otherwise provided by the PPP Laws, payments (including any amounts
forgiven pursuant to the PPP) will be applied to interest, charges, and principal as determined by
the Lender in the reasonable exercise of its discretion.

4.

CERTIFICATIONS:

It is the express intention of Borrower and Lender that the Loan and this Note at all times conform to
the terms, conditions, and requirements of the PPP Laws. As such, Borrower hereby confirms the
certifications made by Borrower in the Application and further certifies to Lender as follows:
A.

Borrower is familiar with the rules and regulations applicable to the PPP, including without
limitation, any rules related to “affiliations”, and is eligible to participate in the PPP. The
proceeds of the Loan will be used only for purposes permitted by the PPP.

B.

Any tax documents provided to Lender are identical to those submitted to the Internal Revenue
Service.

C.

Borrower has not and is not using an “agent” that would be entitled to fees in accordance with
the PPP Laws.

5.

FORGIVENESS:

According to the Interim Regulation issued by the SBA in connection with the PPP (“Interim Regulation”),
the Loan may be forgiven in whole or in part under certain circumstances. The amount of the Loan
forgiveness can be up to the full principal amount of the Loan and any accrued interest. The actual
amount of loan forgiveness will depend, in part, on the total amount of payroll costs, payments of
interest on mortgage obligations incurred before February 15, 2020, rent payments on leases dated
before February 15, 2020, and utility payments under service agreements dated before February 15,
2020, over the eight‐week period following the date of the Loan. However, not more than 25 percent of
the Loan forgiveness amount may be attributable to non‐payroll costs. The Borrower hereby
acknowledges that, as of the date of this Note, the SBA has not issued definitive guidance on the
forgiveness process, but expects to do so in the future (“Forgiveness Rules”).
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If and to the extent that Borrower has paid expenses eligible to be forgiven under the applicable
provisions of the Forgiveness Rules and other PPP Laws, Borrower may elect to submit to Lender an
application for forgiveness of the Loan, together with all documentation reasonably necessary to
support such application (the “Forgiveness Application”). In the event Borrower submits a Forgiveness
Application, Borrower agrees to comply with the Forgiveness Rules and to cooperate with Lender in the
preparation, completion and submission of such Forgiveness Application, and to resolve any questions
that arise following the submission of the Forgiveness Application.
Borrower agrees that to the extent permitted by the Forgiveness Rules and other PPP Laws, Lender may
establish, using its reasonable discretion, requirements for the submission of information by the
Borrower for the completion of a Forgiveness Application, including timing requirements, and Borrower
agrees to abide by those requirements. In so doing, Borrower acknowledges that these requirements
may be necessary to enable Lender to process a high volume of requests for forgiveness by borrowers
pursuant to the PPP.
6.

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES:

Borrower represents and warrants to the Lender as follows:
A.

If Borrower is an entity, Borrower is currently existing, in good standing, and duly organized
under the laws of the state of its organization and has the power to own its property and to
carry on its business in each jurisdiction in which it operates.

B.

Borrower has full power and authority to enter into this Note, to execute and deliver this Note,
and to incur the obligations provided for in this Note, including the Loan. No consent or
approval of members or of any public authority is required as a condition to the validity of this
Note. Borrower’s execution of this Note has been duly authorized by all necessary actions of its
governing body. The person signing this Note has been duly authorized to do so on behalf of
Borrower.

C.

The Note constitutes the valid and legally binding obligation of the Borrower, enforceable in
accordance with its stated terms.

7.

COVENANTS:

Borrower hereby covenants and agrees, until the Loan is repaid in full:
A.

To keep complete and accurate books and records related to the financial affairs and business
condition of Borrower in a manner satisfactory to Lender, furnish financial statements as
requested by Lender, and allow Lender and SBA to inspect and audit books, records, and papers
relating to Borrower’s financial or business condition;

B.

Without limiting the foregoing, to maintain complete and accurate records regarding the use of
the Loan proceeds, recognizing that the failure to maintain, or to be able to produce, such
records may harm Borrower’s ability to obtain forgiveness for all or part of the Loan; and
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C.

8.

Not to change, without Lender’s consent, its ownership structure, make any distribution of
company assets that would adversely affect its financial condition, or transfer (including
pledging) or dispose of any assets, except in the ordinary course of business.
DEFAULT:

Borrower is in default under this Note if Borrower does not make a payment when due under this
Note, or if Borrower:
A.

Otherwise fails to comply with any provision of this Note;

B.

Does not disclose, or anyone acting on behalf of Borrower does not disclose, any
material fact to Lender or SBA;

C.

Makes, or anyone acting on behalf of Borrower makes, a materially false or misleading
representation or certification to Lender or SBA in connection with the Loan including,
without limitation, in Borrower’s application for this Loan or in connection with any
Forgiveness Application pursued by Borrower.

D.

Becomes the subject of a proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency law;

E.

Has a receiver or liquidator appointed for any part of Borrower’s business or property;

F.

Makes an assignment for the benefit of creditors;

G.

Reorganizes, merges, consolidates, or otherwise changes ownership or business
structure without Lender’s prior written consent; or

H.

Becomes the subject of a civil or criminal action that Lender believes may
materially affect Borrower’s ability to pay this Note.

9.

LENDER’S RIGHTS IF THERE IS A DEFAULT:

Without notice or demand and without giving up any of its rights, Lender may:
A.

Require immediate payment of all amounts owing under this Note (“Acceleration”);

B.

Collect all amounts owing from the Borrower;

C.

File suit and obtain judgment; and

D.

Pursue other remedies available at law or in equity to collect amounts owing from the Borrower
in connection with the Loan.

10.

LENDER’S GENERAL POWERS:

Without notice and without Borrower’s consent, Lender may incur expenses to collect amounts due
under this Note and/or enforce the terms of this Note. Among other things, the expenses may include
payments for reasonable attorney’s fees and court costs. If Lender incurs such expenses, it may demand
immediate repayment from Borrower or add the expenses to the principal balance.
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11.

GOVERNING LAW, VENUE, AND JURY TRIAL AND PREJUDGMENT REMEDY WAIVERS:

When SBA is the holder, this Note will be interpreted and enforced under federal law, including SBA
regulations. Lender or SBA may use state or local procedures for filing papers, recording documents,
giving notice, foreclosing liens, and other purposes. By using such procedures, SBA does not waive any
federal immunity from state or local control, penalty, tax, or liability. As to this Note, Borrower may not
claim or assert against SBA any local or state law to deny any obligation, defeat any claim of SBA, or
preempt federal law.
If SBA is not the holder, this Note will be interpreted and enforced under Connecticut law (not including
its choice of laws provisions), except that requirements of the CARES Act and PPP will be interpreted and
enforced under federal law, including SBA regulations and administrative guidance, as in effect from
time to time.
Any legal action or proceeding regarding the parties’ rights and obligations under this Note may be
brought only in the state and federal courts with proper jurisdiction located in the State of Connecticut
and the parties expressly submit themselves to the personal jurisdiction of such courts.
BORROWER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THIS TRANSACTION IS A COMMERCIAL TRANSACTION AND
HEREBY WAIVES THE RIGHT TO PRIOR NOTICE OR A PRIOR HEARING ON THE RIGHT OF BANK TO A
PREJUDGMENT REMEDY.
A PREJUDGMENT REMEDY ENABLES THE LENDER, BY WAY OF
ATTACHMENT, GARNISHMENT, OR REPLEVIN TO DEPRIVE BORROWER OF, OR AFFECT THE USE,
POSSESSION, OR ENJOYMENT BY BORROWER OF, ANY OF ITS PROPERTY AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO
JUDGMENT IN ANY LITIGATION INSTITUTED IN CONNECTION WITH THIS NOTE.
BORROWER AND LENDER HEREBY WAIVE TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY SUIT, ACTION OR PROCEEDING OR
ANY MATTER ARISING IN CONNECTION WITH, OR RELATED TO, THE FINANCIAL TRANSACTION OF
WHICH THIS NOTE IS A PART, OR THE ENFORCEMENT OF THE LENDER’S RIGHTS AND REMEDIES WITH
REGARD TO THE LOAN. BORROWER EXPRESSSLY ACKNOWLEDGES THAT THE BORROWER IS MAKING
THIS WAIVER, AND THE WAIVER IN THE PRECEEDING PARAGRAPH, KNOWINGLY AND WILLINGLY.
12.

SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS:

Under this Note, “Borrower” includes its successors and “Lender” includes its successors and assigns.
13.

GENERAL PROVISIONS:

A.

Borrower must sign all documents necessary at any time to comply with the Loan and the PPP
Laws.

B.

Lender may exercise any of its rights separately or together, as many times and in any order it
chooses. Lender may delay or forgo enforcing any of its rights without giving up any of them.

C.

Borrower may not use an oral statement of Lender or SBA to contradict or alter the written
terms of this Note.

D.

If any part of this Note is unenforceable, that part of the Note will be deemed to be amended to
afford the Lender the maximum rights allowed by law. The rest of the Note will not be affected.
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E.

To the extent allowed by law, Borrower waives all demands and notices in connection with this
Note, including presentment, demand, protest, and notice of dishonor.

F.

This Note will not be governed by any existing or future credit or loan agreement between
Borrower and Lender, unless otherwise expressly provided therein. The liabilities guaranteed
under any existing or future guarantee in favor of Lender will not include this Note. Any
collateral given to secure any existing or future indebtedness to Lender will not secure this Note.

G.

This Note reflects the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the Loan and
supersedes any prior agreements and representations by SBA or the parties hereto.

H.

Borrower’s liability under this Note will continue with respect to any amounts SBA may
pay Lender based on an SBA guarantee of this Note and SBA or Lender may seek recovery
from Borrower of any such amounts paid by SBA. Any agreement under which the SBA
guarantees all or any portion of this Note to Lender does not create any third party rights
or benefits for Borrower.

I.

Borrower acknowledges that the SBA and other governmental agencies may issue further
guidance or regulations and may amend, modify, or eliminate existing guidance or regulations
that are a part of the PPP Laws in a manner that has a material effect on the Loan and this Note.
Borrower agrees to cooperate fully in the correction, if necessary in the reasonable discretion of
Lender, of any and all loan documents so that all documents accurately describe and give full
effect to the Loan as contemplated by the PPP laws as amended from time to time. Borrower
further agrees to execute any additional documents that Lender may from time to time deem to
be required by the SBA or the PPP Laws, including, without limitation, any note or similar
instrument required to substitute and replace this Note. To the extent that any provision of this
Note is in contravention of the PPP Laws, this Note will be modified without further action by
Lender or Borrower so that it complies with the PPP Laws.

J.

Borrower acknowledges that, in making and administering the Loan, Lender has made certain
judgments based on information provided by or on behalf of Borrower and will make further
judgments in submitting any Forgiveness Application to SBA, and Borrower agrees to hold
Lender harmless and to indemnify Lender from any losses arising from or related to Lender’s
reliance on such information provided by or on behalf of Borrower, its judgments related to the
origination of the Loan and submitting Borrower’s Forgiveness Application to SBA, and any
determination made by any governmental entity related to forgiveness or Borrower’s
compliance with this Note or other aspects of the PPP.

14.

ELECTRONIC CONTRACT AND SIGNATURES:

A.

This Note is being created and will be stored electronically. Borrower agrees that this Note is a
“transferable record” for purposes of the laws governing electronic transactions. Lender has the
right to control the transferable record. Any paper copy or other “print out” created from the
electronic record will be considered an “original” document and will be admissible in any
proceeding to the same extent and under the same conditions as other original business records
created
and
maintained
in
documentary
form.
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B.

Borrower’s electronic signature on this Note will have the same force and effect as if Borrower
had signed it on paper.

15.

BORROWER’S ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS AND SIGNATURE:

By signing below, Borrower acknowledges and agrees that:
A.

Lender makes no representation or warranty as to: (i) the Borrower’s ability to receive
forgiveness for any portion of the Loan; (ii) the eligibility of any of Borrower’s expenses for
forgiveness under the Forgiveness Rules; (iii) the contents of the Forgiveness Application or the
documentation required for any forgiveness; or (iv) the tax consequences, federal, state or
otherwise, if any, associated with the forgiveness of any portion of the Loan.

B.

Lender can share the tax information with SBA and SBA’s authorized representatives, including
authorized representatives of the SBA Office of Inspector General, for the purpose of
compliance with the SBA’s loan program requirements and all SBA reviews.

C.

Guidance setting forth the conditions precedent to forgiveness has not been finalized, and that
as a result forgiveness may be materially more difficult to obtain than currently contemplated.

D.

If and to the extent that SBA does not forgive the Loan, then Borrower will owe to Lender the
outstanding amount of principal and interest on the Loan.

E.

If Borrower defaults on the loan, SBA may be required to pay Lender under the SBA guarantee,
and SBA may then seek recovery on the Loan.

F.

All communications made by Lender relating to the PPP are qualified in their entirety by the text
of the PPP Laws, as may be amended and/or supplemented by currently existing or forthcoming
regulations, guidance and requirements of the SBA and other governmental agencies.

G.

Lender has relied, and will rely, in good faith on the certifications, representations, warranties,
covenants and acknowledgments made by the Borrower in this Note, in the Application, in any
Forgiveness Application and in any other loan documents related to the Loan.

H.

Borrower is bound by and will comply with all provisions of this Note.

The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk

Borrower’s Name

By:
Print Name:
Title:
Date Signed:

Jason Patlis
President and CEO
4/21/2020
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BORROWING AFFIDAVIT AND INCUMBENCY CERTIFICATE OF
The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk
RE:

Fairfield County Bank (“Bank”)
SBA Payment Protection Program Loan (“Loan”) The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk
(“Company”)

The Undersigned, being over the age of eighteen years and understanding the obligations
of an oath, in order to induce Bank to enter into the above referenced Loan transaction do hereby
swear to the truth and accuracy of the following representations:
1.
I am the President and CEO
of the above referenced Company,
and that, in such capacity, I am authorized to execute and deliver this Affidavit in the name of
and on behalf of the Company.
2.
I understand and agree that any item which is deemed a post-closing item shall be
integral to this transaction and that any and all such items must be returned to the Bank fullyexecuted within thirty (30) days of the date of disbursement. Failure to so deliver these items
shall be an event of default under the Loan and shall entitle the Bank, or its successors and
assigns, to all remedies available under any and all Loan documents.
3.
The Company has no knowledge of any pending, or threatened, civil or criminal
action against the Company.
4.
The Company is not a party to any other loan document, lease, contract or
agreement of any kind which would prohibit the Company from entering into the Loan or which
would be violated by the execution or performance of any of the Loan documents.
5.
The Company has received no notice of violation of any federal, state or local
statute, ordinance or regulation relevant to any property which is the subject of this transaction.
6.
The signature on all of the Company documents, including but not limited to the
Certificate of Incorporation, By-Laws, leases, and agreements of any kind are genuine and were
and are duly authorized.
7.
True and accurate copies of the Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws of the
Corporation together with all amendments and modifications thereto shall be provided to the
Bank within thirty (30) days hereof. The Company’s annual reports filed with the Secretary of
State are either up to date or will be brought up to date within thirty (30) days hereof, and
Borrower shall provide evidence of same to Bank immediately upon such filing.
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13.

The Company’s Federal Tax ID # is: 061062912

14.
The information and representations contained in the Loan documents do not
contain any untrue statements of material facts or omit to state any material facts.

_____________________________
Jason Patlis
Individually and as President and CEO
of the Company
Duly Authorized
4/21/2020
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EXHIBIT A
(Cert. of Incorporation)
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EXHIBIT B
(By-Laws)

DocuSign Envelope ID: 71AB9566-7E17-4190-ACDF-405EC3A26B7D

EXHIBIT C

(Cert. of Legal Existence)
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COMPLIANCE AGREEMENT, CLERICAL ERROR AGREEMENT
AND COVENANT OF FURTHER ASSURANCES
In consideration of the issuance and making of a Payment Protection Program Loan,
pursuant to the federal Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (Public Law 116-136)
as may be amended or interpreted by the Small Business Association from time to time (“CARES
Act”) in the principal amount of One Million Sixty Eight Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
$ ($1,068,500.00)
on 04/21/2020
by FAIRFIELD COUNTY BANK (“Lender”)
to the undersigned borrowers, the undersigned hereby represent and agree as follows:
1.

Upon the request of Lender, its successors or assigns, the undersigned agree(s) to:

a. furnish and execute any documents reasonably required by Lender to verify the
truth and accuracy of any information provided by the undersigned in connection with their loan
or required under the CARES Act, including, but not limited to, income, employment, rent
receipts, expenses, deposit and loan authorizations and verifications, income tax returns and
contracts;
b. execute and/or initial any document that should have been signed and/or
delivered at or before the closing; re-execute any documents signed at or before the closing; and
execute any document that was incorrectly drafted and signed at the closing, including but not
limited to correction notes, correction mortgages and other correction instruments;
c. complete any post-closing items required by Lender; and
d. execute any additional documentation and provide any additional information
required by Lender to facilitate the sale of the loan.
2.
The undersigned represent(s) and agree(s) that all requests by Lender will receive
the full cooperation and compliance by the undersigned within ten (10) business days of the
making of the requests and the obligations hereunder shall survive the closing.
3.
If at any time hereafter, Lender believes that any further documents (or
modifications thereof) are necessary or desirable to carry out the provisions of any document or
instrument evidencing or securing Lender’s loan, including the execution of a new note in a form
which may be required by the United States Small Business Administration or pursuant to the
CARES Act, the undersigned hereto shall execute and deliver, or cause to be executed and
delivered, any and all proper documents, and do or cause to be done all things necessary or proper
to carry out fully the provisions hereof as are consistent with the obligations of the parties hereto.
4.
It is further agreed that the failure of the undersigned to comply with the
representations and agreements hereunder shall constitute a default under the note and all other
documents executed in connection with the loan closing and shall entitle Lender, its successors
and assigns to any and all of the remedies available upon default under the note and/or such other
documents.

By:
Jason Patlis

4/21/2020

Duly Authorized President and CEO
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Minutes of a Special Meeting of
The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk
A Special meeting of the Directors and Shareholders of The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk
a corporation (“Company”), was held on 04/21/2020
at 8:00 a.m. at the offices of the
Company at Norwalk, CT
Present were all Directors and Shareholders who waived notice of the meeting and
unanimously adopted the following resolution:
RESOLVED THAT the Company is authorized to obtain financing from
Fairfield County Bank in the amount of One Million Sixty Eight Thousand Five Hundred Dollars
($ ($1,068,500.00)
) DOLLARS on the terms and conditions
set forth in a certain Commitment Letter from Fairfield County Bank to the
Company dated 04/21/2020
; and
FURTHER RESOLVED THAT thePresident and CEO
of said
Company, to wit,Jason Patlis
, is hereby authorized to
execute any and all documents required by Fairfield County Bank and
necessary to effectuate said loan transaction; and
FURTHER RESOLVED THAT all actions taken by the Company and its
officers on behalf of the Company in furtherance of this transaction are hereby
ratified and affirmed.
There being no further business to be discussed, the meeting was adjourned.
Dated this 21

day of April

, 2020.

___________________________
Jason Patlis

______________________________

[Shareholder and/or Director]
4/21/2020

[Shareholder and/or Director]

___________________________

______________________________

[Shareholder and/or Director]

[Shareholder and/or Director]

DocuSign Envelope ID: 71AB9566-7E17-4190-ACDF-405EC3A26B7D

DISBURSEMENT REQUEST AND AUTHORIZATION
Borrower: The Maritime Aquarium At Norwalk Lender:
10 North Water Street, Norwalk, CT 06854
LOAN
TYPE:

Commercial LOAN
Loan
AMOUNT:

($1,068,500.00)

Fairfield County Bank
150 Danbury Road
Ridgefield, CT 06877
NOTE 04/21/2020
DATE:

PRIMARY PURPOSE OF LOAN:
SBA Payment Protection Program (“SBA/PPP”)
DISBURSEMENT INSTRUCTIONS:
Borrower understands that funding of loan proceeds under this program is subject to receipt and
satisfactory review by the Lender of a complete and fully executed DocuSign loan package.
The Borrower is submitting this Disbursement Request and Authorization to Fairfield
County Bank (the “Lender”) to acknowledge receipt of loan proceeds in the amount
of $ ($1,068,500.00)
and to authorize the Lender to disburse Loan
proceeds to their Fairfield County Bank Account #: 521006563
FINANCIAL CONDITION:
By signing this Authorization, Borrower represents and warrants to Lender that the information
provided above is true and correct, and that there has been no material adverse change in
Borrower’s financial condition as disclosed in Borrower’s most recent financial statements to
Lender.
This Authorization dated 4/21/2020
By authorized signature below the Borrower Acknowledges they have maintained a
completed copy of the SBA PPP Loan package that includes but is not limited to an
executed copy of this Disbursement Request and Authorization.
BORROWER:

By:
Jason Patlis
4/21/2020
Its: President and CEO

duly authorized
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC
BY-LAWS
ADOPTED BY
THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
(Approved February 18, 2004 and
Amended December 18, 2019)
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THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
BY-LAWS
ARTICLE I - IDENTIFICATION
Section I - Name. The name of the corporation (the "Corporation") is The Maritime
Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc.
Section 2 - Seal. Upon the seal of the Corporation shall appear the name of the Corporation,
the state and year of incorporation, and the words "Corporate Seal".
Section 3 - Offices. The principal office of the Corporation shall be located in Norwalk,
Connecticut. The Corporation may also have other offices at such other places, either within or
without the State of Connecticut, as the Board of Trustees may determine or as the activities
of the Corporation may require.
Section 4 - Purpose. The purpose of the Corporation is as follows: To operate exclusively for
charitable, scientific, or educational purposes which will include, but not be limited to, the
following:
To build, operate, maintain and expand the Maritime Aquarium at Norwalk, Inc., which is an
aquarium, maritime museum and educational, research and technology center, which
expands education, encourages and excites curiosity, understanding and the appreciation of
science and the interrelationship of natural and cultural events and global ecology as they
relate to Long Island Sound, its watershed and the global ocean;
To educate by providing quality programming, entertaining interactive displays, experiential
learning and special events;
To engage in and foster research in the areas of science, technology and education;
To serve a broad audience including the citizens of Norwalk with special emphasis on the
disadvantaged, families, students, and regional educational and civic institutions;
To provide an economic stimulus to the City of Norwalk and the State of Connecticut as a nonprofit tourist attraction;
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To solicit, accept and receive by gift, will, or otherwise, property of any sort or nature, including,
but not limited to, cash, securities and real estate, and to hold, invest and reinvest, use, apply
and expend said property in furtherance of the aforesaid purposes ;
To possess and exercise all the powers and privileges granted by the Nonstock Corporation
Act of Connecticut or by the Certificate of Incorporation, together with any powers incidental
thereto, so far as such powers and privileges are necessary or convenient to the conduct,
promotion or attainment of the business or aims of the Corporation, which shall, in all cases,
be limited exclusively for charitable, educational and scientific purposes, including, for such
purposes, the making of distributions to organizations that qualify as exempt organizations
under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the
corresponding provisions of any future United States Internal Revenue Law.
ARTICLE II - BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Section I - General Powers. The direction and management of the Corporation's business and
affairs and the control and disposal of its properties and funds shall be vested in a selfperpetuating Board of Trustees. Subject to the provisions of the Certificate of Incorporation of
the Corporation and these By-Laws, the Board of Trustees shall have all the authority and
powers conferred upon a board of directors by the Nonstock Corporation Act of the State of
Connecticut.
Section 2 - Number. The Board of Trustees shall be composed of not fewer than eighteen (18)
nor more than fifty (50) Trustees. The number of Trusteeships at any time shall be that number
most recently fixed by action of the Board of Trustees or, absent such action, shall be that
number of Trustees elected at the preceding regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees or
the meeting of the Board of Trustees held in lieu thereof, plus the number elected since such
meeting to fill a vacancy created by an increase in the size of the Board of Trustees. A vacancy
on the Board of Trustees for any reason may be filled by action of the remaining Trustees in
office. The Norwalk Seaport Association, Inc., the Redevelopment Agency of the City of
3
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Norwalk, and The Junior League of Stamford-Norwalk, Inc. shall each be entitled but not
required to be represented at all times by one individual Trustee on the Board of Trustees.
Each such organization shall, from time to time, designate which individual the sponsoring
organization desires to be its representative. When so designated in a letter addressed to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation, the designated individual shall be elected to the
Board of Trustees at the next meeting of the Board with the right to discuss and to vote on all
matters brought before the Board. In addition, the incumbent Mayor of the City of Norwalk,
without notice other than public notice, shall be a member of the Board of Trustees with the right
to discuss and vote on matters brought before the Board.

Section 3 – Election and Term of Office. Commencing January 1, 2002, the Trustees in office
as of September 1, 2001 (“Current Trustees”) shall be divided into six (6) classes as nearly
equal in number as possible. The classes shall be designated as follows, and given initial
terms as indicated (“Initial Terms”):
(i)

Class A, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and
December 31, 2004;

expire on

(ii)

Class B, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 2005;

(iii)

Class C, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2006;
(iv)
Class D, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002, and expire on
December 31, 2007;
(v)
Class E, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2008; and
(vi)

Class F, whose Initial Term shall commence on January 1, 2002 and expire on
December 31, 2009.

Designation in which class each Current Trustee shall be placed shall be made on or before
December 15, 2001.
All terms other than the Initial Terms shall be full three (3) year terms. A “full three (3) year
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term” shall mean a term commencing on the date a Trustee takes office, and terminating three
(3) years from the last day of the calendar year in which such Trustee takes office. All trustees
other than current Trustees serving their Initial Terms shall be elected for full three (3) year terms.

No one shall continue to serve as a Trustee after having served his or her applicable Initial
Term, or two (2) consecutive full three (3) year terms, other than a Trustee who is elected and
serves as the Chairperson, Vice Chairperson, Secretary, or Treasurer of the Board of
Trustees, but only during such time as the Trustee serves in such capacity. All Trustees are
eligible for re-election to the Board after an absence of one (1) full year.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, there are no specific term limitations
imposed on individual Trustees who are elected after being designated in writing by their
sponsoring organizations to represent respectively the Norwalk Seaport Association, Inc., the
Redevelopment Agency of the City of Norwalk, or The Junior League of Stamford-Norwalk,
Inc. In each such case, the designated Trustee shall serve at the pleasure of their sponsoring
organization. When such sponsoring organizations no longer wish a previously designated
individual to be its representative on the Board of Trustees, it shall so notify the Chief
Executive Officer of Corporation in writing at which time the term of office of the previously
designated individual shall be deemed to have ceased automatically as of the date of the
organization’s written notice. In the case of the Mayor of the City of Norwalk, his or her term
on the Board of Trustees shall be for the period or consecutive periods he or she remains in
office as incumbent Mayor.

Section 4 - Meetings. The regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees shall be held in
December of each year at the principal office of the Corporation or at such other time and
place as the Board of Trustees may direct. There shall be no fewer than four regular meetings,
5
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including any regular annual meeting, of the Board of Trustees in each twelve-month period
commencing in January of each year. At least five (5) days' notice shall be required for any
regular meeting of the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson of the Board of the Corporation
may call a special meeting of the Board of Trustees whenever deemed necessary, and shall
call a special meeting whenever requested to do so in writing by two or more Trustees. Notice
of a special meeting must be filed with the Clerk of the City of Norwalk no later than twentyfour (24) hours before the meeting. Written notice of a special meeting, stating the purpose or
purposes for which the meeting is called, shall be delivered to the usual place of abode of
each Trustee so that the same is received prior to such special meeting. No business other
than that stated in the notice shall be transacted at any special meeting. No prior notice of an
emergency special meeting need be given.

Any Trustee may waive notice of any meeting of the Board of Trustees by submitting a written
waiver signed before or after the date of the meeting. Attendance at a meeting by any Trustee,
without protesting the lack of receipt of proper notice prior to or at the commencement of the
meeting, shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting by such Trustee.

Section 5 - Quorum. One-third of the Trustees then in office shall constitute a quorum for the
transaction of business. The act of a majority of the Trustees present in person at a meeting at
which a quorum is present shall be the act of the Board of Trustees, unless a greater number
is otherwise specially required by these By-Laws, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by
statute. In the event of a tie vote, the Chairperson of the Board shall have the right to vote
again to break the tie. A Trustee or a member of a committee of the Board of Trustees may
participate in a meeting of the Board of Trustees or of such committee by means of a
conference telephone or similar communications equipment enabling all Trustees in
attendance at the meeting to hear one another and such participation in a meeting shall
6

DocuSign Envelope ID: 71AB9566-7E17-4190-ACDF-405EC3A26B7D

constitute presence in person at such meeting.

Section 6 - Unanimous Consent in Writing. If all the Trustees or all members of a committee of
the Board of Trustees, as the case may be, severally or collectively, consent in writing to any
action taken or to be taken by the Corporation, such action shall be a valid corporate action as
though it had been authorized at a duly held meeting of the Board of Trustees or a committee
thereof, as the case may be.

Section 7 - Resignation and Removal. Any Trustee may resign or be removed at any time. A
Trustee who intends to resign shall give written notice thereof to the Board of Trustees in care
of the Chairperson of the Board of the Corporation. Such resignation shall become effective
immediately, unless otherwise specified thereon. Removal of a Trustee, with or without cause
may only be effected by the affirmative majority vote of the Board of Trustees at a meeting
called expressly for the purpose of considering such removal. A majority vote in this case shall
be the majority of all the duly elected Trustees entitled to vote at the time of such meeting.

ARTICLE III - OFFICERS
Section I - Number. The officers of the Corporation shall include a Chairperson of the Board,
one or more Vice Chairpersons of the Board, a President, a Secretary and a Treasurer. Other
officers including vice presidents and assistant officers may be elected. Any two or more
offices may be held by the same person, except the offices of the Chairperson of the Board,
President and the Secretary.
Section 2 - Election. The officers of the Corporation shall be elected by the Trustees at the
regular annual meeting of the Board of Trustees and shall serve for a term of one year, unless
otherwise provided by the Board, and until their respective successors shall have been duly
elected and shall have qualified, or until their earlier death, resignation or removal. Vacancies,
7
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however caused, shall be filled by the Board of Trustees at any regular meeting or special
meeting called for that purpose.
Section 3 - Powers and Duties. The powers and duties of the officers shall be as follows:
Chairperson of the Board. The Chairperson of the Board shall preside at all meetings of the
Board of Trustees and of the Executive Committee and shall perform such other duties as may
from time to time be assigned to him by the Board of Trustees. The Chairperson shall be a
member of the Executive Committee and shall be a member ex officio of all other committees
designated by the Board of Trustees; shall have authority to sign and execute, in the name of
the Corporation, all authorized deeds, mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments; and
shall enforce these By-Laws and perform all the duties incident to the position and office.
Vice Chairperson of the Board. Each Vice-Chairperson of the Board shall assist the
Chairperson of the Board, as requested, in the performance of such officer's duties and shall
have such other functions as these By-Laws may provide or as the Board of Trustees may
hereafter delegate. At the request of the Chairperson of the Board, or in case of such officer's
absence or inability to act, a Vice Chairperson of the Board shall perform the duties of the
Chairperson of the Board and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to
any or all of the restrictions upon, the Chairperson of the Board.
The President shall be the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation. The President shall
have all powers ordinarily exercised by the Chief Executive Officer of a corporation and shall
supervise the operations of the Corporation; shall be an ex officio member of the Executive
Committee and of all other committees designed by the Board of Trustees; and shall have
authority to sign and execute, in the name of the Corporation, all authorized deeds,
mortgages, bonds, contracts or other instruments.
Vice President. Each Vice President shall assist the President, as requested, in the
performance of such officer's duties and shall have such other functions as these By-Laws
may provide or as the Board of Trustees may hereafter delegate. At the request of the
8
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President, or in case of such officer's absence or inability to act, a Vice President shall perform
the duties of the President and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to
any or all of the restrictions upon, the President.
Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Trustees in
books provided for the purpose; shall see that all notices are fully given in accordance with the
provisions of the By-Laws or as required by law; shall be the custodian of the records and of
the corporate seal or seals of the Corporation; and, in general, shall perform all duties
ordinarily incident to the office of a Secretary of a corporation and such other duties as from
time to time may be assigned to the Secretary by the Board of Trustees or by the Chairperson
of the Board.
Assistant Secretary. The Assistant Secretary shall have such powers and shall perform such
duties as the Board of Trustees may from time to time prescribe and shall perform such other
duties as may be prescribed by the By-Laws. At the request of the Secretary, or in case of
such officer's absence or inability to act the Assistant Secretary shall perform the duties of the
Secretary and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the
restrictions upon, the Secretary.
Treasurer. The Treasurer shall have charge of and be responsible for all funds,
securities, receipts and disbursements of the Corporation; shall deposit, or cause to be
deposited, in the name of the Corporation, all moneys or other valuable effects in such banks,
trust companies, or other depositories as shall, from time to time, be selected by the Board of
Trustees; shall, whenever requested, prepare an account of the financial condition of the
Corporation; and, in general, shall perform all the duties ordinarily incident to the office of
a Treasurer of a corporation and such other duties as may be assigned to the Treasurer by the
Board of Trustees or by the Chairperson of the Board.
Notwithstanding the provisions above relating to the duties of the Treasurer, the Board of
Trustees may designate a banking institution as the fiscal agency of the Corporation and
9

DocuSign Envelope ID: 71AB9566-7E17-4190-ACDF-405EC3A26B7D

delegate to it such duties and responsibilities as the Board of Trustees may prescribe,
including any duty or responsibility herein or by law directed to be performed by the Treasurer.
Assistant Treasurer. The Assistant Treasurer shall have such powers and shall perform such
duties as the Board of Trustees may from time to time prescribe and shall perform such other
duties as may be prescribed by these By-Laws. At the request of the Treasurer, or in case of
such officer's absence or inability to act, the Assistant Treasurer shall perform the duties of the
Treasurer and, when so acting, shall have all the powers of, and be subject to all the
restrictions upon, the Treasurer.
Section 4 - Resignation. Any officer may resign at any time by giving written notice to the
Chairperson of the Board or to the Secretary.
Section 5 - Removal. Any officer may be removed at any time either with or without cause by
the affirmative vote of a majority of the Trustees then in office. If the Chairperson of the Board,
the Vice Chairperson of the Board or the President serving on the Executive Committee is so
removed, said officer shall automatically cease to be a member of the Executive Committee.
Section 6 - Vacancies. If a vacancy shall occur in any office for any reason such vacancy may
be filled for the unexpired portion of the term by the Board of Trustees.
Section 7 - Compensation. The officers and Trustees of the Corporation, except for the
President, Vice Presidents, Assistant Secretary and Assistant Treasurer shall receive no
compensation except for reimbursement of reasonable and necessary expenses incurred in
the performance of their duties and except when any such compensation is disclosed to and
approved by the Board of Trustees.
Section 8 - Surety Bonds. In the event that the Board of Trustees shall so require, any officers
or agents of the Corporation shall execute to the Corporation bonds in such sums and with
such surety or sureties as the Board of Trustees may direct, conditioned on the faithful
performance of their duties to the Corporation, including responsibility for negligence and for
the accounting of all property, funds, or securities of the Corporation that may come into their
10
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hands. The Corporation shall pay the cost of any such surety bonds.
Section 9 - Other Officers. Such other officers as are appointed shall exercise such duties and
have such powers as the Board of Trustees may assign.
ARTICLE IV - EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE AND OTHERS
Section I - Designation, Term of Office and Qualifications. The Board of Trustees may
designate an Executive Committee consisting of not fewer than seven (7) nor more than fifteen
(15) Trustees, which number shall include the Chairperson of the Board and any Vice
Chairperson of the Board.

The President shall be an ex-officio member. Each

member of the Executive Committee shall continue in office until the annual
meeting of the Board of Trustees held next after their designation or until they shall cease to
be a trustee, or until the dissolution of the Executive Committee in the manner provided in
Section 3 of this Article IV.
Section 2 - Powers. Except as may be provided by law or by the resolution of designation, the
Executive Committee, if designated, shall have and may exercise, during the intervals
between the meetings of the Board of Trustees, all of the powers of the Board of Trustees in
the management of the business and affairs of the Corporation, including without limitation all
powers expressly conferred on the Board of Trustees by these By-Laws, and shall have power
to authorize the seal of the Corporation to be affixed to all papers which may require it;
provided, however, that the Executive Committee shall not have power to make, alter or repeal
these By-Laws, to fill vacancies in the Board of Trustees or to dissolve, remove members
from, change the number of Trustees or Executive Committee members, fill vacancies in the
Executive Committee, or to remove the President.
Section 3 - Resignation, Removal or Dissolution. Any member of the Executive Committee
may resign at any time by giving written notice to the Chairperson of the Board or to the
Secretary. Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect on receipt
thereof. Any member of the Executive Committee may be removed at any time, either with or
11
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without cause, by a majority vote of the Trustees then in office, given at any meeting of the
Board of Trustees called for that purpose. The Board of Trustees may, by a resolution duly
adopted at any meeting, dissolve the Executive Committee.
Section 4 - Vacancies. If any vacancy shall occur in the Executive Committee by reason of
death, resignation, removal or otherwise, such vacancy may be filled at any meeting of the
Board of Trustees.
Section 5 - Meetings. The Executive Committee may provide for the holding of regular
meetings at such times and places as it may from time to time determine by resolution duly
adopted at any meeting of the Executive Committee. Except in case of an emergency meeting,
two (2) days' notice of any such meeting shall be given to all members of the Board of
Trustees. A special meeting of the Executive Committee may be called at any time by the
Chairperson of the Board upon at least two (2) days' notice to all members of the Board of
Trustees. The Executive Committee shall keep minutes of its proceedings. Copies of such
minutes shall be distributed to all the members of the Board of Trustees in advance of said
Board's next scheduled regular meeting after any such Executive Committee meeting.
The Executive Committee may adopt such rules and regulations for the conduct of its
meetings as it may deem proper, not inconsistent with law, the Certificate of incorporation or
these By-Laws.
Section 6 - Quorum. At all meetings of the Executive Committee, the presence in person of
one third of the membership of the entire Executive Committee shall be necessary and
sufficient to constitute a quorum for the transaction of business, and, except as otherwise
provided by law, by the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, if a quorum shall be
present, the act of a majority of the members present shall be the act of the Executive
Committee. In the absence of a quorum, a majority of the members present, without notice
other than by announcement at the meeting, may adjourn the meeting from time to time, for a
period of not more than thirty (30) days at any one time, until a quorum shall be present.
12
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Section 7 - Nominating Committee. Each year at the annual meeting the Chairperson of the
Board shall designate a Nominating Committee consisting of not fewer than three (3) Trustees,
one of whom may be the Chairperson of the Board, to serve for the ensuing year. The
Nominating Committee shall prepare a slate of Trustees and officers for nomination at the
annual meeting, which slate shall be set forth in the notice of the annual meeting, and shall do
whatever else is necessary to maintain the Trustee membership. Any Trustee may make other
nominations at the annual meeting.

Section 8 - Other Committees. The Board of Trustees may designate such other committees
as it may deem advisable. Each such committee shall consist of such number of persons,
whether Trustees or non-Trustees, as may be so designated and shall have and may exercise
such powers in such manner and shall perform such duties as may be delegated to it by the
Board of Trustees. The Board of Trustees shall have power at any time to remove any
member (except a member ex officio) of any such committee, with or without cause, and to fill
vacancies in and to dissolve any such committee. The Chairperson of the Board shall appoint
the Chairperson of each such committee.
ARTICLE V - TRUSTEE EMERITUS
The Board of Trustees may appoint as Trustee Emeriti those individuals who are worthy of
recognition by virtue of their extraordinary and exemplary service to the Corporation over the
years. While such a Trustee Emeritus is unable to vote, he/she may attend Board meetings
and may be called upon from time to time for advice on subjects within his/her experience and
expertise.
ARTICLE VI – MEMBERS
The Corporation shall have members who may be individuals, corporations, associations
and/or other entities. The members shall be divided into classes of membership based upon
the amount of dues paid as determined from time to time by the Board of Trustees. The
13
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members shall not be entitled to vote on any matters affecting the Corporation and the
Corporation shall operate under the management of its Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE VII - INDEMNIFICATION
Each Trustee, officer and employee of the Corporation and each member of any committee,
board or other body of the Corporation shall be indemnified, to the fullest extent permitted
under the applicable laws of the United States of America and the State of Connecticut,
against all judgments, fines, amounts paid in settlement, and reasonable expenses,
including attorneys' fees actually and

necessarily incurred as a result of any action, suit or proceeding, or any appeal therein, to
which such person may be made a party by reason of such service, provided such person
acted in good faith for a purpose which such person reasonably believed to be in the best
interests of the Corporation. In addition, a person will be indemnified in criminal actions or
proceedings, if he/she had no reasonable cause to believe that the conduct was unlawful.
The foregoing rights of indemnification shall not preclude the exercise of any other rights to
which any such person shall be entitled as a matter of law.
In accordance with the foregoing, the Corporation shall purchase insurance to cover such
obligations to the extent the same is available.

ARTICLE VIII - EXECUTION OF INSTRUMENTS
Section I - Execution of Instruments Generally.
Subject to the control of the Board of Trustees, and except as otherwise provided by law, by
the Certificate of Incorporation or by these By-Laws, any one or more of the following persons,
viz., the Chairperson of the Board, or any officer, agent or employee of the Corporation who
may from time to time be authorized (either generally or in specific instances) by the Board of
Trustees, or by the Chairperson of the Board, may sign, execute (with or without the seal of
14
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the Corporation), verify, acknowledge and deliver in the name and on behalf of the Corporation
any agreement, deed, contract, proxy, covenant, bond or other security, or any other
document, instrument or writing of any nature.

Section 2 - Execution of Checks, All Evidences of Indebtedness and Similar Instruments. All
checks, drafts, bills of exchange, notes, acceptances, endorsements, and all evidences of
indebtedness of the Corporation whatsoever, shall be signed by such officers, agents or
employees of the Corporation, or any one of them, and in such manner, as from time to time
may be determined (either generally or in specific instances) by the Board of Trustees or by
such officer or officers to whom the Board of Trustees may delegate the power so to
determine.
ARTICLE IX - DEPOSITS
All funds of the Corporation shall be deposited from time to time to the credit of the
Corporation in such banks, trust companies or other depositories as the Board of Trustees
may select.
ARTICLE X - FISCAL YEAR
The fiscal year of the Corporation shall be fixed by resolution of the Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE XI - ANNUAL AUDIT
There shall be an annual audit by a certified public accountant of the financial statements of
the Corporation and each such annual audit shall be submitted to the Board of Trustees.
ARTICLE XII - RULES AND REGULATIONS
In addition to The By-Laws herein contained, the Board of Trustees of the Corporation may
adopt such written Rules or Regulations as, in its judgment, may prove necessary and
desirable for the efficient management of the Corporation. At least a majority of the Board
must give its approval to permit the adoption of any such Rule or Regulation.
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ARTICLE XIII - AMENDMENTS TO BY-LAWS
These By-Laws may be amended, repealed or modified or new By-Laws may be adopted by
the affirmative vote of the Trustees holding at least two-thirds (2/3) of the Trusteeships
represented at a meeting at which a quorum is present. Any notice of a meeting of the Board
of' Trustees at which By-Laws are to be adopted, repealed or amended shall include notice of
such proposed action.
Adopted on October 15th,1997 by the Board of Trustees of The Maritime Aquarium at
Norwalk, Inc. and as amended by the Board on September 16, 1998 and November 14, 2001.
Proposed amendments are marked and are scheduled for presentation to the Board of
Trustees for their consideration and a request for approval on January 21, 2004.

16

DocuSign Envelope ID: 71AB9566-7E17-4190-ACDF-405EC3A26B7D

Secretary of The State of Connecticut
I, the Secretary of The State of Connecticut, and keeper of the seal thereof,
DO HEREBY CERTIFY, that the certificate of incorporation of
THE MARITIME AQUARIUM AT NORWALK, INC.
a domestic NONSTOCK corporation, was filed in this office on April 05, 1982, a certificate of
dissolution has not been filed, the corporation has filed all annual reports, and so far as indicated by the
records of this office such corporation is in existence.

______________________________
Secretary of The State of Connecticut

Date Issued: August 05, 2019

Business ID: 0129029

Express

Note: To verify this certificate, visit the web site http://www.concord.sots.ct.gov

Certificate Number: 2019344333001
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS

Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Mid-Fairfield Child Guidance Center, Inc.
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Alice Forrester, Chief Executive Officer / Gail
Melanson, Executive Director
Type of Organization: 501 (c) 3 non-profit outpatient behavioral health clinic
Applicant Mailing Address: 100 East Avenue, Norwalk, CT 06851
Project Location Address: 100 and 98 East Avenue, Norwalk, CT 06851
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only): Not Applicable
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Marissa Mangone
Title: Development Director
Phone #: 203.858.5340
Email Address: mmangone@mfcgc.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: Install COVID mitigation technologies and critical COVID safety
measures in response to COVID-19.
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity: In early August 2020, Mid-Fairfield began a phased reentry of our clinic spaces in accordance with CDC and CT DPH guidelines. The health and safety of staff
and clients remains our top priority. To reduce the risk of COVID exposure and safely provide clients with
the face-to-face services they need will require us to install COVID mitigation technologies at our 100 and
98 East Avenue locations. We are hoping CDBG-CV will provide $11,574.38 funding for us to implement
these critical COVID safety measures.
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

10/22/2020
Name, Title & Signature

Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
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PART 1.

CDBG-CV Application

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
Founded in 1956, the non-profit Mid-Fairfield Child Guidance Center, Inc. (Mid-Fairfield) serves as the
community safety net for thousands of low- and middle-income families across the greater Norwalk region
and specializes in helping the growing number of children/adolescents in our community who suffer from
severe mental/behavioral health disorders due to stressful life events and/or experiences of trauma. We
provide affordable and high-quality evidence-based interventions and wellness services to children, adults,
and families in our outpatient clinic, in local schools, in homes, and in the community. Our dedicated team
of child and adolescent psychiatrists, psychologists, clinicians, and support staff understand that every
person is unique, of value, and requires compassionate and individualized care. We strive to meet the
mental health needs of every child in our community regardless of race, gender, sexual identity, or
residential status. Our mission is to provide mental health and community support services that improve the
health, resiliency, and quality of life of children, adults, and families.
Mid-Fairfield has a strong history of securing/managing local, regional, state, and federal contracts (e.g.,
Victims Services under the Victims of Crime Act, Norwalk Redevelopment Agency CDBG).
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
Programs/services are offered within a continuum of care to children, birth - 21 and their families, as well as
prenatal mothers and are provided across the lifespan of a child/adolescent based on their needs to
promote optimal health. Often, children referred to Mid-Fairfield are exposed to numerous environmental
risk factors and/or have experienced, or are currently experiencing complex and recurring traumas; client
symptoms and diagnoses include depression, mood disorders, anxiety, trauma-related disorders, and selfharming behaviors. As one of the leading behavioral health service providers in the community, we have a
strong record of providing evidence-based interventions with fidelity across multiple service provisions in
both community- and school-based settings. We provide individualized interventions and support services
which in include the following: outpatient/psychiatric services, extended day treatment, school-,
community-, and home-based services, consultation, care coordination, and case management; service
components are supported with ongoing community systems and a 24/7 response capacity.
In the vast majority of cases, we serve as the client's primary mental health provider and provide long-term,
on-going care until the client's case objectives are met. Typical length of treatment depends upon the type
of intervention (e.g., outpatient services (9-12 months/45 min. weekly sessions), extended day services (6
months/daily for 3 hrs. per day), home-based services (6-9 months (weekly)). During this time, a client can
receive a psychiatric evaluation with one of our psychiatrists/APRN's, after which the psychiatrist/APRN may
prescribe medication or begin offering psychiatric care to complement the client's course of treatment. We
also address barriers to treatment, both case specific and systemic, including but not limited to the following
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issues: current geopolitical climate, health equity, inter-family language barriers/culture, lack of access to
information/services within the community, and other social determinants of health (e.g., housing,
transportation, food access, childcare, etc.). Our interventions target family and community support
systems, with a particular attention focused on reducing risk factors in the family system, all while building
health supportive family connections. Depending upon a child's/family's needs, our services (clinical/nonclinical) work to decrease symptoms, build social skills and increase overall functioning.
Core Clinical Programs
1. Outpatient Children’s Clinic (OPCC). Services within OPCC are offered in an outpatient setting (100 East
Avenue) and bilingually (English/Spanish) to maximize access to care. Programs/services include: Individual
Therapy provides children and adolescents an opportunity to work one-on-one with a highly trained clinician
to explore their feelings, behaviors, and memories in a safe and caring environment. We believe the
engagement of and participation of parents and/or alternative caregivers is a key component in the delivery
of strength-based treatment and support services. Family Therapy focuses on helping a family unit function
in more positive and constructive ways by exploring patterns of communication and providing support and
education. Family therapy sessions can include the child or adolescent along with parents, siblings,
grandparents, and/or other significant people in the child/adolescent(s) life. Group Therapy is a form of
psychotherapy in which there are multiple participants led by one or more clinician. It uses the power of
group dynamics and peer interactions to improve social skills, peer relationships, problem solving, and team
building skills. Evidence-Based Interventions include (1) Trauma-Focused Cognitive Behavioral Therapy (TFCBT): for children and adolescents to process traumatic experiences and memories in a calm and relaxing
setting while reducing trauma-related symptoms. TF-CBT teaches specific skills to manage difficult emotions
reduce problematic behaviors resulting from traumatic events. (2) Dialectical Behavior Therapy (DBT): for
adolescent who present with high risk behaviors and/or have a history of past suicide attempts, selfinjurious behaviors, maladaptive coping skills, previous behavioral health hospitalizations, sexualized
behaviors, trauma, and/or substance abuse and/or meet criteria for Borderline Personality Disorder. Clients
do not have to meet all of these criteria in order to receive DBT services. Clients referred to the program,
undergo a thorough intake assessment with a DBT clinician in order to determine whether DBT is the most
appropriate form of treatment given their symptoms and needs. (3) MATCH-ADTC: for children/adolescents
and treats four common behavioral health concerns among children - anxiety, depression, post-traumatic
stress disorder and behavior symptoms.
2. Extended Day Treatment (EDT). For children (ages 5-12) in need of additional support, therapy, and
stabilization through both clinical and non-clinical services. Children referred to EDT are considered to
require mid-level care - those that do not require hospitalization but do require more intensive treatment
than weekly therapy. EDT helps to increase a child’s emotional resilience and reduce harmful behaviors so
he/she can function successfully, with reduced levels of therapeutic intervention – in school, family, and
community settings. EDT teaches children healthy coping skills including mindfulness, anger management,
feelings identification, and problem solving and conflict resolution. Prospects operates weekdays from 3-6
during the school year and from 11-2 during the summer.
3. Child First. Home-based, early childhood intervention that works with the most children (birth-5) and
their families to reduce stressors in a child’s home environment, which can impact the child’s emotional,
cognitive, and physical development. Families enrolled in Child First are paired with a team consisting of an
experienced mental health therapist and care coordinator who help foster a healthy and nurturing parentchild relationship and help connect the family with appropriate local services. Through a family driven plan
of care, children and families (as well as prenatal mothers) may receive the following services:
comprehensive mental health assessments; trauma-informed, child-parent psychotherapy and parent
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guidance; mental health consultation in early care and school settings; and hands on assistance to connect
families with community services and supports.
3.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

F.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?

 YES
 YES

 NO
 NO

 YES
 YES
 YES

 NO
 NO
 NO

 YES

NO

G.
H.

Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
 YES
 NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal* N/A

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping* See Attached.

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements* See Attached.
Note: Due to the affiliation of our agency with Clifford Beers, we are now required to undergo a
consolidated audit. This means all Clifford Beers and Mid-Fairfield financial info is reported on
together. However, there are three schedules in the back of the report that segregate the
information. If you would like to see MFCGC info, you can look on pages 21 - 24 in the report,
where all financial info has been separated by agency.

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
Each year, Mid-Fairfield provides clinical mental health services to over 700 children/adolescents and 1,500
family members. 85% of our client families reside in Norwalk and 70% are insured through Medicaid and/or
have no insurance. For over 60 years, our standard operating model has been to provide face-toface psychotherapy to our clients. Unfortunately, due to the COVID pandemic, we have had to suspend
client access to all of our locations (March 2020). This required us to quickly implement a new, WebEx-based
telemedicine model. Although telemedicine successfully helps many of our clients manage their existing
mental health conditions and maintain mental wellness during this time of unprecedented stress, many of
our clients are unable to benefit from our telehealth services due to a need for more intensive treatment
modalities, technology issues, and confidentiality concerns. These clients require face-to-face
psychotherapy.
As essential workers we are committed to providing continuity of care (individual/family therapy, psychiatric
services) and doing so in a safe and healthy environment. However, to reduce the risk of COVID exposure
and safely provide clients with the face-to-face services they need will require us to install COVID mitigation
technologies at our 100 and 98 East Avenue locations. These measures include the purchase of air purifiers
(16) to filter airborne contaminants and ultraviolet lighting to inactivate airborne COVID in common
occupied spaces (e.g., clinical offices, individual and/or large group settings). We are hoping CDBG-CV will
provide $11,574.38 funding for us to implement these critical COVID safety measures.
2.
Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
 Public service activity
 Rehabilitation activity
 New construction activity
 Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
 Other (explain)
3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
 New “core” program
 Expansion of existing “core” program
 Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
 New “support” program
 Expansion of existing “support” program
 Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
 Other (explain)
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4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

 YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

#300
 Persons
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How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

#200

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

#160

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
8.

9.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.
ECC Intake Form and Household Information Sheets

 
 
 


Name
Address
Income
Other

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.


Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: 


 Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI persons. The
activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed project/activity qualifies under
one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached: X
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.



(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of
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which, on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or
considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
• Fairfield County’s Community Foundation Covid-19 Resiliency Fund
• Payment Protection Program
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
yes
X no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.
Air Purifiers
Rec Room

2

$249.00

$498.00

Room 2

2

$249.00

$498.00

Room 3

2

$249.00

$498.00

OPCC 1

2

$119.00

$238.00

OPCC 2

2

$119.00

$238.00

OPCC 3

2

$119.00

$238.00

OPCC 4

2

$119.00

$238.00

OPCC 5
Grand
Total

2

$119.00

$238.00
$2,810.00

Ultraviolet Lighting
Product
Ultraviolet lighting
Airflow switch
Total

Cost per unit
$1,350.00
$110.73

Number needed
6
6
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3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
Mid-Fairfield is a non-profit non stock 501(c) (3) corporation and is licensed as an outpatient children’s
psychiatric clinic by CT DCF. Fiduciary and strategic oversite is provided by a Board of Directors with
ongoing operations managed by an Executive Director and a Senior Leadership Team. The Executive
Director reports to the CEO Clifford Beers.
Mid-Fairfield has a finance department of six (6) people, which includes a Chief Finance Officer and VicePresident of Finance, both are Certified Professional Accountants (CPAs). There is segregation of duties on
all financial transactions and reporting. All financial transactions are recorded to reflect accurate and
actual transactions, and follows generally accepted accounting principles. We use a third-party software to
record all transactions and to provide reports.
Payments are made to vendors only when the invoice has been approved by the appropriate level of
management, and once a vendor’s W-9 is received. Checks are signed by authorized personnel as
approved by the Board of Directors.
Internal financial statements are prepared monthly and reviewed with the Board of Directors. The
organization has an annual audit performed by an independent public accounting firm on an annual basis.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
The proposed project will not affect our administrative budget.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The proposed project will begin immediately. Currently, our clinic spaces are open for client families in need
of face-to-face psychotherapy.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or
Paycheck Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
Yes. Mid-Fairfield received the Paycheck Protection (PPP) loan ($488,415).
2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes X no
If yes, please explain.
As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
Full-Time Staff
2
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
Segundo Ruiz, Director of Operations, will find, price, and procure all needed supplies and services.
Gail Melanson, Executive Director, will supervise and approve all final purchases and services.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Board of Trustees
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
Roy Berger, President
Laoise King, Secretary
Dominic Schioppo, Jr., Treasurer
Ricci Cummings, Director
Jacqueline Epright, Director
Marissa Tartaglia, Director
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 6 Vacancies? 1
b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 1
c. How are the board members chosen? Any person concerned about the problems of mental health
and is willing to participate actively in the business of the Board of Directors and its committee are
eligible for election to the Board, except employees of Mid-Fairfield.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? X yes
If so, how often is training provided?

no

e. How long is a term? 3 full fiscal years immediately following their election at the annual meeting.
How many consecutive terms may be served? No director shall serve more than 3 successful terms on
the board.
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
yes
X no
If yes, please explain.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies? N/A
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3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
-

We are one of the largest community-based providers servicing the mental/behavioral health needs
of children and families in Mid-Fairfield County.
We are recognized community asset and have 64+ year history of providing therapeutic
interventions/support services to the most at-risk children in the greater Norwalk region.
No other agency in our service area provides a portfolio of childhood behavioral health services in
scale and scope as we do.
We have a grassroots understanding of community needs and solidly developed strengths-based,
family centered, trauma-informed approach to care.
We provide a continuum of services and interventions with varying levels of treatment in both
English and Spanish.

In addition, we are engaged in collaborative efforts (e.g., joint initiatives/programming, interagency
referrals, etc.), including the following: Norwalk Public Schools, Norwalk ACTS, CT Department of Children
and Families. Norwalk Health Department, Family and Children’s Agency, Human Services Council, Norwalk
Early Childhood Council, Positive Directions, Center for Children’s Advocacy, Person to Person, FAVOR,
Triangle Community Center, Norwalk Hospital/local pediatric offices, Norwalk Community Health Center,
and City of Norwalk Community Services Department.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME:
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) (X)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed. Laoise King
2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project. N/A
NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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CHILD GUIDANCE CENTER OF MID-FAIRFIELD COUNTY
100 East Avenue • Norwalk, CT 06851 Ph:203-299-1315 • Fax: 203-299-0015

INTAKE SCREENING FORM
DATE OF CONTACT: ____/____/____

TIME: _______

TYPE: □CALL □FAX □WALK-IN SCREENER: ___________

NAME OF CALLER: ___________________________ RELATION to CHILD: _____________PHONE #:__________________
NAME OF PRIMARY CAREGIVER(S) & RELATIONSHIP: _______________________________________________________
CONTACT #’S: (H) _________________________

(W) ___________________________

CHILD’S NAME: __________________________________

□M □F

HOME ADDRESS: _________________________________

CITY: _______________

SCHOOL: ___________________________

GRADE: ____________

(C) ____________________

DOB: ____/____/____

AGE: ______

ST: ____

BILINGUAL NEEDED: □ YES

ZIP: ________
□NO

DOES THE CLIENT HAVE ANY OF THE FOLLOWING IMPAIRMENTS THAT AFFECT THEIR ABILITY TO COMMUNICATE ?
□Cognitive Impairment(s) □ Hearing □ Speech □ Vision □ N/A
If any of the above are selected please explain:__________________________________________________________________________

PEDIATRICIAN: _________________________________________ PHONE #: ______________________________
REFERRAL SOURCE: □DCF □PARENT □FOSTER □LG □MD/APRN □SCHOOL □OTHER __________________________
NAME OF REFERRING PERSON: _____________________________________ EMAIL/PHONE #: _______________________
DESCRIBE THE PRECIPITATING EVENT(S) / PRESENTING PROBLEM(S) FOR YOUR CALL TODAY:
Key Words to listen for:
Depressed Mood
Irritable
___________________________________________________________________________________
Hyperactive
Tantrums
___________________________________________________________________________________
Phobias
Impulsive
Sleep Disturbance
___________________________________________________________________________________
Cries
Low Self-Esteem
___________________________________________________________________________________
Mood Swings
Worthlessness
_______________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________________
Listens Poorly
Anxiety
Aggressive
___________________________________________________________________________________
Sexualized Behaviors
Bedwetting

___________________________________________________________________________________

Screener: “I am going to run thru a brief checklist with you now. Please let me know if you feel that any of these currently apply to your child.
If you mark “yes”, include how, when, where and any other pertinent details.

REGARDING CHILD’S HOME LIFE / OVERALL FUNCTIONING…
ANY RECENT CHANGES IN THE FAMILY SITUATION?  Yes  No
If yes, what/when______________________________________
ANY DIFFICULTIES WITH PEERS?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, when/why: ____________________________________
HARMFUL TO SELF?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, how/when: ___________________________________
SUICIDAL THOUGHTS OR PLAN?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, when/what: ___________________________________
DANGER TO OTHERS?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, how: ________________________________
SEEING/HEARING THINGS?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, what/when/frequency: _________________________
RUNNING AWAY?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, why/when/where: ______________________________
DESTROYING PROPERTY?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, to what/how: __________________________________
ANY FIRESETTING?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, to what/where/how:_____________________________

REGARDING CHILD’S EDUCATION / ACTIVITIES…
IN/OUT SCHOOL SUSPENSION?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, how/when: ___________________________________
SIGNIFICANT SCHOOL ABSENCES?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, when/why: ___________________________________
REGULARLY ATTENDING CLASSES?  Yes  No  Unknown
If not, frequency of skipping: ___________________________
GRADES ACCEPTABLE/CONSISTENT?  Yes  No  Unknown
If not, explain: ________________________
ANY EXTRA-CURRICULAR ACTIVITIES?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, to what / if no, why: _____________________________
MEDICAL CONDITIONS/ALLERGIES?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, what? ________________________________________
ANY ALCOHOL/DRUG ABUSE?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, to what/how often? ____________________________
ANY STEALING?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, what/when? __________________________________
ARRESTS/COURT?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes why/when: ____________________________________

ANY PROBLEMS WITH SELF-CARE?  Yes  No  Unknown
If yes, to what/how: __________________________________

OTHER: ___________________________________________
___________________________________________

Screener: Do you believe that your child is at immediate risk or harm to him/herself or others? If YES, we need to hang up and you need to call
InfoLine 211 for a mobile crisis intervention now

□ NO □ YES: ______________________________________
DOES THE CLIENT/CAREGIVER NEED ASSISTANCE WITH TRANSPORTATION? □ NO □ YES: ________________________________
DOES THE CLIENT/CAREGIVER NEED ASSISTANCE WITH CHILDCARE?

REVIEW OF ANY PRIOR TREATMENT - Screener: Has your child received behavioral health services in the past? currently?
□ YES □ NO □ DON’T REMEMBER
□ OTHER: ______________________

include as many details as possible – when & where, etc.

□ OUTPATIENT TREATMENT
□ CHILD GUIDANCE/PROSPECTS
□ INPATIENT PSYCH HOSPITAL

□ INTENSIVE OUTPATIENT

□ RESIDENTIAL TREATMENT CENTER
DCF INVOLVEMENT
Screener: Has the Department of Children & Families ever been involved with your child or family? □ YES □ NO
□ PAST: _____________ □CURRENTLY □NORWALK □OTHER OFFICE: ______________ □ NOT ASSIGNED/NEW DCF CASE
WORKER’S NAME: ________________________ OFFICE PHONE#:____________________

CELL PHONE #: __________________

IS DCF GUARDIAN? □ NO □ YES REASON FOR INVOLVEMENT: □ NEGLECT □ PHYSICAL ABUSE □ SEXUAL ABUSE □ UNKNOWN
IF KNOWN, NATURE OF ABUSE/NEGLECT: _________________________________________________________________________
RELATIONSHIPS & FAMILY LIVING SITUATION
*CAREGIVER’S MARITAL STATUS: □SINGLE(NEVER MARRIED) □LIVING TOGTHER, BUT NOT MARRIED □MARRIED □RE-MARRIED
□SEPARATED □DIVORCED □WIDOWED □OTHER: ___________________________________ □UNKNOWN
*CHILD’S RELATION TO CAREGIVERS: □ BIRTH MOTHER/BIRTH FATHER □ ADOPTIVE MOTHER/ADOPTIVE FATHER □ FOSTER
MO/FOSTER FA □STEPMO/STEPFA □ OTHER (See full list in CareLogic): _________________________________________________
*CHILD LIVING WITH: □MOTHER □FATHER □STEPMO □STEPFA □FOSTER MO □FOSTER FA □OTHER: _______________________
□#SIBLINGS (INCLUDE AGES):__________________________________
IF APPLICABLE, INDICATE LEGAL GUARDIANSHIP/CUSTODY STATUS:_____________________________________________________
*DOES THE CHILD HAVE ANY OTHER SIGNIFICANT RELATIONSHIPS?
Name:________________________________ Relationship To Child:_________________________
Name:________________________________ Relationship To Child:_________________________
Name:________________________________ Relationship To Child:_________________________
Name:________________________________ Relationship To Child:_________________________
INSURANCE INFORMATION / PAYMENT SOURCE

□ HUSKY ID#__________________________________

□ HUSKY APPLICATION IN PROCESS SINCE _______________

□ HUSKY IS SECONDARY
□ NO INSURANCE
□ COMMERCIAL INSURANCE ___________________________ □ Anthem □ Oxford/United Health □ Other:__________________
NAME OF INSURED: ______________________________INS. ID#:_________________________INSURED’S DOB: _______________
NOTES: _________________ ____________________________________________________________________________________

CHILD GUIDANCE CENTER OF MID-FAIRFIELD COUNTY
100 East Avenue • Norwalk, CT 06851 Ph:203-299-1315 • Fax: 203-299-0015

SCHEDULING/APPOINTMENT HISTORY
 1ST F2F DATE OFFERED: ______/______/______

@ ___________ AM / PM □ ACCEPTED □ DECLINED on ___/___/___
(today’s date)

CLINICIAN: ________________________________ IF DECLINED, REASON: ______________________________________________
□ ATTENDED
□ CC □ NS □ TC ______________________________________________________________________________


2nd F2F DATE OFFERED: ______/______/______

@ ___________ AM / PM □ ACCEPTED □ DECLINED on ___/___/___
(today’s date)

CLINICIAN: ________________________________ IF DECLINED, REASON: ______________________________________________
□ ATTENDED
□ CC □ NS □ TC ___________________________________________________________________________


3rd F2F DATE OFFERED: ______/______/______

@ ___________ AM / PM □ ACCEPTED □ DECLINED on ___/___/___
(today’s date)

CLINICIAN: ________________________________ IF DECLINED, REASON: ______________________________________________
□ ATTENDED
□ CC □ NS □ TC ___________________________________________________________________________

CONTACT DATE INITIALS

ACTION

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

____________

______

____________________________________________________________________________________

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA)
The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and the Americans with Disabilities Amendments Act, known
as the ADAAA, are federal laws that prohibit employers with 15 or more employees from discriminating
against applicants and individuals with disabilities and that, when needed, provide reasonable
accommodations to applicants and employees who are qualified for a job, with or without reasonable
accommodations, so that they may perform the essential job duties of the position.
It is the policy of the Center to comply with all federal and state laws concerning the employment of
persons with disabilities and to act in accordance with regulations and guidance issued by the Equal
Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC). Furthermore, it is Center policy not to discriminate against
qualified individuals with disabilities in regard to application procedures, hiring, advancement, discharge,
compensation, training or other terms, conditions and privileges of employment.
The Center will reasonably accommodate qualified individuals with a disability so that they can perform
the essential functions of a job unless doing so causes a direct threat to these individuals or others in the
workplace and the threat cannot be eliminated by reasonable accommodation and/or if the
accommodation creates an undue hardship to the Center. Contact the Human Resource Coordinator with
any questions or requests for accommodation.

100 East Avenue, Norwalk CT 06851
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AFFIRMATIVE ACTION
The Center is committed to a comprehensive affirmative action plan to assure equal opportunity.
The Center firmly supports the principles and objectives of affirmative action. We not only must recognize
the hiring difficulties experienced by minorities, women, physically or mentally disabled persons, older
persons and other individuals protected by affirmative action and equal opportunity laws; we will also
develop and implement an affirmative action plan which will overcome the effects of any past
discrimination, to ensure the full and fair utilization in the workforce of members of the protected classes.
The goal of affirmative action is equal employment opportunity. Equal employment opportunity is the
employment of individuals without regard to race, color, religious creed, age, sex, sexual orientation,
marital status, national origin, ancestry, present or past history of mental disorder, developmental
disability/mental retardation, learning disability or physical disability (including blindness or AIDS), or prior
conviction of a crime, unless there is a bona fide occupational qualification excluding persons in one of
these protected classes. Affirmative action means positive, vigorous action taken to achieve equal
employment opportunities.
Affirmative action and equal employment opportunity are immediate and priority objectives. To that end,
the Center has developed an Affirmative Action Plan which commits the Center to aggressively pursue
equal employment opportunity and to provide services and programs to the public in a fair and impartial
manner.
Affirmative action plays an important and necessary role in all stages of the employment process, such as
recruitment, training, upward mobility and employment counseling; as well as implementing the Grievance
Procedure by investigating discrimination allegations. The CEO and senior staff assess and monitor
employment applications, job qualifications and specifications, recruitment practices, personnel policies,
job structuring, evaluations, and terminations.
The employment process consists of recruitment, selection, placement, job training counseling,
promotion, transfer, salary and fringe benefit determination, separation and termination. The role of
affirmative action is to provide an environment for the application of equal opportunity principles and to
monitor the employment process to prevent instances of illegal discrimination from arising or existing.
The affirmative action influence on the employment process seeks to ensure that:
• Recruitment and hiring of protected group members reflect their availability in the job market (and,
when possible, reflect their representation among the caseload or children served)
• Selection, placement and related activities are based upon job-related factors and criteria, and that
practices with an illegal discriminatory impact have been identified and eliminated.
• Transfer, reassignment, separation and termination decisions are non-discriminatory and do not result
in an illegal adverse impact upon protected groups.
The Center fully supports all state, federal and constitutional mandates concerning affirmative action and
equal employment opportunity, including the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Age Discrimination in
Employment Act, Americans with Disabilities Act and the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 as amended, the
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Equal Pay Act, the Vietnam Era Veteran’s Readjustment Assistance Act of 1973, Governors’ Executive
Orders and the relevant sections of the state statutes.

100 East Avenue, Norwalk CT 06851
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PURCHASING SUPPLIES AND EQUIPMENT; OBLIGATING THE CENTER
Only authorized persons may purchase supplies in the name of the Center. No employee whose
regular duties do not include purchasing shall incur any expense on behalf of the Center or bind
the Center by any promise or representation without written approval.
NON-DISCLOSURE OF NON-HIPAA CONFIDENTIAL INFORMATION
In addition to the Mid-Fairfield’s strict policy to protect HIPAA Protected Health Information
(PHI) as described elsewhere in this manual, all other information that an employee learns
about the Center, or its employees, clients, and donors, as a result of working for the Center
that is not otherwise publicly available constitutes Confidential Information. Employees may
not disclose Confidential Information to anyone who is not employed by the Center or to other
persons employed by the Center who do not need to know such information to perform their
work.
Such information includes, but is not limited to the following examples:
 Employee compensation data
 Financial information about the Center
 Donor information
 Pending projects, proposals, and programs
Conversations regarding Confidential Information generally should not be conducted in
restroom, break rooms, or other places where such conversations might be overheard.
MAINTENANCE & RELEASE OF CLIENT FILES {ref: 17a-20-21}
Client records are the property of the Child Guidance Center. In 2013, The Center partnered
with Qualifacts, Inc. and transitioned from paper medical records to a cloud-based, HIPAA
compliant Electronic Health Record System known as CareLogic.
During the Center’s business hours, access to closed / archived case files is restricted to
professional staff, graduate interns and operations personnel (locked 24/7). The release of
clinical materials to other professionals or service-providing institutions is controlled by the
client through the use of written consent forms that specify individuals and/or facilities. These
releases can be retracted by the client at any time and have an automatic expiration of one
year from the date of issue. All such materials are marked confidential, which prohibits the
distribution of reports beyond the facility to which it was released. All records are maintained
by the Center for a period of seven years subsequent to the termination of a client’s
involvement with this agency, after which files are destroyed by shredding.
Parents and guardians are entitled to receive upon written request, reports and information
concerning their child. This is subject to the provision that records will not be released if in the
opinions of the Child Guidance Center, the release to the parent or guardian of such reports
and information would have a harmful effect on the child.

The Center reserves the right to evaluate whether or not such a release would represent a risk
to the health, wellbeing, and/or welfare of the child. The Center will not release to a parent or
guardian of a child any information concerning third parties, which have been received by the
Center and comprise part of the child’s chart. Other limitations included psychotherapy notes,
names of individuals other than the client and any information concerning the client if it’s
determined that access is likely to endanger the client.
All requests for information should be made in writing and include a copy of the Release of
Information. The Center will respond no later than 30 days after receipt of the request (if the
request is denied or delayed, explanation will be provided). Information released (to whom,
why, what, when) will be logged in the HIPAA binder maintained by Administrative Staff.
DULY AUTHORIZED PERSONNEL - ACCESS TO CLIENT RECORDS {ref: 17a-20-37}
The Child Guidance Center of Mid-Fairfield County abides by the HIPAA (Health Insurance
Portability and Accounting Act) rules and guidelines regarding the maintenance of client
records.
• The identity and authority of an individual must be verified before disclosing
confidential PHI (personal health information).
• Day-to-day access to client records is determined on a need-to-know-basis.
• Closed client records are stored on-site in locked archives.
• Records used during the day are returned to the locked areas by the close of business.
• The keys for both the locked archives are held by the Facilities Director.
The following groups are authorized to access client records and information:
• Administrative staff members
• Clinical staff members
Any other individuals requesting client information must be referred to the Center’s Clinical
Director or Compliance Officer.

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT PROGRAM
Household Information Sheet
This information is required in order to determine eligibility for assistance under a federally-assisted
program. The responses on this form will be used for eligibility decisions and statistical purposes only and
will otherwise be held strictly confidential. PLEASE ANSWER ALL QUESTIONS.
Name of Beneficiary of CDBG-funded Activity:
Name of Head of Household:
Street Address (No P.O. Boxes):
Head of Household’s Age:

[ ] Under 62 years [ ] Over 62 years

Number of persons in household, including head of household:
Age youngest person in household:

Years old

Gender of Head of Household:

[

] Male

[

] Female

IS HEAD OF HOUSEHOLD HANDICAPPED?

[

] Yes

[

] No

**If yes, please note type of disability:
ETHNICITY AND RACE OF HEAD OF
HOUSEHOLD:

Race:
[

] Black

[

Ethnicity:

[

] Asian

[ ] Other ____________

[

] Native Hawaiian/Pacific Islander

[

] American Indian/Alaskan Native

[ ] Latino/a
[ ] Non-Latino/a

] White

Annual Household Income
Please list gross annual income and source of income for all persons living in the household who are over
the age of 18 and not in school.
Source of Income

Annual Income

(Employer, Agency, Public Assistance or Individual Who Pays Member of Household)

CERTIFICATIONS: I hereby certify that the information on this form is complete and correct to the best of
knowledge. I also hereby authorize the Redevelopment Agency of the City of Norwalk to verify any and all
income information provided on this form.
Signature, Head of Household:
Office Use Only
INCOME CATEGORY:

[

] Extremely Low Income

Date:
[

] Low Income

[

] Moderate Income

[

] Over Income

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS

Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Norwalk Senior Center, Inc.
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information:
Beatrix Lane, Executive Director
Norwalk Senior Center, 11 Allen Road, Norwalk CT 06851
blane@norwalksc.org
203-847-3115 Ext. 103
Type of Organization: Non-Profit 501 c (3) Private Organization
Applicant Mailing Address: 11 Allen Road, Norwalk CT 06851
Project Location Address: 11 Allen Road, Norwalk CT 06851
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only):

Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Beatrix Lane
Title: Executive Director
Phone #: 203-847-3115 Ext. 103
Email Address: blane@norwalksc.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: Meals on Wheels Program
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
We deliver fresh & frozen meals directly to the homes of people of all ages living in Norwalk CT who are
not able to shop for or prepare meals themselves due to: disability, frailty, recovery from an illness/injury
or quarantine.
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

Beatrix Lane, Executive Director, Beatrix Lane

October 23, 2020

Name, Title & Signature

Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
- Page 4 of 20 -
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PART 1.

CDBG-CV Application

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
The Norwalk Senior Center (NSC) is an independent non-profit organization which promotes successful
aging for persons aged 55 and older residing in Norwalk CT. NSC enriches and improves the quality of life
for seniors by offering a wide range of activities, programs and services to meet the diverse, individual
needs and interests of seniors as they age. The goal is to help seniors maintain optimal mental and
physical health, financial security and a safe living environment. Current active membership is 1,500
seniors but the Center serves all 20,000+ seniors living in Norwalk whether they are members or not. The
strength of the Center lies with its people; 1/caring staff members watch for & respond to small changes
which indicate a need for more guidance, services or support for the elder and their family members and
2/ the army of over 250 volunteers who provide their time delivering meals, answering phones at the
front desk, teaching technical device classes and so much more. NSC operates two locations, one at 11
Allen Road and one in the heart of SONO at 92 Cedar Street. At Norwalk Senior Center South, 81% of the
seniors that we serve are poor and 84% are minority.
Our organization has extensive experience in carrying out federally funded projects. Examples of facility
projects at 11 Allen Road (a city-owned building and a former elementary school) include: flooring
replacement, HVAC replacement, kitchen & restroom renovations secured through Community
Development Block Grant funding made possible by HUD over the past 20 years. Also, two consecutive
years of a service project, Elder Abuse Prevention Training which was specially designed for caregivers in
2014 & 2015.

2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
Outreach and Transportation are the “core” programs of our organization.
Meals on Wheels is a support program within our Outreach services.

3.
A.
B.
C.
D.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

E.

F.
G.
H.

CDBG-CV Application

If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
 YES
 NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
 YES
 NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
 YES
 NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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CDBG-CV Application

PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
Our Meals on Wheels Program typically serves sixty to 80 participants at any given time with nutritious food brought right to
the participants’ home in Norwalk CT. We are able to accommodate persons who have strict dietary restrictions (some
examples include: low salt, diabetic, renal, soft & chopped). A lunch & dinner meal pack costs $6.47 each. There are no age
or membership requirements.
Often, meal balances go unpaid if the participant relocates or for any number of other reasons.
We have recently started to request income information on our intake materials. We can share that oftentimes participant
credit cards are declined, checks bounce due to insufficient funds, or family members forget to pay as promised due to
financial hardships they experience themselves.
Since 1994, most participants of NSC’s Meals on Wheels Program are elderly (over 85+ years), poor, live alone and are
members of minority groups. They are also more likely to have health and functional limitations which place them at
nutritional risk. Most are home-bound with little access to their community. Our staff and volunteers provide not only meal
delivery to cover 7 days of food per week, but also a friendly visit and safety check too. If an elder does not open the door
for a scheduled delivery, we will call the elder’s emergency contact to follow up.
Despite the COVID-19 outbreak in March of 2020, our Meals on Wheels Program continued & continues to carry on the
essential service of delivering food to the homebound and people who are in quarantine from the Corona Virus.
When our regular team of (mostly senior) volunteer drivers needed to step back from their usual deliveries due to the fact
they are classified by the CDC as a particularly vulnerable population related to the virus, we collaborated with Norwalk’s
Emergency Response Team Volunteers led by Donna Schlegel. Teachers and college students also stepped up and wanted to
help.
We provided the new volunteers with: personal protective equipment, hand sanitizer, supervision, training, and coordinated
route sheets during the ongoing pandemic. Volunteers are careful to ring the door-bell or knock on Meals on Wheels’
participants front doors, then practice social distancing by standing back at least 6 feet when greeting each other.
Volunteers perform a safety & wellness check by asking if the participant needs anything besides food. The most frequent
request from participants has been toilet paper which is promptly provided.
The activity directly meets the objective of responding to the COVID-19 outbreak because staff and volunteers have &
continue to deliver meals directly to homebound persons ,regardless of age, who could not leave the house due to:
disability, recovery from illness (including COVID-19)/injury, frailty or quarantine.
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2.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
 Public service activity
 Rehabilitation activity
 New construction activity
 Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
 Other (explain)

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
 New “core” program
 Expansion of existing “core” program
 Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
 New “support” program
 Expansion of existing “support” program
 Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
 Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

 YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

# 80
 Persons
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6.

7.

CDBG-CV Application

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

# 80

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

# 80

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.






Name

Address

Income

Other

8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed
project/activity? Check more than one box, if necessary).
Note that the organization must be able to prove the income
eligibility of beneficiaries.

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.


Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: 



Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size
records documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.





(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of
which, on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or
- Page 9 of 20 -
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considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
We requested funding from the Campbell Soup Foundation & Meals on Wheels America for support
of our Meals on Wheels Program.
We applied for the Paycheck Protection Program and were approved for a loan of $124,000.

Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X
yes
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.

2.

If yes, what funding source?

Amount
Requested

Meals on Wheels America

$2,000

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

$2,000

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.
The total cost of the Meals on Wheels Program is $110,400 per year.
Please find a copy of the budget attached for your review.

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
Our bookkeeper maintains accurate documentation of all funds received and expended. Our Board
Treasurer reviews the bookkeeping on a monthly basis and reports to the Board of Directors. Our
finance committee reviews all financial reports on a quarterly basis. An independent annual audit is
performed by a highly experienced CPA; recommendations made by the CPA are reviewed by the
Board and carried out by upper management in a timely fashion.
Please find the latest financial reports attached for your review.
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4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
Support of our proposed project, Meals on Wheels, would be applied to the additional personnel
time necessary to coordinate, equip, train & supervise the new army of volunteers who stepped up to
deliver the meals to participants during the outbreak of COVID-19 and through to the conclusion. The
personnel time included nights, evenings& weekends ($20,000). Support would also reimburse costs
to respond to folks who had an inability to pay for the meals ($3,000).
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The Meals on Wheels Program is an on-going program since 1994.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
We received a Paycheck Protection Program loan of $124,000.
The loan allowed us to maintain our staffing levels (and prevent layoffs).

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:

The Meals on Wheels Program provides food delivery to respond to homebound folks who are in
quarantine or are otherwise being treated for an infectious disease (such as COVID-19).

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee

- Page 13 of 20 -

 YES

 NO

 YES

 NO

 YES

 NO

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 5.
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ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
1
3
Full-Time Staff
40
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
Jane Wenk, Meals on Wheels Program Manager. Responsible for conducting intakes, ordering
meals, coordinating delivery routes & volunteers.
Eva Beau-Span, Outreach Director. Coordinates Meals on Wheels Program in the event Jane Wenk
is absent.
Amy Nassef, Administrative Assistant. Substitutes for Eva Beau-Span in the event Jane Wenk is
absent.
Anthony Tabb, Bookkeeper. Responsible for opening the facility at 11 Allen Road, answering
questions from volunteer drivers, and providing PPE to staff and volunteers.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
Not applicable; we have a volunteer board of directors.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE:
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020

Vacancies?

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk?
c. How are the board members chosen?
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation?
If so, how often is training provided?
e. How long is a term?
PART 6.

yes

no

How many consecutive terms may be served?

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
X yes
no
If yes, please explain.

- Page 14 of 20 -
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We collaborate with Catholic Charities, a faith-based organization based in Stamford which provides
home-delivered meals free of charge. When/if NSC receives a referral for Meals on Wheels for
someone who cannot afford to pay for the cost of the meals, we refer them to Catholic Charities.
During the pandemic however, Catholic Charities stopped accepting new participants during the
lockdown (they had a shortage of drivers, and were over-capacity related to participants). We
accepted new participants into our Meals on Wheels Program and saw an increase in demand. We
also coordinate with the Southwestern CT Agency on Aging which subsidizes 30% of the participants
of our Meals on Wheels Program.

2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
There is no other non-profit or government agency that we know of which provides home-delivered fresh
and frozen meals in Norwalk. Person to Person is a non-profit organization which has a food pantry and
recently developed delivery, however, the food is delivered only once per week and may not suit people
with dietary restrictions.
There is a for-profit business, called Mom’s Meals, which mails frozen meals to recipients. Such service
lacks the daily safety check & friendly visit which our service provides.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?

Abilis/Ability Beyond/STAR

Meals on Wheels Volunteer Drivers

Fairfield County’s Community Foundation

Assist with referrals for Senior Housing Assistance Fund

Family & Children’s Agency

Exchange Referrals, collaborate on transportation

Norwalk Transit

Advertise services, share referrals

Senior Services Coordinating Council

NSC provides transportation for visitors

Norwalk Hospital

Senior Care Team collaboration, educational programming

Norwalk Public Library

Programming (Book Club)

Norwalk Housing Authority

NSC provides benefit assistance, translation & hosts tenant
association meetings
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME:
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) (X )
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
Not applicable

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title

Not applicable

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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Norwalk Senior Center
Meals on Wheels Expenses - Calendar Year 2020

Project
Budget
Request
2020_2021 2020_2021 Variance

Variance
Pct.

Expenses
Leased Equipment
Bank Service Charges
Bad Debt Expense (Write Off Uncollectible Accounts)
Dues and Subscriptions

939
274
4,089
175

150
3,000

789.37
0
1088.54
175

15.97%
0.00%
73.38%
0.00%

Insurance
General Insurance
Workers' Comp Insurance

3,689
1,977

1,500
1,000

2188.52
977.01

40.67%
50.58%

612
200
1,606
605
-

150
50
600
300

461.81
150
1005.91
305

24.52%
25.00%
37.36%
49.59%

660
78,172
6,314
549

400

260
0

60.61%

20,000
1,200
250

58172.43
5114.43
298.62

25.58%
19.00%
45.57%

7,786
1,630
430

1,000

6786.24
1630
430

12.84%
0.00%
0.00%

345
348
110,400

200
200
30,000

145
148
80,400

57.97%
57.47%
27.17%

Maintenance & Repairs
Maintenance
Repairs/Contracts
Office Expense
Postage and Delivery
Professional Fees
Computer Services & Training
Accounting
Consulting
Payroll Expense
Salaries & Wages
Payroll Taxes
Payroll Services
Fringe Benefits
Group Insurance
403 (b) Employer Contributions
Telephone
Transportation (2005 Subaru)
Fuel
Repairs & Maintenance
Total Expenses

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency
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NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS
Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Person-to-Person, Inc. (P2P)
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Nancy Coughlin
Type of Organization: Human Service
Applicant Mailing Address: 1864 Post Rd.
Darien, CT 06820
Project Location Address: 76 South Main St.
Norwalk, CT 06854

1864 Post Rd.
Darien, CT 06820

Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only):
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Nancy Coughlin
Title: CEO
Phone #: (203) 621-0680
Email Address: NancyCoughlin@p2phelps.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name: P2P Emergency Assistance Program COVID-19 Response
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
Since the onset of the COVID-19 crisis, demand for P2P’s Emergency Assistance Program has increased
significantly. Agency-wide, the number of requests for emergency financial assistance since March 2020
has increased by as much as 300% over the average number of requests in 2019 and the amount of
dollars distributed to clients in March 2020 is up 400% over the average monthly amount spent in 2019.
Food orders are increasing by approximately 50% on a monthly basis. Request: $30,000 for Emergency
Assistance.

I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

Name, Title & Signature: Nancy Coughlin, CEO

1

Date 10/23/20
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Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
PART 1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate if your
organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
For over 50 years, Person-to-Person (P2P) has been providing essential services to the
Stamford/Norwalk corridor. With sites in Norwalk, Darien and Stamford, the agency served
approximately 25,000 low- and very low- income individuals in 2019, providing food, casework
support, and emergency financial assistance, as well as summer camperships and college and
vocational scholarships. P2P has received CDBG funds in both Norwalk and Stamford in past years
to support programs providing financial assistance for low-income families to meet rent and security
deposit obligations and assist with utilities payments and arrears. Finally, the agency has received
support from the State of Connecticut to ensure low income families remain stably housed.
P2P has experienced serious and substantial increases in demand since mid-March, 2020, when
the public health measures taken to prevent the spread of COVID-19 began to be implemented.
Demand for food support has increased 50% and emergency financial assistance is at 300% over
typical levels. Service levels continue to increase significantly across all agency sites, as individuals
and families with few to no financial buffers suffer job losses and school closures.
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated.
P2P was founded as a human services organization to respond to the needs of the community
for basic resources: food, clothing, emergency financial assistance. In terms of both budget and
hours spent, the Emergency Assistance Program, comprised of food assistance, a clothing center
and emergency financial assistance, is the agency’s “core” program. In addition to the Emergency
Assistance Program, and intertwined with its goals, P2P helps address systemic opportunity gaps in
the region through both a summer Campership Program and a College Scholarship program,
helping low- and very low- income students afford programs they would otherwise not be able to
attend.
1.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
2

X YES
X YES

 NO
 NO

X YES
X YES
N/A

 NO
 NO

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

F.
G.
H.

CDBG-CV Application

X YES
 NO
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
(Include a copy*)
X NO
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
PART 2.

PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
SEE ATTACHED
2.
3.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
X Public service activity
 Rehabilitation activity
 New construction activity
 Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
Other (explain) Food Transportation Vehicle and Equipment Acquisition


X






4.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
New “core” program
Expansion of existing “core” program
Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
New “support” program
Expansion of existing “support” program
Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
Other (explain)

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?
Please note that P2P in Darien sits on church property, but the
3

 YES

X NO
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Norwalk Pantry that this application is for, does not. The
Norwalk Pantry is in a leased facility on Main Street in Norwalk.
5.

How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) will the proposed
project/activity serve? Indicate one as follows:

6.

How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) in Question 7,
above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

#
# _900
families
_
#

Week
Month

How many persons or families (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents and qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

#
#__900
families
#

Week
Month

X
X
X

Name
Address
Income
Other

7.

Year

Year

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: 
Limited Client Benefit. YES Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as
LMI persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached:
TEFAP Forms Required of Clients
(1)

Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size
records documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.
4
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(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51%
of considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE)
(for example, a job that will require working only half time
would count as only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only
if the season is long enough for the job to be considered as the
employee’s principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted
even if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off”
jobs) may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated
company that supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus
crisis (i.e Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary
basis.P

PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
Since the crisis began, P2P has received both solicited and unsolicited funding to help the
agency fund its response to COVID-19, particularly in terms of food relief and emergency
financial assistance provided to clients. P2P expects to provide $1.2M in financial assistance
to keep area residents safely housed in the coming fiscal year, approximately $480,000 of
which will support Norwalk residents, and spend more than $350,000 on food purchases.
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?
5
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Yes. See above.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?
2020 Covid Funding Rec’d To Date
Multiple individual donations
Cohen Foundation
Anonymous
Tudor Foundation
Norwalk CDBG
Community Fund of Darien
Campbell Soup Foundation

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

Wide range
$100,000
$100,000
$75,000
$61,667
$40,000
$38,500

What is the total cost of the proposed project? $3,050,965
• Darien, Stamford and Norwalk EA.
Attach a copy of the budget summary for the proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related
to the proposed project. If approved, you may be required to further itemize the costs.
Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must include copies of contractor and/or
architect/engineer estimate.
Demand for P2P’s Emergency Assistance program is reflected in the attached budget. In
addition to the increase in food program expense, all inclusive, P2P anticipates funding
approximately $1,200,000 in emergency financial assistance grants, primarily rental
assistance and utility support, for low income families negatively impacted by this COVID19 crisis. SEE ATTACHED.

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
P2P has strong fiscal management and has a Platinum-level Guidestar rating. The agency has
had an unqualified audit by the firm of Marks Paneth for the past three years and in addition
to tight controls at the staff level has a Board of Directors with strong financial backgrounds,
including risk management. P2P’s Chief Operating Officer has a background in banking and is
responsible for overseeing deposits, accounts payables and budgeting. The agency uses
Quickbooks accounting software and reports monthly to a Finance Committee of the Board of
Directors on the financial health of the organization. Invoices are reviewed and processed by
the Chief Operating Officer and payments made by the Chief Executive Officer. The agency
regularly reviews its financial policies both internally and with its auditors and remains
current on best practices in accounting and financial management.
6
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4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
Below.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
March 2020, ongoing
PART 4.

FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or
Paycheck Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
yes
please explain:

no If yes,

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care,
food delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or
manufacture medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes
no
If yes, please explain:

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee

PART 5.

ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY
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1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Norwalk EA
Professional
Support
Volunteer
3
1
Full-Time Staff
1
many
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
Nancy Coughlin, CEO: Nancy Coughlin joined Person-to-Person in June of 2019, bringing expertise
and experience in food insecurity, anti-poverty, and women's and children's issues. Prior to joining
P2P, Nancy served for seven years as the Executive Director at Neighbor to Neighbor, a Greenwichbased organization dedicated to providing food and clothing to low-income families and children.
Ms. Coughlin received a BA in psychology from the University of New Hampshire, and a J.D. from the
Suffolk University Law School.
Lauren Franciamore, Chief Programs Officer: Lauren Franciamore supervises the Person-to-Person
Casework staff and oversees the implementation and success of the agency’s Emergency Assistance
program. She joined Person-to-Person as Chief Programs Officer in 2017. Lauren is a Licensed Clinical
Social Worker (LCSW), who is also SIFI certified. She came to P2P from Community Centers, Inc., in
Greenwich, where she worked for 10 years, first as a social worker and then, since 2014, as its
Executive Director. Prior to Community Centers, Inc., Lauren served as a Residential Psychology
Specialist with the YAI/National Institute for People with Disabilities Network. Her earlier experience
includes service as a social work intern at Julia Dyckman Andrus Memorial Center, Prospect House
Homeless Shelter, and Family & Children’s Agency. Lauren received her Masters in Social Work from
New York University, and her Bachelor of Arts in Social Work from Sacred Heart University, where
she graduated Magna Cum Laude.
Greg Dobbs, Norwalk Site Manager
Steve Callow, Norwalk Assistant Site Manager
AJ Jackson, Norwalk Site Support Associate
Susana Alvarado, Norwalk Site Support Associate
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Person-to-Person, Inc. Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
Board list attached.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020

20

Vacancies? None

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk 1 Director Emeritus
c. How are the board members chosen?
8
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Agency By-laws call for a standing Governance Committee, which meets regularly throughout the
year to review qualified candidates for the Board of Directors. Candidates submit answers to a
questionnaire, are interviewed by members of the Governance Committee, and are presented to the
full Board of Directors for approval before being also approved by the Vestry of St. Luke’s Parish,
Darien. Upon approval by the Board of Directors, new Members sign a Conflict of Interest Disclosure
form.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation?
If so, how often is training provided? Annually
e. How long is a term? 2 years
PART 6.

X yes

How many consecutive terms may be served?

no

3

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services? X yes
no
If yes, please explain.
In Norwalk, the Senior Services Coordinating Council, Inc. is actively involved in making daily deliveries
from P2P’s Norwalk food pantry to Norwalk seniors. P2P is a critical partner with the City of Norwalk,
Commissioner of Social Services Lamond Daniels, and The Alliance (formerly ABCD) to coordinate home
delivery services for those affected by COVID-19. The Mayor of the City of Norwalk similarly has
worked to assist with food deliveries to residents in need and the First Congregational Church of
Norwalk, a long-time partner of P2P, was instrumental in launching the Door2Door program.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
For food assistance, Open Door, Homes with Hope, New Life Church, the Norwalk Senior Center,
the Salvation Army, St. Philip’s Church, the Norwalk Senior Services Coordinating Council and the
Norwalk Public Schools all help provide food to people in Norwalk who need it. Open Doors is a
homeless shelter whose food program is designed to provide congregate meals primarily to its
residents. Similarly, the Norwalk Public Schools meals program provides prepared meals to
support Norwalk’s children and senior meals programs do the same for the senior population. In
contrast, P2P provides groceries to ensure families and individuals have access to a nutritionallybalanced diet for three meals per day for each member of a family for seven days per week. P2P
is the only agency providing groceries that is open every weekday, and P2P’s home delivery
program is the most extensive delivery program in the city.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other
agencies serving the same target beneficiaries?
P2P has a strong history of collaboration. P2P’s skilled caseworkers evaluate client needs and make
referrals where appropriate to providers of mental health, domestic violence, parenting support and
9
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homelessness services, including the Human Services Council, DVCC, Community Health Centers, CIRI
and Child Guidance, among others. The Alliance (formerly ABCD) provides financial assistance for
utilities and rent, and has a history of collaborating with P2P to fully meet the needs of its clients.
Operation Fuel is a provider of utility assistance. P2P participates in collective impact groups such as
Norwalk Acts, Food, Fuel and Shelter, and the Department of Health Food Access Group.
PART 7.
DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS
To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Person-to-Person, Inc.
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) yes
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed. NONE
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project. NONE
NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
P2P is committed to getting help to all who need it during the pandemic. While the agency is
grateful for the community support it has received for this project, effects on the communities
we serve will be long lasting. Emergency Assistance is our core mission, and in terms of
sustainability, we are highly optimistic that continued support from the community will sustain
the program, as it has for the past 51 years.

10
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Project Description

P2P is proud of the fact that, without missing even a day, the agency has remained open
throughout the pandemic, and has been able to accommodate the changes needed to adapt to
COVID-19 without interruption to service delivery for clients. Our two major innovations were
the implementation of a home delivery option, "Door2Door", for clients who are unable to travel
to distribution sites due to COVID-19 restrictions, including seniors and families in quarantine,
as well as our rapid transition to prepackaged groceries, still including a full complement of
nutritious food, including fresh fruit, meat and vegetables, to make up three meals per day for
each family member for a full week. Caseworkers remain on-site. They have been working by
cell phone and socially distanced to the degree possible. The casework and site staff have been
on the front lines for clients from day one.

Significant increase in service numbers
Through the Emergency Assistance Program, P2P provides food, support and information
through a team of caseworkers and emergency financial assistance across all three of its sites
every weekday: Stamford, Norwalk and Darien. Door2Door home delivery is offered five days
per week and Saturday hours alternate between the Norwalk and Darien sites.
P2P is one of a very few private non-profit agencies with expertise in administering financial
assistance programs, and the only local non-governmental agency we know of where individuals
who are not prior existing clients can receive help. A person in need can literally walk in off the
street and receive assistance on the spot. Financial assistance has been a hallmark of the
program at P2P since inception in 1968. Caseworkers conduct initial interviews in person or by
telephone, with follow up support by phone where possible. They provide information, referrals,
support and guidance to assist clients as they attempt to navigate this crisis.
In response to the COVID-19 crisis, P2P’s Norwalk food program pivoted to a contactless,
curbside pick up model. Groceries are prepacked according to family size and delivered to
clients within social distancing guidelines. P2P remains committed to providing a full range of
nutritious food including fresh fruit, meat and vegetables. With the implementation of the
Door2Door program, for which the agency is grateful for Norwalk’s support, P2P has been able
to serve an average of 1,000 Norwalk households every month, and has already provided enough
groceries in 2020 to prepare over 500,000 home cooked meals
There has been growing substantial need: with the disruptions caused by the pandemic, the
number of requests for emergency financial assistance have increased by as much as 300% over
the average number of requests in 2019 and the amount of dollars distributed to clients is up

400% over the average monthly amount spent in 2019. Food orders have increased by 60%
since the start of the pandemic. .
In terms of emergency financial assistance statistics, the agency overall has distributed over
$500,000 in grants, primarily rental assistance, within the Stamford/Norwalk corridor.
Caseworkers in the Norwalk Pantry have distributed $162,059, more than double last year’s
grants. Almost 450 Norwalk households have used P2P’s clothing center, and 52 families have
used the agency’s diaper program.
P2P is proud of the agency’s role in the Norwalk social service network and to have provided
consistent service throughout the COVID-19 crisis. The agency makes and receives referrals on
a regular basis to many other agencies and programs.
The agency is very grateful for the support of the City of Norwalk and the Redevelopment
Agency in the face of the significant demands brought on by COVID; we literally could not do
the work we are doing now without your help.
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Darien, CT
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2020 Proforma Budget
Ordinary Income/Expense
Income
4000 · Donations and Grants
4001 · Donations
4005 · Grants
4020 · Government Grants
Total 4000 · Donations and Grants
4060 · St. Lukes Parish
4080 · Investment Income
4125 · Fundraising Special Events -P2P
4130 · OPUS Dues
4140 · Special Events - OPUS
4151 · Other Income
In-Kind Donations (food, clothing)

July 2020-June
2021 Budget

2,025,000
825,000
725,200
3,575,200
60,000
5,000
175,000
5,000
190,000
10,000
10,000,000

Total Income

14,020,200

Expense
5000 · Program Expense
5001 · Emergency Assistance
5010 · Emergency Financial Assistance Grants
5010 · CT State Grant
5050 · Food Programs
5051 · Toy Store
5051 · Program Supplies
In-Kind Donations (food, clothing)
Total 5001 · Emergency Assistance

987,500
212,500
360,000
10,000
20,000
10,000,000
11,590,000

5011 · Scholarship Grants
5011 · Scholarship Grants - Mentor Program
5011 · Scholarship Grants - Kashulon
5012 · Campership - Elementary School
Total 5000 · Program Expense
5100 · Compensation
5110 · Payroll & Benefits
5111 · Salary
5112 · Payroll Taxes
5113 · Benefits
Total 5110 · Payroll & Benefits
5118 · Other Staff Consultants
Total 5100 · Compensation
5200 · Fundraising (Special Events)
5210 · OPUS Expenses
5220 · Special Events Fundraising
Total 5200 · Fundraising (Special Events)

167,000
100,000
40,000
220,000
12,117,000

1,763,000
150,000
250,000
2,163,000
15,000
2,178,000
65,000
75,000
140,000

5300 · Other Expense
5301 · Payroll Expense
5305 · Credit Card/Online Donation Fee
5312 · Postage
5315 · Office Expenses
5317 · Insurance
5320 · Equipment Maint & Support
5324 ·Marketing
5340 · Occupancy
5341 · Rent
5342 · Utilities & Services
5345 · Telephone & Internet
5330 · Cleaning
5335 · Repair/Maintenance
Total 5340 · Occupancy
5350 · Vehicle Expense
5355 · Volunteers
5360 · Fundraising Expenses
5365 · Meeting Expense
5370 · Computer Supplies & Software
5375 · Education/Training
5376 · Consulting - Special
5380 · Audit
5385 · Miscellaneous
5390 · Depreciation
5391 · Amortization
Total 5300 · Other Expense
Total Expense

4,300
40,000
20,000
33,000
35,000
65,000
65,000
167,000
50,000
25,000
25,000
10,000
277,000
32,000
5,000
14,000
5,000
3,200
6,000
1,500
19,200
5,000
167,000
5,000
802,200
15,237,200

Net Ordinary Income
Plus JEEF Transfer
Plus Capital Expenses
Less Depreciation & Amortization (non-cash)
Net Cash Income/loss including JEEF, Capital and
Depreciation
Plus Surplus from 6/30/2020

Net Cash Income
Beginning Cash
Net Cash Income/Loss
Transfer from JEEF Account
PPP Loan
Ending Cash

(1,217,000)
160,000
29,300
172,000
(914,300)
1,207,714
293,414
3,038,623
(914,300)
(365,200)
1,759,123
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
To the Board of Directors of
Person-to-Person, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Person-to-Person, Inc. (a not-for-profit
organization, the “Organization”), which comprise the statements of financial position as of December 31,
2019 and 2018, and the related statements of activities and change in net assets, functional expenses, and
cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.
Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the assessment
of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making
those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
audit opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of Person-to-Person, Inc. as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, and the changes in its net assets
and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America.
Related Party Support
As explained in Note 11 of the financial statements, Person-to-Person, Inc. is a separate not-for-profit
organization founded by Saint Luke’s Episcopal Church of Darien, Connecticut (“St. Luke’s”). St. Luke’s
and Person-to-Person, Inc. are related parties under common control and share economic resources. Our
opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Report on Supplementary Information
Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole.
The Supplementary Information on pages 21-24 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is
not a required part of the financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management
and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to
prepare the financial statements. The information has been subjected to the auditing procedures
applied in the audits of the financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing
and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare
the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion,
the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

Purchase, NY
May 22, 2020

PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
ASSETS
2019
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans receivable from clients
Government grants receivable
Contributions receivable, current portion
Inventory
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Total Current Assets

$

1,256,261
29,333
119,175
153,970
50,536
1,609,275

2018

$

1,716,629
575
24,257
51,665
171,210
83,954
2,048,290

808,246

900,853

Security deposit

10,587

10,587

Contributions receivable, net of current portion and
discount of $3,795 in 2019 and $6,393 in 2018

21,205

43,607

8,542

-

3,542,479

3,114,001

Property and Equipment, net

Investments - Operating Reserve Fund
Investments - Janet Evans Endowment Fund

TOTAL ASSETS

$

6,000,334

$

6,117,338

$

75,497
28,684
104,181

$

87,845
13,984
101,829

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Agency liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Net Assets
Without donor restrictions:
Available for operations
Board-designated - Operating reserve
Board-designated - Endowment fund
Net investment in property and equipment
Total without donor restrictions
With donor restrictions
TOTAL NET ASSETS

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

33,856
560,617
241,578
808,246
1,644,297
4,251,856

646,533
203,181
900,853
1,750,567
4,264,942

5,896,153

6,015,509

6,000,334

$

6,117,338
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019

Without Donor
Restrictions
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions - cash
Contributions - goods
In-kind contributions - other
Government grants
Investment return

$

Special events income
Less: Costs of direct benefit to donors
Net revenues from special events

$

549,320
(158,243)
391,077

OPUS dues
Other revenue
Net assets released from restrictions:
Satisfaction of program and purpose restrictions

EXPENSES
Program Services
Emergency assistance
Scholarships
Camperships
Total Program Services
Supporting Services
Management and general
Fund development
Total Supporting Services
Total Expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

2,453,890
10,437,088
64,022
123,075
605,730
645,773
(158,243)
487,530
7,870
10,698

756,626

(756,626)

-

14,202,989

(13,086)

14,189,903

12,729,200
350,565
318,676
13,398,441

-

12,729,200
350,565
318,676
13,398,441

271,832
638,986
910,818

-

271,832
638,986
910,818

14,309,259

-

14,309,259

(13,086)

1,750,567

$

$

-

(106,270)

Net assets - beginning of year

84,775
562,312

Total

96,453
96,453

7,870
10,698

Total Public Support and Revenue

Net assets - end of year

2,369,115
10,437,088
64,022
123,075
43,418

With Donor
Restrictions

1,644,297

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

(119,356)

4,264,942

$

4,251,856

6,015,509

$

5,896,153
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018

Without Donor
Restrictions
PUBLIC SUPPORT AND REVENUE
Contributions - cash
Contributions - goods
In-kind contributions - other
Government grants
Investment return (loss)

$

Special events income
Less: Costs of direct benefit to donors
Net revenues from special events

1,235,396
10,049,192
56,234
142,462
(7,198)

With Donor
Restrictions

$

750,949
(222,308)
528,641

1,142,316
(159,879)

Total

$

266,232
266,232

8,296
6,449

2,377,712
10,049,192
56,234
142,462
(167,077)
1,017,181
(222,308)
794,873

OPUS dues
Other revenue
Net assets released from restrictions:
Satisfaction of program restrictions

1,695,438

(1,695,438)

-

Total Public Support and Revenue

13,714,910

(440,459)

13,274,451

EXPENSES
Program Services
Emergency assistance
Scholarships
Camperships
Total Program Services
Supporting Services
Management and general
Fund development
Total Supporting Services
Total Expenses

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS

-

12,122,786
346,159
364,141
12,833,086

211,470
659,274
870,744

-

211,470
659,274
870,744

13,703,830

-

13,703,830

(440,459)

1,524,470

Prior period adjustments - Note 15

1,750,567

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

6,444,888
-

(215,017)

1,739,487

$

(429,379)

4,920,418

215,017

Net assets - beginning of year, as restated

8,296
12,759

12,122,786
346,159
364,141
12,833,086

11,080

Net assets - beginning of year, as originally stated

Net assets - end of year

6,310

4,705,401

$

4,264,942

6,444,888

$

6,015,509
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
PROGRAM SERVICES
EMERGENCY
ASSISTANCE
Salaries
Payroll taxes
Benefits
Payroll and Related Expenditures

$

Clothing and food distributed
Grants and assistance
Food and supplies
Program supplies
Donated services
Occupancy
Office expenses
Insurance
Postage
Equipment maintenance and support
Computer supplies and software
Telephone
Vehicle expense
Volunteers and training
Audit
Communications
Consulting
Project consulting
Other
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Expenses
Less: direct benefits to donors recorded
on statement of activities

Total Functional Expenses

$

991,216
77,765
135,838
1,204,819

SCHOLARSHIPS
$

49,561
3,888
5,582
59,031

SUPPORTING SERVICES

CAMPERSHIPS
$

MANAGEMENT
FUND
AND GENERAL DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

66,081
5,184
5,582
76,847

$

1,106,858
86,837
147,002
1,340,697

$

115,642
9,072
9,304
134,018

$

429,527
33,697
29,773
492,997

DIRECT
BENEFIT TO
DONORS

TOTAL
$

545,169
42,769
39,077
627,015

10,454,328
335,514
137,188
23,151
64,022
191,164
23,355
1,603
66,019
1,952
21,609
28,269
13,085
5,494
10,600
3,683
143,345
12,729,200

282,520
21
1,966
1,128
85
2,811
203
222
289
73
675
67
1,474
350,565

223,256
2,093
853
859
2,318
230
237
211
9,736
200
267
1,569
318,676

10,454,328
841,290
137,188
23,172
64,022
195,223
25,336
2,547
71,148
2,385
22,068
28,269
13,585
15,303
11,475
4,017
146,388
13,398,441

6,504
1,179
28,085
187
2,448
107
735
368
18,150
147
74,892
134
4,878
271,832

21,347
11,193
51,509
8,218
9,517
2,063
1,265
3,844
1,555
15,248
2,249
9,588
8,393
638,986

21,347
17,697
52,688
28,085
8,405
11,965
2,170
2,000
3,844
1,923
18,150
15,395
2,249
74,892
9,722
13,271
910,818

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

12,729,200

$

350,565

$

318,676

$

13,398,441

$

271,832

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

638,986

$

910,818

$

-

TOTAL
FUNCTIONAL
EXPENSES
$

63,062
52,162
43,019
158,243

10,454,328
841,290
200,250
44,519
64,022
265,082
78,024
28,085
10,952
83,113
4,555
24,068
32,113
15,508
18,150
30,698
13,724
74,892
56,758
159,659
14,467,502

(158,243)

$

-

1,652,027
129,606
186,079
1,967,712

(158,243)

$

14,309,259
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENT OF FUNCTIONAL EXPENSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2018
PROGRAM SERVICES
EMERGENCY
ASSISTANCE
Salaries
Payroll taxes
Benefits
Payroll and Related Expenditures

$

Clothing and food distributed
Grants and assistance
Food and supplies
Program supplies
Donated services
Occupancy
Office expenses
Insurance
Postage
Equipment maintenance and support
Computer supplies and software
Telephone
Vehicle expense
Volunteers and training
Audit
Communications
Consulting
Project consulting
Other
Depreciation and Amortization
Total Expenses
Less: direct benefits to donors recorded
on statement of activities

Total Functional Expenses

$

864,428
65,135
115,742
1,045,305

SCHOLARSHIPS
$

68,258
5,403
9,292
82,953

SUPPORTING SERVICES

CAMPERSHIPS
$

MANAGEMENT
FUND
AND GENERAL DEVELOPMENT

TOTAL

80,000
6,333
10,890
97,223

$

1,012,686
76,871
135,924
1,225,481

$

143,905
12,307
20,126
176,338

$

372,783
31,882
52,136
456,801

TOTAL
$

516,688
44,189
72,262
633,139

10,084,797
282,729
122,783
29,856
56,234
174,472
34,316
1,281
65,431
1,012
15,591
20,566
16,789
19,851
8,295
3,602
2,741
137,135
12,122,786

251,703
1,939
1,734
62
3,829
195
757
227
116
350
541
1,753
346,159

239,201
1,939
1,125
2,093
2,971
203
891
267
15,276
825
322
1,805
364,141

10,084,797
773,633
122,783
29,856
56,234
178,350
37,175
3,436
72,231
1,410
17,239
20,566
17,283
35,243
9,470
3,602
3,604
140,693
12,833,086

5,818
1,177
75
2,497
54
913
273
17,400
140
1,854
205
4,726
211,470

38,419
9,694
48,112
8,128
8,897
2,775
4,121
391
3,798
31,783
17,293
20,168
8,894
659,274

38,419
15,512
49,289
8,203
11,394
2,829
5,034
391
4,071
17,400
31,923
17,293
1,854
20,373
13,620
870,744

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

364,141

$ 12,833,086

12,122,786

$

346,159

$

$

211,470

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

$

659,274

$

870,744

DIRECT

TOTAL

BENEFIT TO
DONORS

FUNCTIONAL
EXPENSES

$

$

116,169
67,800
38,339
222,308

(222,308)

$

-

1,529,374
121,060
208,186
1,858,620
10,084,797
773,633
238,952
68,275
56,234
261,662
86,464
11,639
83,625
4,239
22,273
20,957
21,354
17,400
67,166
26,763
5,456
62,316
154,313
13,926,138

(222,308)

$ 13,703,830
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
2019
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Change in Net Assets

$

(119,356)

2018

$

(429,379)

Adjustments to Reconcile Change in Net Assets
to Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities:
Realized and unrealized losses (gains) on investments, net
Depreciation and amortization
Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:
Loans receivable from clients
Government grants receivable
Contributions receivable
Prepaid expenses and other receivables
Inventory
Accounts payable, accrued expenses and agency liabilities
Due to Saint Luke's Parish
Total Adjustments

(472,158)
159,659

279,627
154,313

575
(5,076)
(45,108)
33,418
17,240
2,352
(309,098)

2,452
(16,744)
207,689
(32,578)
35,605
8,564
(2,056)
636,872

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Operating Activities

(428,454)

207,493

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Purchase of property and equipment

173,085
(137,947)
(67,052)

587,976
(653,281)
(240,501)

(31,914)

(305,806)

(460,368)

(98,313)

Net Cash Used by Investing Activities

NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents - end of year

1,716,629

$

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

1,256,261

1,814,942

$

1,716,629
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 1 − ORGANIZATION AND NATURE OF ACTIVITIES
Person-to-Person, Inc. (“Person-to-Person” or the “Organization”), a not-for-profit human services
organization, was established in 1968 by Saint Luke’s Episcopal Church in Darien, Connecticut (“St.
Luke’s”). Person-to-Person was incorporated under the Connecticut Nonstock Corporation Act as a
separate organization in 1994. St. Luke’s is the sole member of the Organization.
Person-to-Person is a volunteer-driven, community-supported agency which, through the sharing of goods
and talents, responds to individuals and families who lack the basic necessities or resources to improve
their lives. The Organization provides rapid response assistance to client emergencies, as well as access
to interconnected services that support its clients' journeys toward self-sufficiency. Person-to-Person offers
assistance through three key programs: emergency assistance, camperships and scholarships. The
emergency assistance program provides food, clothing, financial assistance, including eviction mediation,
and crisis counseling to residents of Lower Fairfield County, Connecticut. More than 400 children attended
summer day camps in 2019 through the campership program. The scholarship program provides financial
assistance for local students from low-income households.
In 2018, Person-to-Person launched the P2P on Wheels program. The purpose of the program is to take
food and financial assistance into five low-income neighborhoods four days a week. In late 2017, Personto-Person purchased and took possession of a 32’ truck for P2P On Wheels, and in early 2018 launched
its new program.
The Organization receives most of its support from the general public through cash and in-kind
contributions. OPUS, a fundraising arm of Person-to-Person, was established to raise funds and public
awareness for Person-to-Person. OPUS has dues-paying members who engage primarily in special event
fundraising on behalf of Person-to-Person. OPUS is not a separate legal entity, but rather a part of Personto-Person.
NOTE 2 − SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Accounting Basis
Person-to-Person’s financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting and
presented in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) guidance for not-for-profit
organizations. Under that guidance, the Organization is required to report information regarding its net
assets and revenues, gains, and losses based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions.
Accordingly, the net assets of the Organization and changes therein are classified and reported as follows:
•

Without donor restrictions – Net assets that are not subject to explicit donor-imposed
stipulations, including board designated funds functioning as endowment.

•

With donor restrictions – Net assets subject to donor-imposed stipulations, including stipulations
that will be met either by actions of the Organization or the passage of time, stipulations that
they be held in perpetuity by the Organization, and net assets from endowments not yet
appropriated for spending. When time and purpose restrictions expire, net assets with donor
restrictions are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions.

Revenue Recognition
Contributions: Person-to-Person reports gifts of cash and other assets as restricted support if they are
received with donor stipulations that limit the use of the donated assets. When a donor restriction expires,
a stipulated time restriction ends or a purpose restriction is accomplished, net assets with donor restrictions
are reclassified to net assets without donor restrictions and reported in the Statements of Activities and
Change in Net Assets as net assets released from restrictions.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 2 − SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue Recognition (Continued)
Promises to Give: Unconditional promises to give are recognized as revenue in the period received and
recorded as assets. Conditional promises to give are recognized when the conditions on which they depend
are substantially met.
Government Grants: The Organization has certain grants that are based on expenditure-driven grant
revenue (i.e., the Organization must first incur the expenditure as a basis for reimbursement) that is
recognized when the related expenditure is incurred.
Non-cash Contributions: The Organization receives a substantial amount of volunteer services in carrying
out its programs and activities. Volunteers perform various administrative and fundraising functions.
However, only certain amounts have been reflected in the financial statements for those services meeting
the criteria for recognition. Contributed services are not recognized unless the donated services create or
enhance non-financial assets or require specialized skills that would typically be purchased if not donated.
In-kind contributions are measured at the fair value of the assets transferred to Person-to-Person or the
liabilities cancelled or settled. The Organization received and recognized contributed services from
specialized professionals for its emergency assistance programs and administrative functions of $64,022
and $56,234 during the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. The programs run by the
Organization require the dedication and resources of over 4,000 volunteers who provided approximately
70,000 hours of service assisting clients, stocking the food pantry, sorting clothing, packing bags and boxes
for clients, and other tasks.
Government Grants and Contributions Receivables
Management reviews the balances of government grants and contributions receivable on a regular basis
and expects all amounts to be fully collectible; therefore, there is no allowance for doubtful accounts.
Inventory
Inventory consists of clothing, food, household items and supplies. Items are valued based on unit values
published by The Salvation Army, Feeding America, and Second Harvest, and other available data.
Investments
Person-to-Person follows FASB guidance on fair value, which, among other things, defines fair value,
establishes a hierarchal framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosure about fair value
measurements. Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer
a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value
hierarchy is organized into three levels based upon the assumptions (referred to as “inputs”) used in pricing
the asset or liability, as follows:
Level 1: Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the
reporting entity has the ability to access at the measurement date.

Level 2: Inputs are other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly or indirectly, with fair value being determined through the use of models or other
valuation methodologies.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 2 − SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Investments (Continued)
Level 3: Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability and are used to the extent that observable inputs
do not exist. Level 3 inputs require significant management judgment and estimation. Factors considered
include the purchase cost, prices of recent private placements of the same issuer, liquidity of the
investment, changes in financial condition of the issuer, and valuations of similar companies.
The Organization values all of its investments using Level 1 inputs. For equity funds and fixed income
funds, the inputs are valued at the closing price reported on the active market on which the individual
securities are traded. For mutual funds, the inputs are valued at the net asset value of shares held at year
end.
The methods described above may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net
realizable value or reflective of future values. Furthermore, while the Organization believes its valuation
methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of different methodologies
or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could result in a different fair
value measurement at the reporting date. The Organization reports investment income and gains and
losses as increases or decreases in net assets without donor restrictions in the Statements of Activities and
Change in Net Assets unless a donor or law restricts their use.
Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are carried at cost, if purchased, or at fair values on dates donated, if contributed.
Person-to-Person reports gifts of property and equipment as net assets without donor restrictions unless
explicit donor stipulations specify how the donated assets must be used. Gifts of long-lived assets with
explicit restrictions that specify how the assets are to be used are reported as donor restricted support.
Purchases over $500 with a useful life greater than one year are capitalized. Repairs and maintenance of
existing assets are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation is determined by use of the straight-line method over the following estimated useful lives or
lease term:
Leasehold improvements
Equipment and furnishings
Vehicles

5 - 20 years
3 - 15 years
5 - 6 years

Uncertainty in Income Taxes
The Organization evaluates all significant tax positions as required by accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America. As of December 31, 2019, the Organization does not believe
that it has taken any positions that would require recording of any additional tax liability nor does it believe
that there are any unrealized tax benefits that would either increase or decrease within the next year.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 2 − SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Advertising
Person-to-Person expenses the cost of advertising when the advertising takes place. Amounts spent during
the year ended December 31, 2018 were $9,900. There were no advertising costs in 2019.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities
and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. The Organization regularly assesses these
estimates and, while actual results may differ from these estimates, management believes that material
changes will not occur in the near term.
Cash Equivalents
For financial statement purposes, the Organization considers all highly liquid investments with an initial
maturity of less than three months when purchased to be cash equivalents.
Functional Expenses
The costs of providing various programs and other activities have been summarized on a functional basis
in the accompanying statements of activities and functional expenses. The financial statements report
certain categories of expenses that are attributed to more than one program or supporting function.
Therefore, expenses require allocation on a reasonable basis that is consistently applied. The expenses
that are allocated include occupancy, depreciation, and amortization, which are allocated on a square
footage basis, as well as salaries and wages, benefits, payroll taxes, professional services, office expenses,
information technology, interest, insurance, and other, which are allocated on the basis of estimates of time
and effort. The direct costs of special events include expenses for the benefit of the donors.
Reclassification
Certain reclassifications were made to the presentation of the 2018 financial statements to conform to the
2019 financial statement presentation of functional expenses.
Recent Authoritative Pronouncements
In 2018, the Organization adopted the provisions of FASB Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2016-14,
“Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958) – Presentation of Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities” and
ASU 2016-18 “Statement of Cash Flows.” ASU 2016-14 provided for a number of changes including the
presentation of two classes of net assets and enhanced disclosure of liquid resources and expense
allocation. ASU 2016-18 required that restricted cash be included with cash and cash equivalents on the
accompanying statement of cash flows. These changes had no impact on the change in net assets. The
unrestricted net asset class has been renamed net assets without donor restrictions. The temporarily and
permanently restricted net assets have been renamed to net assets with donor restrictions.
FASB ASU 2018-08 “Clarifying the Scope and the Accounting Guidance for Contributions Received and
Contributions Made”, was adopted for the year ended December 31, 2019. ASU 2018-08 aims to assist
entities in evaluating whether contributions should be accounted for as contributions or exchange
transactions and determination as to whether a contribution is conditional. The adoption of this standard
had no significant impact on the financial statements.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 2 − SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
Recent Authoritative Pronouncements (continued)
The FASB has issued standards that the Organization must consider for adoption over the next year. Those
standards include the following: “Leases,” effective for the year ended December 31, 2020, which aims to
increase transparency and comparability among organizations by recognizing lease assets and lease
liabilities on the statement of financial position and disclosing key information about leasing arrangements.
The Organization is currently evaluating the impact of the adoption of these standards on its financial
statements.
NOTE 3 − LIQUIDITY AND AVAILABILITY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS
The Organization regularly monitors liquidity required to meet its operating needs, while also striving to
maximize the investment of its available funds. The Organization has various sources of liquidity at its
disposal, including cash and cash equivalents, and marketable equity securities. For purposes of analyzing
resources available to meet general expenditures over a 12-month period, the Organization considers all
expenditures related to its ongoing activities of emergency assistance, campership, and scholarship as well
as services undertaken to support those activities to be general expenditures. In addition to financial assets
available to meet general expenditures over the next 12 months, the Organization anticipates collecting
sufficient revenue to cover general expenditures not covered by donor-restricted resources.
As of December 31, 2019, the Organization’s financial assets were as follows:
Cash and cash equivalents
Investments
Government grants receivable
Contributions receivable
Miscellaneous receivables

$ 1,256,261
3,551,021
100,538
69,175
4,270

Subtotal financial assets at year end

4,981,265

Less: amounts with limits on usage
Spendable net assets with donor restrictions
Endowed investments
Total financial assets available for general use within one year

(950,955)
(3,362,479)
$

667,831

As part of the Organization’s liquidity management plan, the Organization invests cash in excess of daily
requirements in short-term investments, CDs, and money market funds. Occasionally, the Board designates
a portion of any operating surplus to its operating reserve, which was $560,617 as of December 31, 2019.
This reserve, established by the Board of Directors, may be drawn upon, if necessary, to meet unexpected
liquidity needs or in the event of financial distress.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 4 – CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE
Contributions receivable are expected to be fully collectible and consist of the following as of December 31:

Due in less than one year
Due in two to five years
Less: discount to present value, at 5.5%
Total Contributions Receivable

2019

2018

$ 119,175
25,000
(3,795)

$ 51,665
50,000
(6,393)

$ 140,380

$ 95,272

2019

2018

NOTE 5 − PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following at December 31:

Equipment and software
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements
Vehicles

Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization
Total Property and Equipment, net

$

333,798
110,580
987,791
311,764
1,743,933

$

(935,687)
$ 808,246

329,753
110,580
962,356
274,192
1,676,881
(776,028)

$

900,853

NOTE 6 – INVESTMENTS
The following table sets forth, within Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy, the Organization’s assets at fair
value at December 31:

Equity funds
Fixed income funds
Total Investments, at Fair Value

2019

2018

$ 2,408,628
1,142,393

$ 1,953,254
1,160,747

$ 3,551,021

$ 3,114,001

Investment activity, including interest earned on cash accounts, is summarized as follows for the years
ended December 31:
2019
2018
Interest and dividend income
Realized gains (losses)
Unrealized gains (losses)
Investment fees
Total Investment Return (Loss)

$ 146,657
8,073
464,085
(13,085)

$ 126,022
37,905
(317,532)
(13,472)

$ 605,730

$ (167,077)
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 6 – INVESTMENTS (Continued)
Investments are managed in accordance with board-approved policies. The policies, which also permit a
portion of the Janet Evans Endowment Fund (see Note 8) to be spent annually, are designed to diversify
the assets in the portfolio and manage them in a prudent manner, to preserve the value of the portfolio in
real terms (after inflation), and to generate a reliable flow of earnings annually for support.
NOTE 7 − RESTRICTIONS AND DESIGNATIONS OF NET ASSETS
Net assets with donor restrictions were available for the following purposes at December 31:

Janet Evans Endowment Fund assets with restrictions
Food programs
P2P on Wheels
Baby Basics
Emergency assistance
Capital campaign
Campership
Scholarship
Technology, strategic planning and training
Capital improvements
Other Programs:
Holiday toy store
Volunteer program
Total Net Assets with Donor Restrictions

2019

2018

$ 3,300,901
91,634
107,488
2,273
211,880
52,311
177,027
229,082
20,917
54,300

$ 2,910,820
94,443
363,069
7,342
481,815
52,311
158,043
178,553
18,546
-

2,543
1,500

-

$ 4,251,856

$ 4,264,942

Net assets released from donor restrictions and disbursed during the years ended December 31 were as
follows:
2018

2019
Janet Evans Endowment Fund appropriations
Food programs
P2P on Wheels
Baby Basics
Emergency assistance
Camperships
Scholarships
Technology, strategic planning, and training
Other Programs:
Holiday toy store

$ 172,231
36,181
255,581
5,069
269,935
17,629

$

172,607
82,713
596,318
8,320
295,049
239,201
251,703
39,059

-

10,468

Total Net Assets Released from Restrictions

$ 756,626

$ 1,695,438
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 8 − JANET EVANS ENDOWMENT FUND
In 2003, Person-to-Person established the Janet Evans Endowment Fund (the “Fund”) to honor the
retirement of former Executive Director Janet Evans. Contributions to the Fund are invested as directed by
an endowment committee appointed by the Board of Directors. Withdrawals from the Fund in a given year,
which may be used at the discretion of the board of directors, are limited to 6% of the average year end
market value for the three preceding calendar years.
The Organization’s endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by
the Board of Directors to function as endowments. As required by generally accepted accounting principles,
net assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Directors to
function as endowments, are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed
restrictions.
Changes in endowment net assets during the years ended December 31 are as follows:

Net assets, January 1, 2018

Without Donor
Restrictions

With Donor
Restrictions

Total

$

$ 3,133,306

$ 3,348,323

215,017

Investment income
Net asset depreciation
Contributions
Investment fees
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure

8,114
(19,085)
(865)
-

Net assets, December 31, 2018

203,181

Investment income
Net asset appreciation
Contributions
Investment fees
Appropriation of endowment assets for expenditure
Net assets, December 31, 2019

8,521
30,730
(854)
$

241,578

118,235
(278,114)
110,000
(12,607)
(160,000)
2,910,820
122,067
440,245
(12,231)
(160,000)
$ 3,300,901

126,349
(297,199)
110,000
(13,472)
(160,000)
3,114,001
130,588
470,975
(13,085)
(160,000)
$ 3,542,479

The Organization’s Board of Directors, as a matter of policy, requires the preservation of the fair value of
the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor stipulations
to the contrary. The donor-restricted endowment fund is classified as net assets with donor restrictions
until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the
standard of prudence prescribed by the State of Connecticut’s Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional
Funds Act. In accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, any
deterioration of the fair value of assets associated with donor restricted endowment funds that fall below
the level the donor requires the Organization to retain in perpetuity is to be reported in net assets with donor
restrictions. The deficiencies may result from unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred in the economy
as a whole that may have affected the donor restricted endowment fund where the fair value of the donor
restricted endowment fund fell below the amount that is required to be held in perpetuity. The Organization
has not incurred such deficiencies in its endowment funds as of December 31, 2019.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 8 − JANET EVANS ENDOWMENT FUND (Continued)
The Organization currently has an investment policy that provides for an asset allocation that is designed
to meet the goals of the Organization based on a number of factors including the projected spending needs,
the maintenance of sufficient liquidity and the return objectives and risk tolerances of the Organization. The
asset allocation plan provides for diversification of assets in an effort to maximize the investment return and
manage risk of the Organization consistent with market conditions.
The Organization considers the mission of the Organization and the donor-restricted fund, and the nature
of the restrictions and financial needs of the Organization in making a determination to accept donorrestricted funds into the endowment fund.
NOTE 9 − IN-KIND CONTRIBUTIONS
During 2019 and 2018, Person-to-Person recognized donated clothing, food, and supplies of $10,437,088
and $10,049,192, respectively, for use in Person-to-Person’s programs. The values of clothing, furniture,
household items, and other goods are estimated by management based on unit values published by The
Salvation Army and other available data. From time to time, management reviews Person-to-Person’s
valuation methodology for food items. Such a review was conducted in 2019 based upon data published
by Feeding America. The weight of the typical bag of groceries received is ten pounds. Food contributions
for 2019 and 2018 have been reported based upon these benchmarks.
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, donated professional services recognized in the
financial statements totaled $64,022 and $56,234, respectively.
The Organization received the services of approximately 4,000 individual volunteers. Volunteer services
are not recognized in the Statements of Activities and Change in Net Assets because such services do not
involve specialized skills; however, they represent greater than 70,000 and 78,000 hours of service for the
years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Volunteers staff and run the Organization’s
numerous programs, projects, and events, as well as provide transportation services. The value of donated
volunteer services not recognized in the financial statements is approximately $1,999,133 and $2,078,151
for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively (based on the Independent Sector valuation
of Connecticut volunteer time at an hourly rate of $31.05 and $30.24 for the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively).
NOTE 10 − RETIREMENT PLAN
The Organization has a 403(b) Plan (“403(b) Plan”). Employees who are over 21 years of age and work
1,000 or more hours per year are eligible to participate in the 403(b) Plan on the first day of the month
coincident with or following the date that the employees satisfy the eligibility requirements. For those
employees who make a contribution of 2% or more to the 403(b) Plan, the Organization will make a 5%
contribution to the 403(b) Plan on their behalf. Employees who make a contribution of less than 2% are
not entitled to a contribution on their behalf from the Organization. Participating employees’ years of fulltime service prior to the adoption of the 403(b) Plan are counted toward the employees’ vesting schedule.
Retirement plan expense was $47,155 and $43,326 for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 11 − RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
An independent Board of Directors elected by St. Luke’s oversees the management and operation of
Person-to-Person. Person-to-Person occupies two buildings on St. Luke’s’ property in Darien, Connecticut,
which it uses for offices, a clothing distribution center and a food pantry, and also shares certain other
economic resources with St. Luke’s. In April 2010, Person-to-Person entered into an agreement to pay an
occupancy expense of $4,000 per month to Saint Luke’s. The agreement is on a month-to-month basis.
There was no payables balance at December 31, 2019 and 2018 for certain expenses paid for by St. Luke’s.
Saint Luke’s donated $70,500 and $65,500 to the Organization as part of the church annual outreach
program for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
NOTE 12 − COMMITMENTS
The Organization has a lease on a facility at 76 South Main Street in Norwalk, Connecticut which operates
as a food pantry. The lease is a five-year operating lease, commencing August 1, 2016 and expiring July
31, 2021, with escalations each year. Rent expense under the Norwalk lease for the years ended
December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $50,373 and $49,144, respectively.
In December 2017, the Organization entered into a ten-year operating lease agreement for warehouse
space in Stamford, Connecticut, with lease payments commencing in February 2018. This location houses
P2P on Wheels and serves as a food storage location for the entire Organization. Rent expense under the
Stamford lease for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 was $54,585 and $42,702, respectively.
The annual payment requirements under the lease agreement for the years subsequent to December 31,
2019 are:
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024
Thereafter

$ 85,113
64,871
35,176
36,055
36,956
119,818

Total

$ 377,989

NOTE 13 − CONCENTRATIONS
The Organization maintains its cash and cash equivalent balances at several financial institutions.
Concentrations of credit risk result primarily from cash on deposit at these financial institutions in excess of
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation (“FDIC”) limits. At times during the year, cash and cash equivalent
balances may be in excess of FDIC coverage. At December 31, 2019, the Organization’s uninsured cash
and cash equivalents balance totaled $238,169.
NOTE 14 − INCOME TAXES
The Organization is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue
Code. Contributions made to the Organization are qualified for the maximum tax deductions allowable
under the United States Internal Revenue Code.
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PERSON-TO-PERSON, INC.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019 AND 2018
NOTE 15 – PRIOR PERIOD ADJUSTMENT
Unrestricted net assets at the beginning of 2017 have been adjusted to properly allocate board designated
and donor restricted endowment assets that were not properly reflected in prior years. The new allocation
has no effect on the results of the current year’s activities; however, the cumulative effect decreases
beginning net assets with donor restrictions by $215,017 and increases net assets without donor restrictions
by $215,017.
NOTE 16 − SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
The Organization has evaluated subsequent events through May 22, 2020, the date the financial
statements were available to be issued.
Subsequent to December 31, 2019, the stock market experienced a significant decline in value. As of May
22, 2020, the Dow Jones industrial average declined 14.3% since December 31, 2019, and the S&P 500
declined 8.5%. During the same period it is estimated that the Organization’s investments declined by
13.5% or $478,000. The Organization will continue to monitor its investments as it has successfully done
in the past, but has no immediate plans to change its investment portfolio.
In March 2020, the World Health Organization declared the outbreak of a novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”)
as a pandemic, which continues to spread throughout the United States. The Organization could be
materially and adversely affected by the risks, or the public perception of the risks, related to an epidemic,
pandemic, outbreak, or other public health crisis, such as the recent outbreak of COVID-19. The ultimate
extent of the impact of any epidemic, pandemic or other health crisis on our business, financial condition
and results of operations will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be
predicted, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of such epidemic, pandemic
or other health crisis and actions taken to contain or prevent their further spread, among others.
Accordingly, we cannot predict the extent to which our financial condition and results of operations will be
affected.
On March 27, 2020, in response to COVID-19, the federal government passed the Coronavirus Aid, Relief,
and Economic Stability Act (“CARES Act”). Among many other provisions, to help businesses retain
employees, the CARES Act provides relief to qualifying businesses through a program called the Paycheck
Protection Program (“PPP”). Participating in the PPP enables the business to obtain a loan from the Small
Business Administration sector of the government. The term of the loan is two years and bears interest at
a fixed rate of 1% per annum. If the proceeds from the loan are used for specified purposes, some or all
of the loan can be forgiven, based on how much is spent in the eight week period immediately following
funding of the loan times a forgiveness factor that is based on employee headcount and amounts paid to
the Organization’s employees. The Organization applied and was approved for a $365,210 loan with its
primary lender, a small business loan authorized lender.
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SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION

Person-to-Person, Inc.
Income Distribution, without Investment Return
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Contributions
18.97%

Special events,
net
3.59%

Other income
0.14%

In-kind
contributions
77.30%
See independent auditors' report.
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Person-to-Person, Inc.
Income Distribution, without Investment return
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Contributions
18.75%

Special events,
net
5.91%

Other income
0.16%

In-kind
contributions
75.18%
See independent auditors' report.
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Person-to-Person, Inc.
Functional Expense Distribution
Year Ended December 31, 2019

Camperships
2.23%

Management
and general
1.90%

Fund
development
4.47%

Scholarships
2.45%

Emergency
assistance
88.96%
See independent auditors' report.
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Person-to-Person, Inc.
Functional Expense Distribution
Year Ended December 31, 2018
Camperships
2.67%
Scholarships
2.54%

Management
Fund
and general development
1.25%
4.18%

Emergency
assistance
89.36%
See independent auditors' report.
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS

Applicant Agency/Organization Name: Stepping Stones Museum for Children
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information: Rhonda Kiest
Type of Organization: Children’s Museum
Applicant Mailing Address: Mathews Park, 303 West Avenue, Norwalk, CT 06850-4002
Project Location Address: Same
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only): N/A
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: William Jeffries
Title: Vice President, Fund Development and Strategic Initiatives
Phone #: (203) 820-0433
Email Address: william.jeffries@steppingstonesmuseum.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name:
Job retention support held by low- and moderate-income persons providing mission critical support.
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
The requested funding would provide Stepping Stones Museum for Children with short term capital to
retain critical staff positions needed to initiate to continue offering critical virtual, in person, and hybrid
educational programs and services throughout a six-month period from November 2020 – April 2021
gradually re-opens to the public.
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

William E. Jeffries III, Vice President, Fund Development and Strategic Initiatives 10/23/20
Name, Title & Signature

Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 1.

CDBG-CV Application

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
In its 20 years of serving Norwalk and the broader region, Stepping Stones Museum for Children has reached
nearly 7 million people. At twenty, Stepping Stones connects with children and families at home and around
the world through major new and enhanced multi-sensory exhibits, amenities, and programs and services
that promote healthy children and healthy communities. It is a widely informed resource of community
needs, interests and educational best practices over the long-term.
SSMC has ample experience carrying out federally funded projects and activities, most notably US
Department of State and Institute of Museum and Library Services funded projects.
2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.

3.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.

F.
G.
H.

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
YES
 NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
YES
 NO
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
YES
 NO
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
YES
 NO
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
 YES
 NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*) Not Applicable
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
YES
NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
 YES
NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.
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Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 2.

CDBG-CV Application

PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
Since temporarily closing to the general public in mid-March 2020, museum staff have been working around
the clock remotely to support our primary educational partner Norwalk Public Schools (NPS) and area
families. The first phase of this work included weekly virtual learning experiences designed for home use.
For the summer, SSMC partnered with NPS to develop a five-week curriculum on civic engagement to be
used in both virtual and in person summer learning settings for pre-school through grade 8 students during
the NPS Norwalk Summer Academy. The museum refined and expanded its virtual education programming
to present a two-day virtual event called KC 2020, which served as a kids convention exploring the myriad
ways in which children and families can undertake everyday acts of democracy to make life better in their
community. In total the museum is served nearly 80,000 people through this outreach.
The museum will continue to expand its virtual educational programming and services with a new Studio
program that will continually develop live and video recorded educational content that will be made
available through the museum’s website. We are currently working with the Harvard Business School
Community Partners program to gauge the market for the commercial distribution of these resources to
four audiences: schools and school districts, family and home-based use, community partner after school
programs, and Spanish-speaking users.
The museum is now finalizing plans to gradually re-open the museum over a six-month period from
November 2020 – March 2021 that will parallel our continued virtual work.
We are seeking funding to cover the salaries of a six-person team (all residing within Norwalk city town
limits) charged with developing and implementing the bulk of this work throughout this six-month period.
Because of the museum’s extended closing, we have experienced diminished earned income, which has
impacted our ability to continue operating with a full staff needed to do this work at the highest qualitative
level.
Therefore, this requested funding would ensure we are able to retain all of these critical staff until the
museum is able to gradually rebuild its earned income revenue. The proposal also addresses all three
objectives of preventing, preparing for and responding to the COVID-19 outbreak.
2.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
Public service activity
 Rehabilitation activity
 New construction activity
 Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
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CDBG-CV Application

Other (explain)

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
 New “core” program
Expansion of existing “core” program
 Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
 New “support” program
 Expansion of existing “support” program
 Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
 Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

 YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

6 Persons
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NO

 Households

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

6.

CDBG-CV Application

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

#6

Note: All eight staff covered by this proposal meet the income eligibility as well.

7.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

#6

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.





8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

Name
Address
Income
Other

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.


Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: 



Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.



(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)
- Page 8 of 16 -

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

 Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of which,
on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or considered
to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: 
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic?  yes
no
If yes, please explain:
Received Federal PPP Funding
Received Connecticut Kick Start Funding

Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? __yes _
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?
PPP
Kick Start Funding - CT
2.

Amount
Requested
1,027,500
5,906

Amount
Approved
1,027,500
5,906

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.

The total cost of the six-month salaries for the 6 critical staff is $158,295. The budget is attached.
3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
The Finance Department of Stepping Stones Museum for Children ensures that the organization operates
within its annual fiscal budget and has oversight of all expenditure and revenues. The department works
closely with the CEO and the Board of Directors to control all financial resources including accounting
systems, payroll and annual audits.
Financial reporting - this is done on a monthly basis (12th business day of the following month) and
reports are distributed to all Department Managers. The CEO is provided a complete set of financials to
review. Stepping Stones has an outside audit annually to insure we are in compliance with GAAP and have
a fair representation of the organizations financial position to outside stakeholders.
Payment Procedures – the process for expense payments is fully segregated to prevent fraud or theft and
to catch errors. All expenses must be approved by the Department Managers upon receipt and forwarded
to the Finance Department. The Finance Department has segregation procedures between staff members
to perform the Accounts Payable functions. All checks are signed by the CEO

- Page 10 of 16 -

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

Accounting Systems – Stepping Stones Museum for Children currently uses two Blackbaud Products.
Financial Edge is our Financial System for the General Ledger, Accounts Payable and Accounts
Receivable. It also runs our monthly Financial Statements for our Directors and outside Stakeholders.
Altru is our customer relationship management system that is used for our programs, memberships,
events and memberships. Our ELLI program uses Procare Software for student records and tuition
payments. Our payroll is processed on a biweekly basis by Paylocity.
Audit Requirements – annually Stepping Stones Museum for Children engages an outside audit firm,
currently Walter J. McKeever and Company to do a full audit of all revenues and expenses. The firm
prepares our annual Financial Statements and Tax returns and gives their opinion of the fairness and
accuracy of our accounting records. In their opinion the 2019 Financial Statements were presented fairly in
all material respects.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
This funding will allow the museum to retain these critical positions throughout the specified six-month
period until the museum rebuilds earned income revenues following the gradual re-opening of the museum.
This special team of employees covered by this request is also working on developing content that could
eventually have broad commercial application, which could serve as future revenue source for the museum.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
The timeline for this request is November 2020 – through March 2021, although we can make adjustments
to the timeline as requested.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
no
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
 yes
If yes, please explain:
We received as PPP loan of $1,027,500 which has been completely expended.
2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
yes
no
If yes, please explain:
Yes, this includes staff charged with coordinating with needy families through our pre-school program to
schedule work deliveries and other social services. Staff have also provided guidance to member families on
home health throughout the quarantine period.
As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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PART 5.

CDBG-CV Application

ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
0
6
0
Full-Time Staff
0
0
0
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
This information is attached as the budget.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: SSMC Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
See attached.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 15
b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 3
c. How are the board members chosen?
They are often chosen through referrals from the community and go through an interview process with the
President of the Board, the President and CEO and other key leadership.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? 
If so, how often is training provided?

yes

no

Training is provided on an as needed basis, especially as an orientation process for new board
members.
e. How long is a term? Annual How many consecutive terms may be served? Unlimited
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?  yes
no
If yes, please explain.
Yes, the museum is a noted for its collective impact approach, which relies upon a many cross sector
partners to accomplish its important mission. SSMC is the former anchor organization for Norwalk ACTS.

2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
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collaboration with the other agencies?
SSMC programs are specifically targeted to families with children 10 and under. There is some informal
educational overlap with the Maritime Museum, Carver Center, and other informal education providers, but
Stepping Stones employs a pioneering approach to early learning that is guided by scholars in the field from
Literacy How, Ohio State, Florida, and Connecticut Southern State Universities.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
We are not aware of a direct service provider in Norwalk that delivers the exact same services.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Stepping Stones Museum for Children
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) ()
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department

Not applicable

2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title
Not applicable

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
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NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS

Applicant Agency/Organization Name:
Supportive Housing Works, Inc. (on behalf of Opening Doors Fairfield County)
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information:
David B Rich
david@shworks.org
860-671-1715
Type of Organization:
501c – 3 Non-Profit Organization
Applicant Mailing Address:
815 Main Street
BPT, CT 06604

Project Location Address:
815 Main Street
BPT, CT 06604

Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only): n/a

Contact Person (designated contact person for the
project/proposal):
Name: Pam Ralston
Title: Director, Opening Doors Fairfield County
Phone #: 203-464-3254 Alternate Phone During COVID: 203-283-9689
Email Address: pam@shworks.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name:
ODFC COVID 19 Rent Relief / Eviction Prevention Program--City of Norwalk (ODFC-EPPN)
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
SHW is applying for $200,000.00 to erect the “ODFC-EPPN” program, a regional project created to serve households
with rent relief and short-term financial assistance to mitigate potential housing loss due to income constraints caused
by the corona virus pandemic. The focus of this project will be to respond to COVID-19 by preventing individuals and
families residing in the Norwalk jurisdiction, directly affected by the pandemic and its related economic downturn, from

entering emergency shelter, occupying places not meant for human habitation or becoming street homeless due to an
inability to afford housing. The project will enhance existing Opening Doors Fairfield County ( ODFC ) and the Fairfield
County Coordinated Access Network (FC-CAN) homeless programs in that while household members will be identified
at the 211 level, eligible households will not be required to be literally homeless to access support.
By providing upstream support to at risk, economically fragile, unstably housed individuals and families, the program
will assist vulnerable households in maintaining stable housing and averting a potential episode of homelessness. ODFCEPPN is intended to supplement CT DOH CARES Act funding which provides homeless prevention programming to nonentitlement communities, so that Norwalk residents have sufficient support in retaining their housing (without risking
a duplication of efforts). Considering the project will document and collect data on households served in the homeless
management information system (HMIS), households will not be supported by multiple CARES Act programs across
more than one funding stream. (The DOH Temporary Rental Assistance Housing Program exhausted all funding and
closed as of 9.15.20. No other CARES Act rental relief program currently supports low to moderate income bracket
Norwalk households. To be eligible for ESG funds, households must document literally homelessness at the time of entry.)
With the impending possibility of new households entering the cash-strapped homeless service system in the coming
months due to a continued distressed economy, Fairfield County risks a sizable increase in the number of individuals
and families at the crisis response front door due to housing loss. Predictions are that without coordinated planning
such as rent relief and eviction prevention programming to divert additional households from becoming literally
homeless and entering the emergency response system, it will be difficult for the existing infrastructure of ODFC/FCCAN to operate efficiently and continue to meet the overwhelming needs through under resourced conditions.

(Discussion between SHW and DOH determined that this program does not pose a risk of duplication of
CARES Act resources which was confirmed prior to the preparation and submission of this application.
SHW/ODFC works closely DOH Steve Dilella, DOH and Alanna Kabel, HUD-Hartford CPD Director, and will
continue to connect regularly throughout the life of this program to monitor any risk of the duplication of
benefits)
I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

Pamela Ralston, Director, ODFC
Name, Title & Signature

10-21-20
Date

PART 1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization.
Indicate if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
SHW, backbone organization and fiduciary to ODFC ( CT-503 CoC) the Fairfield County Coordinated Access Network
(FC-CAN), and Fairfield County’s Center for Housing Opportunities (FCCHO) represents collaborative efforts in
homelessness and access to affordable housing. SHW leadership has a long history of developing data driven solutions
that impact strategic resource alignment, uniquely positioning SHW to lead regional efforts in resolving root causes of
housing instability. SHW uses a combination of state/federal/municipal/private funding to coordinate and operate the
CoC & FC-CAN (the entry point to access all housing resources dedicated to resolving episodes of housing instability
and homelessness).
SHW works under a collective impact model to ensure that multi – sectors/multi-systems are visible and responsive in
supporting households with the fundamental structures that provide the stability and support needed for success (e.g.,
workforce development, substance use treatment, behavioral and physical health, training and education, childcare
and other supports). SHW leverages FC-CAN staff provided by state and federal funds to develop and implement
relevant program services and to coordinate/plan and distribute resources equitably across service providers (subcontractors).
SHW has experience in carrying out and operating federally funded projects and activities including, but not limited to
the following:
•

•

•

SHW administers Rapid Rehousing (RRH) rental assistance and case management for homeless
individuals and families under the municipal (city of BPT) and state (CT Department of Housing RRH)
HUD component of Emergency Solutions Grants (ESG) on an annually contracted basis
SHW is a current sub-recipient on HUD Continuum of Care Shelter Plus Care projects, providing housing
and supportive services to head of household individuals and families who are homeless and have a
diagnosed disability
SHW is an ODFC COVID 19 Program – City of BPT grantee with a goal of
diverting households from emergency shelter and the homeless crisis response system (city
of BPT ESG municipal program funds)

•

SHW currently operates a program for short term financial assistance and case management services
provided by the city of BPT CARES Act funding to rapidly rehouse homeless households (RRH).
Coupled with leveraged staffing funded by other private and public funds, ESG provides individuals
with security deposit and/or rental assistance to support their (re)stabilization in housing. SHW is also
administering the rental assistance portion of this program

•

SHW is the fiduciary for all CT DOH funds that funnel through the FC-CAN, including all COVID ESG
funding allocated to homeless prevention, rapid rehousing, telehealth and homeless outreach

•

SHW is the lead applicant and HUD grantee for the Youth Demonstration Homeless Project (YHDP), a 2

year pilot to focus on the unique housing and service needs for homeless and unstably housed youth
and young adults. SHW is currently building and operating the Fairfield County region’s infrastructure
needed to respond to youth homelessness, including dedicated staffing, case management services and
housing assessments and rental assistance administration.

2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter
service, while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
SHW core projects represent collective and collaborative efforts to end homelessness with equitable access to safe,
affordable housing. Through SHW’s role in advocating for and influencing resource allocations through data driven
evidence on historical system level impact, ODFC and the FC-CAN have been successful in prioritizing permanently
housing vulnerable families, youth and individuals rapidly. Rather than directing efforts toward higher cost, temporary
solutions such as emergency shelter and crisis housing, ODFC and the FC-CAN strategize on rapidly rehousing those
experiencing a housing crisis through RRH and Permanent Supportive Housing, as well as by providing upstream efforts
to ensure that unstably individuals and families remain housed to the extent possible.
SHW has been successful in accessing and distributing funding for permanent housing, enhanced by support services
as necessary, in efforts to increase housing stabilization and retention for unstably housed sub-populations. To
increase funding capacity, SHW has also been successful in leveraging match funds toward numerous federal
programs. Such funding offers opportunities to expand the effectiveness and breadth of the backbone’s core
programs through additional resources which include the following examples:
-

Advancing Race Equity: Advancing Race Equity (ARE) Taskforce has been prioritized as a core program for the
SHW backbone, the CoC and the FC-CAN organizational infrastructure. ODFC holds space on its Coordinating
Council agenda quarterly meetings to review the taskforce progress and address any barriers to equity as they
are encountered. Through this taskforce, ODFC and SHW has committed to the following:
A. Investing resources strategically in efforts to advance race equity across partner organizations, both
with Continuum of Care funding and other homeless service system resources. Such efforts include
contracting with at least one national/local expert to facilitate the work of building a race equity
culture.
B. Instituting required trainings for all members of ODFC, from leadership to frontline staff.
C. Conducting a thorough evaluation of ODFC’s leadership structure, staffing, policies and practices.
Addressing racial inequities through a workplan with time-sensitive objectives and a results-based
accountability framework.
D. Ensuring that opportunities for professional development and leadership training are equitable.
E. Working with HUD as one of eight US communities selected as members of the first cohort of CoC’s
to convene and create workplans on revising assessment tools that reflect the unique needs of all
demographics as well as to revise all coordinated access network tools to ensure that access to all
housing and service resources is equitable.

-

-

-

-

-

-

3.

Regular Program Year / Annual ESG Funding: SHW collaborates with Department of Housing, Department of
Mental Health and Addictions Services (DMHAS), the city of Bridgeport (ESG / Housing Opportunities for People
With AIDS / CDBG entitlement opportunities) private foundations (e.g., Melville Charitable Foundation, Fairfield
County’s Community Foundation, the United Way of Coastal Fairfield County, etc.) and others to access
resources that support the CoC and FC-CAN jurisdiction with funding and programming directed at supporting
homeless and unstably housed individuals and families
Programs Funded by Matched Resources: DOH and DMHAS provide federal funds toward CoC match to stretch
homeless funding either through in-kind funds for dedicated staff or with cash through tenant based rental
assistance resources to increase the number of households served. SHW operates the CoC and FC-CAN by
managing and hosting dedicated infrastructure staffing toward supporting such efforts through its assortment
of core programs and projects
Community Investment Act (CIA) DOH provides SHW with CIA state funds to the FC-CAN which expands CoC
funding toward the Support Services and Coordinated Entry staffing infrastructure led by SHW. This offers the
opportunity for SHW to combine such funding with other state ESG funding to compound RRH subsidies
provided by HUD CoC funding managed by the SHW housing teams as part of core programming
Rapid Exits from Homeless, Rapid Rehousing: City of BPT allocates ESG funding for SHW to operate core
programming for rapid exits from shelter and rapid rehousing services and subsidies to both increase the CoC
RRH team’s capacity and to increase the pot of dedicated rental assistance funding
Housing First: To ensure low barrier entry into permanent housing, SHW operates the CoC’s four Housing First
Teams. To enhance available service provision for permanent supportive housing (PSH) households, SHW has
been successful in accessing funds allocated through state DMHAS funding toward dedicated PSH services,
leveraged to the Housing First teams, in support of increasing housing stability for chronically homeless
individuals occupying shelter plus care units, (Shelter Plus Care is a HUD-funded rental assistance program
designed to provide housing and supportive services to an estimated 940 CT residents per year who are
homeless and disabled.)
Programs Funded by Private Foundations: SHW has a long-standing partnership resulting in significant private
funds for core projects through Fairfield County’s Community Foundation (FCCF), United Way of Coastal FC and
Melville Charitable Trust to provide seed dollars for new housing focused initiatives. FCCF provides matched
support to increase the amount of funding allocated through various federal funds, including recent CV CARES
Act ESG and FEMA reimbursements

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
A.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
B.
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
provide documentation*)
C.
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
D.
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
E.
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
F.
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
(Include a copy*)
G.
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
H.
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property
I.
Maintenance, Protection and Disposal*

X YES
X YES
X YES
X YES
X YES

X YES
X NO
X YES

PART 2.

J.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

K.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements
PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
I. Program Objective
Program Meets the Following National CDBG Objectives:
1. Program responds to an urgent need in addressing conditions that pose a serious and immediate threat
to the health and safety of the community by preventing, preparing for and responding to COVID related
housing loss and potential episodes of homelessness.
2. Program principally benefits low- and moderate-income persons, defined as families and individuals,
whose household incomes do not exceed 80% of the jurisdiction’s median income.
Program meets city of Norwalk CDBG-CV Priorities:
1. Program provides necessary resources to carry out a public service (planning/capacity
building) to prepare, prevent and respond to pandemic related health crisis concerns by
addressing and reducing COVID created housing loss during the current health crisis. Providing funds to
households experiencing financial distress as a result of economic downturn will limit episodes of
housing loss. Concurrently, such efforts will reduce the risk that households who lose their housing will
have limited options for shelter beyond doubling up or tripling up in overcrowded tiny housing units,
eliminating opportunities for household members to observe safety measures on social distancing as
recommended by the CDC.
2. Program provides funds to a unit of government for planning activities in conjunction
with a COVID-19 specific activity: shelter diversion, homeless prevention, rent relief, housing
stabilization services to prevent and mitigate the spread of COVID-19.
Ultimately diverting households from entering emergency shelter during COVID – 19 further
facilitates CT’s goal of ongoing 50% shelter decompression to mitigate the spread of
coronavirus amongst homeless individuals whose infection risks additional
community spread.

II. Program Description
SHW is applying for $200,000 to erect the “ODFC COVID 19 Eviction Prevention Program--City of Norwalk (ODFCEPPN)”, part of a regional project created to serve households with crisis intervention and short-term financial
assistance to mitigate housing loss related to income constraints caused by the corona virus pandemic. The focus of
this project is to prevent individuals and families affected by the current economic downturn from falling farther
behind in rent, and obviating housing loss which may lead to households sharing overcrowded housing units,

conflicting with social distancing recommendations. If left unsupported, an increased number of households
may find the need to access emergency housing, occupy places not meant for human habitation or experience street
homelessness, using their vehicles as shelter. The project differs from traditional ODFC and Fairfield County
Coordinated Access Network (FC CAN) homeless programs in that household members will be identified prior to
attending a coordinated access network appointment; prospective program participants will also not be required to
be literally homeless. Providing upstream support to individuals and families who are unstably housed and
considered at risk for housing loss (but who are still housed) will assist such vulnerable households in maintaining
permanent housing before an episode of homelessness occurs.
Research from the University of Connecticut reflects that the cost of homelessness in Connecticut can be as much
as $122,460 per family homeless episode, or $33,360 per person, when the additional costs of system utilization are
considered. In comparison, FC CAN data indicates that most families can typically be diverted from entering the
homeless system with relatively minimal financial assistance, making the difference between homelessness and
housing with as little as $1000.00 – $2,000.00 on average. The ODFC-EPPN Program will provide rent relief to
maintain permanent housing for Norwalk’s at-risk renters, saving public funds otherwise lost, due to the impact of
housing loss on the entire community.
The program will leverage a broad coalition of partners already in place throughout the FC CAN which includes social,
financial and legal sectors available to prevent displacement from rental units and avoid housing loss targeting low
to moderate income tenants at risk for eviction. The Norwalk eviction rate (2.8%) is higher than the national average,
and according to the 2018 SmartAssetReport, 16% of the city’s residents are amongst the most severely housing cost
burdened in the US (ranked 9th out of all US cities). Data from the United Way’s ALICE report shows that prior to the
pandemic, 37% of households in FC were at risk for housing instability, living paycheck to paycheck, and struggling
to survive. Given the disproportionate impact of this crisis on low to moderate income wage earners, nearly 10
months into this crisis, Fairfield County continues to be in need of well-coordinated regional eviction prevention and
rent relief programming. Such support will be the holy grail in adequately protecting the nearly 40% of the region’s
335,000 households who are at risk in the coming months, considering that the grim economic conditions and
hardships many households were already facing pre-COVID, have likely gotten much worse.
The ODFC-EPPN Program aligns with HUD priorities for round 3 CDBG-CV CARES Act funding in providing temporary
financial assistance to meet rental obligations for up to 6 months for low to moderate income renters facing higher
risk of eviction. Per August 8, 2020 Executive Order, President Trump committed to continue to “…fight the spread
of COVID-19 by providing assistance to renters and homeowners.” On September 11, 2020 HUD announced that
additional stimulus CARES Act CDBG-CV 3 allocations were made to direct support to states and towns with the
highest need based on those criteria. Considering that CT ranks 16th in highest rates of unemployment amongst US
states, the state qualified for these funds, prioritized as support for communities with high job loss, high number of
business closures and related unemployment and high concentrations of those most at risk for transmission, all
increasing the risk of eviction.
ODFC-EPPN will be a program registered with 211, designed to provide each household up to six months of rent,
including arrears, leveraged by additional resources available through ODFC (non-COVID federal and state resources)
when necessary. Each household will undergo a standardized intake process to assess their current crisis and
eligibility, determine their capability of returning to pre-pandemic earnings and stability, and predict whether
additional financial support beyond the scope of this funding will be necessary to alleviate the household’s acute

episode of instability and circumvent an episode of housing loss. In providing proactive, preventative efforts to
reduce the incidents of housing loss, ODFC-EPPN seeks to prevent homelessness rather than to manage it.
Research available for CT on homeless prevention points to the fact that people rarely go directly from eviction to
literal homelessness, but for a small subset of the larger group of evicted persons, a certain set of risk factors make
this more likely to happen. For these reasons, in addition to financial support, the program will leverage supports
including access to legal services and mediation as necessary (leveraged through CT’s homeless prevention program).
The program will also provide short term case management to resolve assorted tenant issues efficiently with a goal
of further preventing displacement. Eviction prevention/rent relief intervention plans will be unique to each
household by delivering supplementary comprehensive assessments as needed, coordination across an array of
community resources such as budgeting assistance, applications for benefits, follow up with landlords, legal services
and healthcare systems, as needed, to address additional underlying root causes of housing instability. This
combination of intensive social and financial services is critical for the prevention of housing loss with real and
sustainable outcomes.
With the impending possibility of new households entering the cash-strapped homeless service system in the coming
months due to a continued distressed economy, Fairfield County risks a quick and sizable increase in the number of
unhoused individuals and families seeking help at the crisis response front door. Predictions are that without
coordinated planning to divert additional households from becoming literally homeless and entering the emergency
response system, it will be difficult for the otherwise well-oiled existing infrastructure to operate efficiently and
continue to meet the overwhelming needs through under-funded conditions. Contemplating that the majority of
households who exist uncomfortably close to eviction in any normal year (yet avoid that repeatedly) finally run out
of options, the system will be faced with having to address an emerging cohort of unstable households becoming
more vulnerable. Additional funding in the coming months will be critical to support the goal of diverting as many
households as possible, to effectively prevent housing loss and its related trauma for greater Norwalk’s at-risk
population. Such efforts will save resources that can otherwise be directed toward more sustainable and more
permanent housing options.

III. Community Need: What’s Changed in 2020
As of September, Norwalk ranks 6th in CT among the highest number of total residents applying for unemployment
insurance. With Norwalk Identified as a “red alert” town listed as having the highest COVID daily positive rate in CT
(October 21 CT Patch Report) , the city’s nearly 5,000 currently unemployed residents would benefit from programs
such as rent relief to strengthen housing stability and ensure that families are offered an opportunity to avoid doubling
or tripling up in crowded, unsafe accommodations. As documented, unsupported, vulnerable households have limited
capacity to follow the CDC recommendations for social distancing or the potential to isolate in efforts to reduce viral
transmission to those with chronic health conditions and the elderly when living in jam-packed conditions.
As CT continues to observe and adjust to CDC recommendations to mitigate the spread of COVID 19, for those formerly
employed in service areas and other sectors impacted by COVID restrictions, paying for housing and other basic needs
will remain difficult for the severely cost-burdened (putting more than 50% of their budget towards housing) and will
become increasingly problematic for 40% of greater Norwalk residents who are moderately cost burdened and spend
more than 30 % of total income on housing costs. According to recent research provided by the Urban Institute (July
2020), nearly half of renters ages 18 to 64 (47 percent) reported experiencing material hardship in the past 30 days,

meaning they couldn’t pay their rent or utilities, were experiencing food insecurity, or couldn’t afford needed medical
care. Considering a cliff is looming in CT with protections for renters expiring in December, with little hope that Congress
will reinstate supplemental unemployment insurance benefits that provided an extra $600 until July, the 18,456
individuals currently unemployed in the BPT- Stamford region may be unable to withstand unemployment and still pay
rent.
Also affected are the local landlords who’ve been asked to shoulder the burden without retribution for non-payment
by households for the past several months. As small businesspeople, landlords are once again being asked to wait for
payment, as Governor Lamont’s most recent executive order prohibits landlords from filing eviction notices through
December 31--meaning that some landlords have not seen any income for six or more months.
Norwalk CDBG-CV funding dedicated to rental assistance will increase the pool of limited resources committed to
addressing the ongoing significant unmet need for rent relief in Fairfield County, and will add to funds already identified
to support residents of other municipalities across the region. This initiative will support the at risk households in the
greater Norwalk area as part of Fairfield County’s 107, 360 renter households reflected in early statistics (Health Reform
Monitoring Survey, August 2020) that within the national private rental market (unsubsidized) as many as 31% of renters
did not pay all or a portion of their rent during the month of July. Updated data as of October 17, 2020 indicates that
more than 6 million households failed to make their rent or mortgage payments in September (Mortgage Bankers
Association's Research Institute for Housing America), a sign that the economic fallout from the coronavirus pandemic
is weighing on jobless Americans as Congress stalls on relief measures.
When the eviction moratorium expires in 2 months, the situation could become even more challenging for renters.
Research further identifies that 40% of Americans surveyed are concerned about paying rent in the months ahead and
those statistics are expected to compound as the economic downturn and national health crisis continues to evolve
over an unknown duration of time. City of Norwalk CDBG-CV funds will provide the needed support to those who would
become homeless without it, as well as a potential long-term solution for those who would otherwise experience
continued poorly addressed housing instability if they were to continue unsupported.
User/client population (# served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
•
•

•

ODFC-EPPN’s target population will serve all families with children, individuals including the elderly who are
referred to this program through CT’s 211 system and assessed as eligible, prioritized by need
ODFC/FC-CAN will leverage assessment tools and assorted services provided to the FC-CAN available through
the DOH homeless prevention program
o FC-CAN navigators who meet with households seeking rent relief will utilize a risk assessment tool to
evaluate each household in efforts to better understand the stability of the housing situation. Other
assessment tools will be employed as necessary (assessment of training and workforce development
needs, client acuity assessment of mental health needs, other basic needs assessment, mediation
and/or family unification assessments, etc.)
No client fees will be charged to program participants
Assistance will be provided to income-eligible households financially impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic,
limited to:
o Those who are currently at 50% of the median income can receive up to $8,500.
o Those who are currently at 80% of the median income can receive up to $5,000.

o
o

o
o

o

o

Commercial properties are not eligible for rent relief
The circumstances of the inability to pay rent due to COVID-19 Include the following examples (not
exhaustive):
Loss of income due to workplace closure or reduced hours.
Loss of income or increased childcare costs because daycare or schools are closed.
Medical costs for a household member who is ill with COVID-19 or COVID – 19 related
complications.
Loss of income due to government-ordered emergency measures after March 13, 2020
Renters who receive Section 8 Housing Choice or VASH voucher, or live in project-based Section 8 or
public housing are not eligible to participate in the program
The rent subsidy will be paid directly to the property owner.
The rent subsidy will not be paid to the property owner unless the tenant has been qualified by
providing documentation to prove eligibility and the property owner also agrees to participate
in the program
Prospective participants will be required to provide:
Proof of tenancy, such as a rental agreement/lease, or a notice issued by the current property
owner, etc.
A form specifically developed for this program will need to be filled out to document income of
all those in the household who are 18 and over and how the household was economically
impacted by COVID-19, affecting the ability to meet rental payment obligations.
The subsidy is intended for rent burdened tenants and will apply to unpaid rent obligations
from March 1, 2020, or future rent payments.
Only one (1) application per rental unit will be accepted.
The program is open to all renters, regardless of immigration status.
Assessors will not ask for immigration status, nor is it considered in determining eligibility.
A renter does not need to be behind in rent but does need to have a reduction in income related
to COVID-19 and meet household income eligibility requirements.
Households will be prioritized by imminent need. Those with a notice to quit or an eviction filing
prior to March 30, 2020 will be prioritized.
Property owners may not apply on behalf of their renters.
Property owners will be notified when their tenants are approved for the program, as well as
the specific months of rents that will be subsidized.
Property owners must provide a W-9.
Property owners must agree to:
Not charge any interest or late fees for rents owed
Not evict the tenant for six (6) months after the state of CT lifts the temporary eviction
moratorium
Not to impose a rent increase during the repayment period, after the state’s temporary eviction
moratorium ends
Rent payments will be calculated using rent reasonable rates to ensure that rents being paid
are reasonable in relation to rents being charged for comparable unassisted units in the same
market.
• Negotiations may occur with landlords willing to settle on an amount lower than the
documented amount owed by tenant.
• No rent payment will be made above the Stamford-Norwalk, CT HUD Metro FMR Area

Number of households to be served:
The ODFC-EPPN will provide rent relief to households with a head of household above the age of
18 as follows:
o At least 60% of total program assistance will be provided to families with at least one child
under the age of 18
o At least 30% of total program assistance will be provided to individuals and couples with
no dependent children sharing/occupying the rental unit. Such individuals will be between
the ages of 18 and 59
o Up to 10% of renters assisted by the program will be aged 60+
The total number of households served by the ODFC – EPPN Program will depend on the total
assistance given to each household – program will exist until all funds have been exhausted
At an estimated average cost of $3, 500 +/- per household, the program seeks to serve up to 50
households

2.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.

X

Public service activity

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
X
New “core” program. (new program under the city of Norwalk CDBG per this request)
X
Expansion of existing “core” program (expansion of existing SHW/ODFC core programming
through CDBG -CV funding)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the proposed
project/activity serve?

X NO

#_up to
50____

X Households

6.

7.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?
How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

50 HH’s

100%

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
X
X
X
x

8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

Name
Address
Income
Other (all
client
records
will be
entered
into HMIS)

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
X
Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed project/activity
qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached:
X
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.

PART 3.

(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? yes

If yes, please explain:
- City of BPT:
A. Awarded $302, 000 round 1 ESG: Rapid Rehousing / Rental Assistance to support city of BPT
residents
B. Awarded $297, 000 round 2 ESG: Homeless Prevention Funding provided to serve 50% AMI
and below households
Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? yes.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?
Fairfield County’s Community
Foundation

2.

Amount
Requested

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

$ 120,000

$70,000

$50, 000

n/a

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the proposal. Use
it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may be required to further
itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must include copies of contractor and/or
architect/engineer estimate.
ODFC-RRPN Program

Annualized-2020/2021

Program Expenses
Project Coordinator (.5 FTE)
Grants Manager (.05 FTE)
Machinery and Operations (e.g., Program Lap Top, Shared Printer)
Rental Assistance Administration & Accounting. (.05 FTE)
Additional Backbone Staff Support (In Kind)
Rental Subsidies
Total Expenses

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

20,000.00
3,600.00
2,000.00
6,400.00
25,000.00
168,000.00
225,000.00

3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment
procedures, accounting systems, and audit requirements.
SHW has strong financial accounting systems and robust organizational and management structures using internal
and external coordination strategies to manage $ 6,380,436 annually. SHW has achieved: timely execution of grants
and contracts, timely distribution of funds to sub-recipients, timely annual performance reporting, limited
monitoring findings, timely resolution of finding and consistent track record of prompt apartment inspections and
lease up.
SHW employs internal/external controls to ensure financial transactions are accurate and compliant with standard
accounting protocols/HUD requirements & procurement protocols. SHW maintains contracts with all sub-recipients

and has frequent communication with sub-recipient staff (including providing supervision to CoC and FC CAN subrecipient staff), to discuss tenant issues, rent payments, housing quality standards, provision of supportive services.
SHW and sub-recipients are subject to independent monitoring contracted through ODFC/CT 503 by Diana Myers &
Associates, an independent consultant to ensure compliance with all HUD programmatic and financial requirements.
SHW core financial staff include Executive Director, Director of Strategy and Operations and BlumShapiro (BS) & Ass.
Accounting Manager who oversees SHW’s day to day financial operations and SHW Grants Manager. SHW uses
Quickbooks Enterprise software, with financial duties segregated across staff including BlumShapio (BS) Account
Manager and the Director of Strategy and Operations. The Executive Director is responsible for: reviewing/approving
individual program budgets/funding requests, monthly reconciliation reviews, providing financials to the SHW Board
of Directors. The Director of Strategy and Operations prepares and provides financial reports to prospective and
existing funders, develops specific program proposal budgets in collaboration with program directors for new and
renewing programs, prepares request for reimbursement from funders, approves invoices for payment to
contracted partners (following internal contract outcomes/expectations review) responds to funders’ questions
regarding the financial status of programs, reviews financial reports to ensure SHW has sufficient cash flow and
prepares compliance documentation for the independent auditor.
The Grants Manager prepares the documentation for all payables and submits to BS, makes bank deposits for all
payables, submits such to BS and responds to internal questions. BS is responsible for SHW’s payables, maintaining
a general ledger, recording financial transaction in QuickBooks, preparing financial reports, performing the monthend/year-end close out and preparing financial information for an independent auditor. Financial statements are
reviewed by the board monthly including Statement of Financial Position, Statement of Activities, Statement of Cash
Flows. The Board Treasurer reviews the annual audited financial statements with the ED, Director of Strategy and
Operations, BS Account Manager and Finance Committee and presents the statements for board approval.
SHW’s revenues and expenses are tracked via classes with a separate class maintained for each program's
administrative and general activity. Payroll costs: recorded based on employee activities thru a combination of
functions. A payroll allocation master worksheet is maintained to allocate the payroll across administrative/ general
and to programs with direct costs specifically identified by program/activity. Principal direct costs: payroll and fringe
benefits, contracted expenses, supplies and consultants and occupancy costs are allocable as direct costs specifically
associated by required allocation between the benefiting programs. Administrative and general costs consist
primarily of administrative salaries and wages, professional fees, general and liability insurance, loan interest and
occupancy costs. Occupancy costs include rent, depreciation, repairs and maintenance and utilities. These costs
comprise approximately 8% of the overall operating budget.

4. Provide an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
-

CDBG-CV funding, if awarded as requested, will increase SHW’s budget by a $200,000.00.
To operate the ODFC-EPPN rent relief program, additional personnel will be required:
ODFC - EPPN Project Coordinator (# hours to be determined by award amount but
assumed at 20).
Increased activity related to this program will be added to existing staff identified
in question Part 5 (Organizational Efficiency of this application)
-

Maintenance, Office Space Needs:
SHW currently occupies a large, fully furnished loft space in downtown Bridgeport.
Current space allows for the increase in staffing required by this program.
No change in maintenance will be required, considering SHW’s current lease and
contracted services for unit up-keep.
1 Laptop Computer will be required for additional program staff.
No other change in operations will be necessary for additional staff.

-

Program Sustainability/ Long Term Planning:
1. As additional resources become available through stimulus CARES Act funding,
SHW will focus on applying for funds to increase rent relief financial support for
all Fairfield County residents facing a housing crisis.
2. SHW, as first-time applicant for city of Norwalk CDBG funds will apply for regular
program year (PY47) to continue to administer rental assistance/rent relief to city
of Norwalk residents ongoing.
3. SHW will continue to highlight and market the rent relief concepts with a goal of
ongoing philanthropic engagement in efforts to raise matched funds that increase
the strength of affording assistance to struggling renters. With awareness that
many households will continue to struggle past the imminent risk of contracting
coronavirus, the need for ongoing support services and provision of rental
assistance and subsidies can be an expected need that will continue for several
years.

5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
Program Start Up: Anticipated/estimated that announcement on funding award will occur by December 1,
2020.
- Within 15 days of program execution (grant award letter) SHW will create and distribute job posting
for ODFC-EPPN Project Coordinator (by December 20, 2020)
- Project Coord. Hired by (January 10, 2021)
- By January 20, 2020 SHW staff will convene FC-CAN providers for start-up strategy session to:
o Inform 211 re: new program and discuss referral process
o Establish and finalize assessment tools for potential household participants
o Create marketing tools to advertise ODFCC-EPPN
- SHW and BlumShapiro Associates will begin bi-weekly meetings to convene around ODFC-EPPN
rental assistance administration and expense reconciliation and process to invoice city of Norwalk
for reimbursement finalized
- SHW and Nutmeg Consulting to create program in CT Homeless Information Management System
(HMIS) to create / record household files (by January 15th)
- SHW and FC-CAN to provide program awareness training on eligibility, referral process, others
service needs etc. to FC-CAN and ODFC staff (by January 31)
- February 1, 2021: program enrollment begins
o Program related staff continue to meet bi-weekly
o Program monitoring benchmarks, outcome tracking and reporting process finalized by SHW
staff
o Bi-weekly reconciliation of program spend down ongoing
o Program discussed and details reported on an ongoing during SHW monthly finance team /
directors meeting; all budget adjustments made as a result of reporting and reconciliation
o Process of providing reports, invoices, reimbursement to city of Norwalk is consistent and
ongoing during the grant cycle as advised
- Above process continues throughout the grant life cycle or until program ends due to funds
exhausted (end 2021 / early 2022 depending on program date of execution)

PART 4.

FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
n/a
If yes, please explain:

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
no
If yes, please explain:

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee: n/a
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee

X YES

NO

X YES

NO

X YES

NO

PART 5.

ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
2.75 FTE
.2 FTE
n/a
Full-Time Staff
.5
FTE
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s
name and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
- Grants Manager: Lori Gutman (documentation and record keeping on client files, grant
reporting, accrued expenses, grant spend down, coordination on rent payments with Blum
Shapiro account manager) **
- Director of Strategy and Operations: Lauren Zimmermann (oversight of program financials,
accruing income vs. expense, supervision of Grants Manager) *
- ODFC / CT503 Director: Pam Ralston (grant submission and follow up, coordination for all
grant reporting, point of contact with city of Norwalk, maintaining a policy focused strategy,
knowledge-based expertise on HUD and municipal regulations and priorities, CDBG priorities,
project evaluation) *
- Director of Programs: Jessica Kubicki, LCSW (navigator, assessor and permanent housing
staff oversight, program related training as required and identified ongoing) *
- Blum Shapiro Accounts Manager: Ernie Vigue (administration of rent relief payments) **
- ODFC-EPPN Project Coordinator (TBD): Additional part time staff to be added to focus
on the coordination, documentation needed, conducting assessments and eligibility follow
up and impeccable record keeping, connecting on follow up with additional partners on
household needs identified during assessments)
*leveraged to this project through other funding sources
**partially leveraged to this project through a combination of other funding sources
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Supportive Housing Works Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 15 Vacancies? 0
b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 5
c. How are the board members chosen?
SHW has a nominating committee; members are recruited based on the leadership position they
occupy in local homeless provider organizations, prioritized by shelter providing organizations. 25% of
the board represent Norwalk – Westport organizations including Open Door Shelter, DVCC, FCA and
Homes with Hope.
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation?

yes

If

so, how often is training provided?
Annually during strategic planning sessions and as needed for new board members when
onboarded.
e. How long is a term? 3 years How many consecutive terms may be served? 2
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid
duplication of services?
YES.
If yes, please explain:
All projects and initiatives are coordinated across the membership of ODFC and through the centralized
process of assignment via the FC-CAN. ODFC is represented by an Executive Committee and a
Coordinating Council which serves as the board of directors in providing day to day operations oversight
for the CoC. The SHW backbone board and ODFC partner on creating plans for all regional efforts and
initiatives strategized to support the homeless and affordable housing systems. All events and activities
are convened in dual partnership to ensure no duplication of efforts exist.

2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide
services similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is
there collaboration with the other agencies?
ODFC membership include multiple Norwalk serving organizations focused on ending
homelessness and providing affordable housing. The following organizations are represented as
members of ODFC and the FC-CAN:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Open Door Shelter*+
Family and Children’s Agency*+
Domestic Violence Crisis Center*+
Mid Fairfield AIDS Project*+
Norwalk Housing Authority+
Homes with Hope*+
Triangle Community Center +
Malta House
Norwalk Hospital / Department of Mental Health and Addictions Community Services Program
Homefront Revitalization+

*SHW Board Member
+ODFC Executive Committee / Board Member
Each provide services critical in supporting those experiencing a housing crisis at the front-end as
FC-CAN assessors/system navigators and case managers, as well as across the system in the process
of securing permanent housing solutions. The programs reflected by the organizations above
provide system entry assessment, emergency shelter, transitional housing, permanent housing,
Section 8/Family Unification/Housing Choice Voucher programs.

What differs from the program proposed through this funding application and the programs listed above
(although each is essential in transitioning households experiencing homelessness into permanent housing
and stability) is that they each provide services and housing to the literally homeless , some of whom have
been chronically disengaged from traditional life and/or formal programming and, thus, are housing
displaced when engaged. In contrast, ODFC-EPPN proposes to provide upstream services to unstably
housed individuals and families who, without temporary financial support via rent relief, risk losing their
permanent housing.
Person to Person has historically provided rental assistance and support for utility payments toward arrears
to Norwalk residents for years, however, at a smaller scale providing far less financial support to
households whose needs were measured during relatively normal operating circumstances. With
continued uncertainty as to the duration of the life cycle of this pandemic and how this “once in a century
crisis” has disrupted our lives, the task at hand is magnified by its still unknown nature.
One certainty is that we continue to face a national housing problem of unprecedented magnitude, made
even more dire as we look ahead to eviction moratoriums expiring sometime over the coming months.
ODFC-EPPN will have a central focus of responding to the desperate needs of the city of Norwalk residents,
many who find themselves encountering unfamiliar challenges, having fallen behind in their rent and far
into debt to their landlords and other creditors due to the pandemic’s resulting devastating economic
downturn.

3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other
agencies serving the same target beneficiaries?
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Open Door Shelter
Family and Children’s Agency
Domestic Violence Crisis Center
Mid Fairfield AIDS Project
Norwalk Housing Authority
Homes with Hope
Triangle Community Center
Malta House
Norwalk Hospital / Department of Mental Health and Addictions Community Services Program

Yes.
All housing resources are accessed through the front door of the housing and homeless system through 211.
All referrals are provided through a centralized process both from the 211 system and through the FC -CAN
front door infrastructure of the crisis response system. Further, all follow up referrals for housing are
coordinated via weekly housing-focused convenings represented by the above organizational staff through a
well-coordinated process of assigning tasks to program staff with follow up action planning, visibility and
accountability.

PART 7.

DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential
conflict of interest related to the expenditure of Community Development Block
Grant - CV funds we request the following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Supportive Housing Works, Inc.
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) X
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or
personal interest in the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.

n/a
Name, Job Title and Norwalk Redevelopment Agency Department
2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of
Norwalk having a potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Name/Title.

n/a

NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details
regarding any known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.

n/a

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

CDBG-CV Application

NORWALK REDEVELOPMENT AGENCY obo CITY OF NORWALK
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG-CV) PROGRAM
APPLICATION FORM FOR CDBG-CV FUNDS
Applicant Agency/Organization Name:
Triangle Community Center, Inc.
President/CEO/Executive Director’s Contact Information:
Edson Rivas – Interim Executive Director
Edson@ctpridecenter.org
203-249-4825
Type of Organization:
LGBTQ Community Center, 501(c)3
Applicant Mailing Address:
650 West Ave.
Norwalk, CT 06850
Project Location Address:
650 West Ave.
Norwalk, CT 06850
Age of Building (Public Facility/Housing Applications Only):
Contact Person (designated contact person for the project/proposal):
Name: Edson Rivas
Title: Interim Executive Director
Phone #: 203-249-4825
Email Address: Edson@ctpridecenter.org
Proposed Project/Activity Name:
TCC COVID Response
Brief Description of the Proposed Project/Activity:
The proposed budget would cover the cost of technology that would allow Triangle Community Center to
continue to provide its case management and mental health services virtually (telehealth). It would also
include the costs of purchasing sneeze guards, masks, gloves, and other disinfecting products to maintain
as clean a space as possible to assure the health and safety of our staff, clients, and volunteers. This grant
will also help support the general operations of the organization, assuring that we keep employing all
staff members.
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CDBG-CV Application

I certify that all information provided is correct to the best of my knowledge.

Edson Rivas, Interim Executive Director
Name, Title & Signature

10.23.20
Date

Important: If your organization is submitting multiple requests within the same category, a
prioritized list (of the activities) must be included with the applications.

- Page 2 of 16 -

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 1.

CDBG-CV Application

GENERAL INFORMATION

ORGANIZATION
1. Provide in the space below (or on a separate page) a brief description of your organization. Indicate
if your organization has prior experience in carrying out a federally funded project/activity.
The Triangle Community Center empowers and advocates for LGBTQ people in Connecticut through
programming focused on health, community, and learning. TCC sees an average of 700 individuals a
year who seek our services (case management, mental health) and more than 7,000 people attend
one or more TCC events or programs throughout the year.
We currently hold a contract through the Department of Mental Health and Addiction Services (3
years now in carrying out the Young Adult Space (YAS!) drop-in space. We are also a part of HUD’s
Youth Homelessness Demonstration Program (YHDP) and help the state by providing and
supervising a 211 navigator for the catchment areas of Norwalk and Bridgeport.

2. Identify the “core” programs of your organization. Use the space below or a separate page. Core
programs can be considered as services for which the greatest portion of your operating budget is
allocated. Example: A homeless shelter’s “core” program might be its basic overnight shelter service,
while it’s counseling or job placement services are “support” programs.
The Triangle Community Center’s core programs are its case management and mental health
programs. These two programs take a considerable investment of time and funds.
Our case management program helps LGBTQ individuals, and those who do not identify as such, to
find resources both internally and through our partner organizations. Our social work team helps
to identify the needs of our clients through a series of meetings and conversations with the goal of
collaboratively developing a plan of action. Our internal resources are: Client Emergency Financial
Assistance, which provided about $8,000 in assistance in 2019, Emergency Food Pantry, which
provided more than $15,000 this year in food assistance, mental health counseling, housing
navigation assistance, and connection to more than 15 social and support groups offered at the
center.
TCC’s case managers are also able to refer to outside partners like The Center for Family Justice,
Kids in Crisis, The Rowan Center, among others for more specific needs.
Our mental health service provides individuals with free access to mental health professionals. The
clinical team is LGBTQ trained and can assess a client’s need and create a treatment plan. The
clinical team also connects the clients to our internal and external resources, as appropriate.
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3.
A.
B.
C.
D.
E.
F.
G.
H.

CDBG-CV Application

Check “YES” or “NO” to the following questions.
Does your organization have a Board of Directors?
p YES
p NO
Is your organization exempt under IRS Code 501(c) (3)? (If yes,
p YES
p NO
provide documentation*)
Are your organization’s services available to Norwalk residents?
p YES
p NO
Does your organization have an EEO Policy? (Include a copy*)
p YES
p NO
If a housing provider, does your organization have a written Fair
p YES
p NO
Housing Policy including accessibility (504) requirements?
(Include a copy*)
Does your organization have a written Procurement Policy?
p YES
p NO
(Include a copy*)
Is your organization considered a Faith-Based Organization?
p YES
p NO
Include a copy of your written Policy on Personal Property Maintenance, Protection and
Disposal*

I.

Include a copy of your written Policy on Record Keeping*

J.

Include a copy of your most current audited Financial Statements

*Please note that requested documentation (from above) must be submitted to the Norwalk
Redevelopment Office only if you are a new applicant or if there have been any changes to a
previously filed documentation.

- Page 4 of 16 -

Norwalk Redevelopment Agency

PART 2.

CDBG-CV Application

PROPOSED PROJECT/ACTIVITY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION
1. In the space below or on a separate page provide a description of the proposed project you are
applying for CDBG-CV funding to complete. Include in your description: user/client population (#
served, elderly, children, etc.); client/user fees and/or rents (if any) for proposed service;
membership requirements (if any); other restrictions (if any, for your proposed project/activity); and
how the activity directly meets the objective of preventing, preparing for and/or responding to the
COVID-19 outbreak. Omission of requested information may be a cause to reject application.
With the onset of COVID-19 and the mandatory closing of our facility, TCC moved quickly to move
all of our programming and services into the virtual space. We were able to put together quick,
short-term solutions that allowed us to continue to provide services uninterrupted. TCC saw an
increase in attendance at our programs, need for case management, and an increase in demand
for our free mental health services. Within a short time after the quarantine began we were at
capacity and had a wait list for mental health services. Since then we have been able to increase
our bandwidth even with the shortfall of funds the organization is facing. However, these
programs still need an investment of funds, as none of the services rendered during the pandemic
are fee-based.
Now that we are, once again, looking at increased rates of infection and perhaps a second
lockdown we are in need of investing in long-term, reliable solutions to continue to provide these
services. All of TCC’s staff is working from home and our infrastructure was not meant for that.
We are in need of investing in a cloud based electronic record keeping software that would allow
us to streamline client intake and the overall client experience. This efficiency alone would allow
us to decrease administrative hours and increase counseling hours. The system would allow us to
send out electronic packets to clients for e-signature, keep all records safe and HIPPA compliant,
and run both our case management and mental health services through one software solution
designed for the telehealth age we are currently in.
The mental health of everyone is deteriorating as we all face different and increasing stress from
the uncertain environment around us. Isolation only adds to that and with the fear that we may
enter a second lockdown TCC wants to assure the community at large, not just our LGBTQ
community, that we will have the capacity to care for them when that happens.
The below demographics are but a piece of the overall at risk population that TCC serves.
The below numbers are estimates and do not include major events (except where specified):
1. number of unduplicated individuals served - 700 + approximately 7500 other unduplicated
individuals who attend one of the agency's special events or trainings (Pride in the Park
attracted more than 6000 individuals in 2019) = 8200 individuals
2. number of women served (18 years old and over) - 200
3. number of girls served (under the age of 18) - 25
4. number of people of color served - 60% of the agency's case management clients identify as
people of color
5. number of youth aged 16-24 served (regardless of gender) - 150
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CDBG-CV Application

6. number of program customers households at or below 50% of the Area Median Income. approximately 75% of case management clients
These funds will go directly to efforts in response to the pandemic and are essential to the health
and well being of the Norwalk community.
2.

Check the box that best describes the proposed project/activity.
p Public service activity
p Rehabilitation activity
p New construction activity
p Real property acquisition activity (i.e. land/building).
p Other (explain)

3.

Check the box that applies to the proposed project/activity.
p New “core” program
p Expansion of existing “core” program
p Support of existing “core” program (with no expansion)
p New “support” program
p Expansion of existing “support” program
p Existing “support” program (with no expansion)
p Other (explain)

4.

Is the proposed project/activity located on property owned by a
church or entity having a primarily religious purpose?

p YES

5.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) will the
proposed project/activity serve?

# 700
p Persons

6.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) in Question
5, above will qualify as CDBG-CV income-eligible (using the CDBG-CV
table on Page 2 of this application)?

#630

7.

How many persons or households (unduplicated #s) are Norwalk
residents AND qualify as CDBG-CV income eligible (using the CDBGCV income guidelines on Page 2 of this application)?

#210

p NO

p Households

* Failure to answer Questions 6 – 9 may disqualify application.
p
p
p
p

8.

What kinds of client records does or will your organization
require from applicants/users of the proposed project/activity?
Check more than one box, if necessary). Note that the
organization must be able to prove the income eligibility of
beneficiaries.

9.

Of the categories listed, check (below) which best describes the low and moderate-income
- Page 6 of 16 -
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CDBG-CV Application

(LMI) client benefit of the proposed project/activity. Indicate that you have provided
documentation with the application evidencing the below qualification. Examples: Client
In-take forms (no names), proposed rents, etc.
Note: Failure to provide such documentation may disqualify the application for the CDBG-CV
award.
p

Area Benefit. Activity meets needs of LMI persons residing in an area where at least
51% of the residents are LMI. Note: An Area Benefit activity is available to all persons in
the neighborhood or community regardless of income. However, the area where the
activity is located must qualify as an LMI neighborhood.
Documentation Attached: p

p

Limited Client Benefit. Activity benefits a specific group of people who qualify as LMI
persons. The activity must meet one (1) of the criteria below. If your proposed
project/activity qualifies under one of the subcategories, check the applicable number.
Documentation Attached: p
(1)
Project/activity maintains client records on income and family size records
documenting that such persons qualify as LMI.

p

(2)

Project/activity has income eligibility requirements that limit the activity
exclusively to LMI persons.

(3)

Project/activity is of such a nature and location that it may be concluded the
clientele are primarily LMI persons.

(4)

Project/activity clientele are presumed (by HUD) to be principally LMI persons
(i.e. homeless, handicapped, etc.)

Low/Mod Income Jobs. Activity creates or retains permanent jobs, at least 51% of
which, on a full time equivalent (FTE) basis, are either held by L/M income persons or
considered to be available to L/M income persons.
Documentation Attached: p
(1)

Part-time jobs must be converted to full-time equivalents (FTE) (for
example, a job that will require working only half time would count as
only half a job);

(2)

Only permanent jobs count; temporary jobs may not be included;

(3)

Seasonal jobs are considered to be permanent for this purpose only if the
season is long enough for the job to be considered as the employee’s
principal occupation;

(4)

All permanent jobs created or retained by the activity must be counted even
if the activity has multiple sources of funds; and

(5)

Jobs indirectly created or retained by an assisted activity (i.e., “spin off” jobs)
may not be counted (for example, jobs created by an unrelated company that
supplies parts to the manufacturing firm being assisted).

(6)

Jobs created or retained to directly respond to the Coronavirus crisis (i.e
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Hospital Workers) may be permitted on a temporary basis.
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PROJECT/ACTIVITY FUNDING

1. Have you requested other funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the prevention,
preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
TCC has requested funds from foundations and other entities in order to make up shortfalls in
other fundraising areas.

Is your organization receiving other/additional funding (independent of CDBG-CV) related to the
prevention, preparation and/or response to the COVID-19 pandemic? X
yes
no.
If yes, please explain below and include any letter(s) of commitment for ongoing funds or approved
funds from other source(s) to assist with the proposed project that you are requesting.
If yes, what funding source?
Fairfield County Community
Foundation
DMHAS COVID Funding

2.

Amount
Requested
10000
1996

Amount
Approved

Amount
Pending

Amount
Denied

10000

0

0

1996

0

0

What is the total cost of the proposed project? Attach a copy of the budget summary for the
proposal. Use it to estimate all costs directly related to the proposed project. If approved, you may
be required to further itemize the costs. Rehabilitation/construction project/activities must
include copies of contractor and/or architect/engineer estimate.

TCC – COVID Response
Line Items

Cost

Notes

$15,000

Competitive rate based on comparison of 4 software
companies

Teleconference Business
Solution

$2,500

Will go towards providing HIPAA compliant
teleconference solution for our Director, interns,
and staff (10 total licenses). Currently considering
Zoom, Cisco Webex, and Microsoft Teams

Supplies to re-open space
safely

$2,500

Will include sneeze guards, air purifiers, updated
filters for AC/Heating, and disinfectant cleaning
supplies and PPE for staff, volunteers, and visitors

Total Project Budget

$20,000

Electronic Health Record
Software
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3. Describe your organization’s fiscal management, including financial reporting, payment procedures,
accounting systems, and audit requirements.
An independent auditor audits TCC every year. We have strict Financial Policies and Procedures
that are audited by the Board Treasurer. These procedures include tracking and documentation
of payments and tracking and documentation of incoming payments.
The Executive Director provides the Board with monthly financials of the organization for review
and discussion at Board meetings. We also work with an accounting firm that handles of all the
accounting needs of the organization.
4. Attach an explanation on how the proposed project will affect your administrative budget
(example: additional personnel, maintenance, office space, etc.) Include an explanation on longterm plans for funding/sustaining the proposed project.
The proposed budget will expand services beyond our current capacity, and through the
efficiencies created, will not add to staff headcount. This project will create capacity by
allowing us to work more efficiently through the acquisition of technology.
TCC is already looking at long-term funding solutions for the proposed program through
foundation grants focused specifically on mental health.
5. Attach a timetable/schedule for the proposed project, including anticipated dates (start to finish).
Should the project be approved we would move as quickly as possible. TCC has identified several
potential software companies and received initial quotes and timelines. The software would be up
and running by end of 2020. The video conferencing software will be up as soon as funding is
approved.
Other pieces of the project would be implemented immediately as we would move to purchase
PPE, sneeze guards, air purifiers, and cleaning supplies. The center has started to allow small
groups to meet in our space as of the 19th of October.
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FOR JOB RETENTION AND CREATION ACTIVITIES ONLY

1. Has the Applicant received a Small Business Administration Economic Injury Disaster Loan or Paycheck
Protection (PPP) Loan since April 3, 2020?
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
TCC Received about $70,000 in the way of PPP which it has since used to maintain its full head
count.

2. Do jobs created or retained through this activity and organization provide medical care, food
delivery, cleaning, and/or other services to support home health and quarantine or manufacture
medical supplies necessary to respond to infectious diseases.
X yes
no
If yes, please explain:
The jobs maintained through this project provide direct assistance to those in need by providing
mental health counseling, food assistance, and case management services from home through
telehealth.

As the recipient of CDBG-CV Job Retention Activity Funding, I guarantee:
3. I agree to report the names of employees and the wages paid to these
employees a following disbursement of the grand funds.
4. The funds granted through this program will be used to maintain
existing employees, or to hire back employees that were laid off due to
the coronavirus crisis.
5. The funds granted through this program will pay wages to employees,
at least 51% (subject to increase based on HUD requirements) of whom
are low-to-moderate income employees, as defined by U.S.
Department of Housing and Urban Development guidelines outlined on
page 2.

* $50,000 is the maximum amount allowable to be received per employee
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ORGANIZATIONAL EFFICIENCY

1. How many staff members will be directly associated with the proposed project?
Professional
Support
Volunteer
4
Full-Time Staff
2
8
Part-Time Staff
Include a list of those involved in completing the project. The list must include: each person’s name
and a brief summary of job duties in relation to the proposed project.
DaJavon Davis, LMFT – Clinical Supervisor. DaJavon oversees our mental health service and
manages 4 interns that meet with our clients.
Towanna Phillip, LCSW – Case Management Supervisor. Towanna ovrersees our case
management service and manages 4 interns that meet with out clients
Clinical Interns – 8 total (4 case management and 4 mental health). We have 3 rotations
throughout the year for our interns. Our interns are all in Master-level students with interships
required to obtain their licenses to practice.
2. If your organization has an elected or appointed board, complete the questions below.
NAME OF BOARD/COMMITTEE: Triangle Community Center Board of Directors
List the names of the individuals on the board and the position they may hold on the board.
Colin Hosten – President
Erica Hartwell – Vice President
John Volpe – Treasurer
Jeff Arnold – Secretary
Mia Rella
Justine Stewart
Kim Gillece
Dominique Johnson
Brad McKinney
John Kelso
a. Number of voting board members as of January 1, 2020 11

Vacancies?

1

b. How many board members reside within the City of Norwalk? 4
c. How are the board members chosen?
Nomination process and further interviews ending in a vote from the Board
d. Does your organization provide any board training and/or orientation? X
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If so, how often is training provided? Once a year
e. How long is a term? 3 Years How many consecutive terms may be served? 3
PART 6.

DUPLICATION/COORDINATION/COOPERATION

1. Has the organization attempted to coordinate the project with other agencies to avoid duplication
of services?
yes X no If yes, please explain.
Our services are LGBTQ competent and therefore are the only one in the area that focuses on that
population. We work closely with partner organizations to reduce duplication of resources.
2. Identify other agencies in Norwalk (including non-profit and government) that provide services
similar to your proposed project. How do the programs differ? How do they overlap? Is there
collaboration with the other agencies?
There are many agencies in Norwalk that provide both mental health and case management
services, however, their focus is on the general population and not specifically on the LGBTQ
population. We collaborate with other agencies to reduce the duplication of resources.
3. Identify other agencies in Norwalk that provide services directed toward the same target
beneficiaries of your proposed project/service. Do you provide interagency referrals to other agencies
serving the same target beneficiaries?
Other agencies refer clients to us and vice versa depending on the needs. The target beneficiaries
would only overlap for clients that do not identify as LGBTQ.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

To assist the City of Norwalk in determining whether there may be a potential conflict of interest
related to the expenditure of Community Development Block Grant - CV funds we request the
following information be provided by applicants:
ORGANIZATION NAME: Triangle Community Center, Inc.
Organization is:
1. Corporation ( )
2. Non-Profit 501(c)(3) ( X)
3. Partnership ( )
4. Sole Owner ( )
5. Association ( )
6. Other ( )
If additional space is necessary, please attach a separate sheet.
1. State the names of each employee of the City of Norwalk having a financial or personal interest in
the above-mentioned organization or project proposed.
N/A
2. State the name(s) of any current or prior elected or appointed official of the City of Norwalk having a
potential "financial interest" in the organization or project.
Colin Hosten is on the Board of Education
Dominique Johnson is on the Common Council – At-Large
Both of the above are Board Members of TCC.
NOTE: If the applicant has provided names in question 1 or 2, please provide details regarding any
known potential conflicts of interest in an attached narrative.
The above mentioned are Board members of the Triangles Community Center and are involved in
decision making processes for the organization.
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